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the future when think back to the year 2010 tor SEA wIl

remember year
of consistency predictabil ty and stability It was

year where we produced solid financial results every quarter in each

case slightly beating our own expectations and anaysts consensus

estimates year where aggregate customer activity was steady and

similar to 2008 and 2009 levels of activity year where we ach eyed

the high er of our portfolio growth goals without any single large

acquisition nstead accomplishing our goals 1hrough number of

anal er transactions and new tower builds spnad throughout the year

Consistent Predictable Staole In all the consistency however there

was no complacency Management ann our en ployees pusIed hard

all year long to constantly improve SBA and as result there was both

material achievement and reward

Achievement came in the form of firmly establishing SEA as an

intenatio al company anc attancg se insncaI r$esicnes We

acquired or built towers ir Costa Rica El Salvador aid Panama and

no have base of operations in Central Amarca with substantia

hurran and operational resources ne towers we own internahonally

ii Central America and Canada now represent 3% of our total tower

oortfolio and we expect that percentage wil grow in 2011 the

second half of 2010 we once again achieved our fina cial goal of 20%

or greater year oveoyear growth in equity free cash Flow per share In

the fourth quarter we reached two financia miles ones for SEA our

first $100 rindlion adjusted EBITDA nuarter ard 80% tower cash ow

margins the highest ever publcly repoed in our industry Reward

came in the form of stock price appreciation Your SEA commor stock

in 2010 appreciated 20% leading our industry ann outperformirg the

Dow NASDAQ and SP 500 indices We er ded the year wit our

highest stock price per share since early 001 th gan over the tive

years ended December31 2010 of 129%

How did we produce consistent oredictaole and stable results aid

achieve ad of our goals while the same time niatenally enhancing

ou company iositionir it well for the futr re ar pioducing industry

ieading rewards for our shareholders Hard work very favorable

environment or wireless demard steole ap tal ma kets and sharp

focus on our long time if rempart strategy for creating shareholder

calue caoture and maximiae organi owtn act eve nate ial poiffol

growth ar achvely manage our oalance sheet
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produced $91 milton of services revenue our mghest

since 2007 while satisfying the site development needs

of our customers including all of the major wireless

carrierc There are few site development firms in the

with the history expenence resources and

capabilities of SBA We beheve our customers recognize

those qualities and value them and we are conf dent

that we will continue as preferred vendor for site

development services

We tad good year in 2010 for portfolio growth We
added 836 towers to the portfoho growing 9.5% on

net basis achieving our annual goal of 5% to 10%

pertfohe growth Of the 836 towers we added 567 were

in the Jnited States and its territones and 269 were

in iner tational markets It was business as usual for

SBA in the U.S and we broke new ground with our

internaional activity We have decided to expand into

interiational markets for number of reasons First

the same undenying wireless demand dnvers that

have spurred U.S network development consumer

penetration data smartpnones wireline substitution

etc are present globally In many international

markets wire ess is or wit be the primary means of

communication Second we understand the tower and

network development business very well We believe

our domestic industry expertise can be carried to other

markets Third in the international markets in which

we crc interested there is zoning regulation or other

barriers to entry that make towers exclusive assets and

not cemmodities uourth by increasing our geographic

scupe we believe are increasing the odds of SEA

arhiev tg 5% 10% portfoio growth each iear While

we have accomplished our portfolio growth goals solely

ir side he in iecent years and vie may sift do so

in 0fl and beyond having greater geographic each

vii orovide us with nore investment oppo hr ives

to ri axirr ize return on investment We believe we

could enjoy mate tally higher retur is on investn ent

.nternatienally even after ishadjusting the returns

given the much fewer number of independent tower

owners operators and developers outside the

We continue to be very active buying and building

towers because of the demand drvers for additional

wireless network development discussed above both in

the and internationally We view portfolio growth as

one of our core cempetencies and typcaIIy favor it over

other uses for our capital Portfolio growth allows us to

positively leverage our overhead expand our adjusted

EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA margin increase our

inanceabIe asset base and add towers that we expect

will produce favorable future organic growth The more

quality towers you own the more absolute organic

growth you whl ijoy We think we are prefty good ut

cking quality towers to build or buy that over time evill

achieve or exceed our revenue growtn forecasts and

return on capital requirements We are very good at

irtegrating nevv towers into our company smoothly and

efficiently So far our actual results have exceeded

our forecasts Each new asset investment whether

tower build tower acquisition or the purchase of land

underlying our towers must satisfy return on capital

requirements that vary with our weighted ave age

cost of capital and the perceived risk of the asset am

pleased to say that this ger has served us well and our

assets are educing returns ahead of plan

\tfith espw to our balance sheet we believe tn0t

torouch act cc management we can positi ely impact

growth in equity free cash flew per sha ane increase

snareholder value We seek to maintain certain levels

ef net dectfr nnualized adjusted EBIT DA .e iwage and

interest coverage withii what vve consider to be at

appropr late risk profile Today our lquidity positier and

talanue shwtt at st eng hanktully the capi al markets

returned to fave abie hate in 2010 after rough penods

in 2008 and 2009 In February 2010 we obtained
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$500 million credit facility In April we successfully

ccmole ted $123 billion Secured Tower Revenue

Sect rihes issue refinancing all remaining 2011

debt maturities and extending future debt maturities

Our nxt matuaty is now March 2013 Our credt

facility cash on hand and our expected cash flow

from caerations provide us with more than enough

capi alto meet our portfolio growth goals for 2011

We uontnue to be thoughtful around capital structure

and the ideal target leverage ratio We continue

to keeo in the forefront of our thinking the capital

markets crash of 2008 and the perceived and real

impact it had on cur ability to refinance Our views

or target leve age will change fm ii time to time and

wi depend on the arrount of debt outstand ng our

current aid expected growth rate overall market

concitiens and the general availability of credit tho

hr.ihg anu emount of uur rennariciug ubugauurs

inrares rates nd whether the interest rate is floating

or fi ed for period hme We uriently aeeve

our esition ard respects around all these items

is sound

Gven cur cerfidence around oar napital shurt re

ard err goal to manage our capital structure for the

lerig-te ri benefit nf our sharheleers we ncreased

cur str ck repurchase activity in 2010 purchasing

ever $100 lea of our common stock We use seek

reparcf aces opportunistically vvhen we believe our

stect undervalued when we have ample quidity

and capacity viithn ii target leverage ratio and

wf iem in co inflict rg inc for he unds tc uw

cur at et ecrt olin

11 tfESU

The plan is working 2010 was another good year for

SBA and cu shareholders Our thrempart strategy

is working well and eguity free cash flow per sarc

is growing materially today teur camp Jny is in

excellent shape We continue to operate ii the

center of the fasrtgrew nç world of wireless wr ich

will continue to provide ns with mary eppertur itie for

growth for yeai to cam Our cusemers have needs

for material additiess and enhancements to their

wireless netrvc ks and they will cat on us and ct es

in our industiy to address these needs We have

sound capital structure with which to take advantage

of growth cppcrtm nities Our team is pace cod cur

iipleyees centi tue to erfe rn at the highest level

excellence and nu to icr same cc More than ever via

remair ratidei cctimistic about ar esnecta

for creath addit enal value for our shareheld Ps

always want thank cur charehelders istcrr eis

ai employees for the part our success and we

ock foiward to pnrting our future results

Jeffrey Steeps

esident Chief Executive 01 tr

Sincerely

SBA COMMUNiCATiONS CORPORATiON
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ITEM BUSINESS

General

We are leading independent owner and operator of wireless communications towers Our principal

operations are in the United States and its territories In addition we own towers in Canada Costa Rica El

Salvador and Panama Our primary business line is our site leasing business which contributed 97.5% of our total

segment operating profit for the year ended December 31 2010 In our site leasing business we lease antenna

space primarily to wireless service providers on towers and other structures that we own manage or lease from

others The towers that we own have been constructed by us at the request of wireless service provider built or

constructed based on our own initiative or acquired As of December 31 2010 we owned 9111 tower sites the

substantial majority of which have been built by us or built by other tower owners or operators who like us have

built such towers to lease space to multiple wireless service providers We also managed or leased approximately

5300 actual or potential communications sites approximately 500 of which were revenue producing as of

December 31 2010 Our other business line is our site development business through which we assist wireless

service providers in developing and maintaining their own wireless service networks

Site Leasing Services

Our primary focus is the leasing of antenna space on our multi-tenant towers to variety of wireless service

providers under long-term lease contracts Site leasing revenues are received primarily from wireless service

provider tenants including ATT Sprint Verizon Wireless and T-Mobile Wireless service providers enter into

numerous different tenant leases with us each of which relates to the lease or use of space at an individual tower

site Tenant leases are generally for an initial term of five years with five 5-year renewal periods at the option of

the tenant These tenant leases typically contain specific rent escalators which average 3% per year including the

renewal option periods

In our new build program we construct towers in locations that were strategically chosen by us or under

build-to-suit arrangements Under build-to-suit arrangements we build towers for wireless service providers at

locations that they have identified We retain ownership of the tower and the exclusive right to co-locate

additional tenants on the tower When we construct towers in locations chosen by us we utilize our knowledge of

our customers network requirements to identify locations where we believe multiple wireless service providers

need or will need to locate antennas to meet capacity or service demands We seek to identify attractive locations

for new towers and complete pre-construction procedures necessary to secure the site concurrently with our

leasing efforts We generally will have at least one signed tenant lease for each new build tower on the day that it

is completed and expect that some will have multiple tenants During 2011 we intend to build at least 390 to 410

new towers domestically and internationally

In our tower acquisition program we pursue towers that meet or exceed our internal guidelines regarding

current and future potential returns For each acquisition we prepare various analyses that include projections of

five-year unlevered internal rate of return review of available capacity future lease up projections and

summary of current and future tenant/technology mix



The table below provides information regarding the development and status of our tower sites

portfolio over the past three years

For the year ended December 31

2008 2009 2010

Towers owned at beginning of period 6220 7854 8324

TowersacquiredW 1560 376 712

Towers constructed 85 101 124

Towers reclassified/disposed of2 11 49
Towers owned at end of period 7854 8324 9111

2008 includes 528 towers acquired in the Optasite acquisition 423 towers acquired in the Tower Co acquisition and 340 towers

acquired in the Light Tower acquisition

Reclassifications reflect the combination for reporting purposes of multiple tower structures on single parcel of real estate which

we market and customers view as single location into single owned tower site Dispositions reflect the decommissioning sale

conveyance or other legal transfer of owned tower sites

As of December 31 2010 we had an average of 2.4 tenants per tower

Our site leasing business generates substantially all of our total segment operating profit Our site leasing

business generated 85.4% of our total revenues during the year ended December 31 2010 and has represented

7.4% or more of our total segment operating profit for the past three years For the year ended December 31

2010 site leasing revenues generated outside the U.S and its territories was less than 1% of total revenue

Site Development Services

Our site development business is complementary to our site leasing business and provides us the ability to

keep in close contact with the wireless service providers who generate substantially all of our site leasing revenue

and to capture ancillary revenues that are generated by our site leasing activities such as antenna and equipment

installation at our tower locations Our site development business consists of two segments site development

consulting and site development construction Site development services revenues are received primarily from

providing full range of end to end services to wireless service providers or companies providing development or

project management services to wireless service providers We principally perform services for third parties in our

core historical areas of wireless expertise specifically site acquisition zoning technical services and

construction

In the consulting segment of our site development business we offer clients the following range of services

network pre-design site audits identification of potential locations for towers and antennas

support in buying or leasing of the location and assistance in obtaining zoning approvals and permits In the

construction segment of our site development business we provide number of services including but not

limited to the following tower and related site construction antenna installation and radio equipment

installation commissioning and maintenance Personnel in our site development business also support our leasing

and new tower build functions through an integrated plan across the divisions

We provide our site development consulting and construction services on local basis through regional

offices territory offices and project offices The regional offices are responsible for all site development

operations including hiring employees and opening or closing project offices and substantial portion of the

sales in such area

For financial information about our operating segments please see Note 22 of our Consolidated Financial

Statements included in this Form 10-K



Industry Overview

We believe that growing wireless traffic particularly data and video the successful spectrum auctions and

technology developments will require wireless service providers to improve their network infrastructure and

increase their network capacity resulting in an increase in the number of communication sites that they use or the

number of antennas at existing communication sites The following is discussion of certain growth trends in the

wireless communications industry

We believe that our customers introduction and continued deployment of next generation wireless

technologies including 3G wireless services and ii long-term evolution and WiMAX or 4G will

require our customers to add large number of additional cell sites and increase the amount of their

equipment at current cell sites

The Federal Communications Commissions the FCC successful advanced wireless service spectrum

auction 66 during 2006 for advanced broadband services and the FCC spectrum auction 73 during 2008

relating to the auction of the 700 MHz band have provided existing carriers the opportunity to deploy

spectrum for 3G and 4G wireless service which will further drive the demand for communication sites

For example Leap Wireless and Metro PCS acquired spectrum in auction 66 in new coverage areas that

have led and continue to lead to the launch of brand new networks while Clearwire is in the process of

building out new markets as well The current administration under President Barack Obama has made

the release of additional wireless spectrum for commercial use in the U.S priority and we believe that

when such spectrum is released that it will drive additional demand for communication sites

Consumers continue to increase minutes of use whether through wireline to wireless migration

increasing use of broadband services or simply talking more Consumers are demanding quality wireless

networks and list network coverage and quality as two of the greatest contributors to their dissatisfaction

when terminating or changing service To decrease subscriber churn rate and drive revenue growth
wireless carriers have made substantial capital expenditures on wireless networks to improve service

quality and expand coverage

Despite the recent recessionary conditions affecting the global marketplace based on these factors we believe

that the U.S wireless industry will continue to grow and is well-capitalized highly competitive and focused on

quality and advanced services Therefore we expect that we will see multi-year trend of strong additional cell

site demand from our customers which we believe will translate into strong leasing growth for us

We believe that the international wireless markets in which we currently operate will continue to present

growth opportunities for the wireless communications industry as these markets are anticipated to need new

towers and communication sites These markets also typically have limited but quickly growing wireline

infrastructure and limited wireless data penetration Further some countries such as Costa Rica have recently

had spectrum auctions that we expect will result in meaningful build-out of new towers and communication

sites We intend to participate in such activity in these markets through buying or building towers managing
communication sites and leasing space to wireless service providers on assets we control

Business Strategy

Our primary strategy is to continue to focus on expanding our site leasing business due to its attractive

characteristics such as long-term contracts built-in rent escalators high operating margins and low customer

churn The long-term nature of the revenue stream of our site leasing business makes it less volatile than our site

development business which is more cyclical By focusing on our site leasing business we believe that we can



maintain stable recurring cash flow stream and reduce our exposure to cyclical changes in customer spending

Key elements of our strategy include

Maximizing Use of Tower Capacity We generally have constructed or acquired towers that accommodate

multiple tenants and substantial majority of our towers are high capacity lattice or guyed towers Most of our

towers have significant capacity available for additional antennas and we believe that increased use of our towers

can be achieved at low incremental cost We actively market space on our towers through our internal sales

force

Disciplined Growth of our Tower Portfolio During 2011 we intend to grow our tower portfolio

domestically and internationally by 5% to 10% In connection with our international expansion we have targeted

international markets that we believe have relatively stable political environments and growing wireless

communication industry.We intend to use our available cash from operating activities and available liquidity

including borrowings to build and/or acquire new towers at prices that we believe will be accretive to our

shareholders both short and long term and which allow us to maintain our long-term target leverage ratios

Furthermore we believe that our tower operations are highly scalable Consequently we believe that we are able

to materially increase our tower portfolio without proportionately increasing selling general and administrative

expenses

Capitalizing on our Scale and Management Experience We are large owner operator and developer of

tower and other communication sites with substantial capital human and operating resources We have been

developing communication sites for wireless service providers in the U.S since 1989 and owned and operated

tower sites for ourselves since 1997 We believe our size experience capabilities and resources make us

preferred partner for wireless service providers both in the U.S and internationally Our management team has

extensive experience in site leasing and site development with some of the longest tenures in the tower and site

development industries Management believes that its industry expertise and strong relationships with wireless

service providers will allow us to expand our position as leading provider of site leasing and site development

services

Controlling our Underlying Land Positions We have purchased and intend to continue to purchase andlor

enter into long-term leases for the land that underlies our towers to the extent available at commercially

reasonable prices We believe that these purchases andor long-term leases will increase our margins improve our

cash flow from operations and minimize our exposure to increases in ground lease rents in the future As of

December 31 2010 we owned or controlled for minimum period of fifty years land under 31.1% of our

communication sites

Using our Local Presence to Build Strong Relationships with Major Wireless Service Providers Given the

nature of towers as location specific communications facilities we believe that substantially all of what we do is

done best locally Consequently we have broad field organization that allows us to develop and capitalize on

our experience expertise and relationships in each of our local markets which in turn enhances our customer

relationships We are seeking to replicate this expertise internationally Due to our presence in local markets we

believe we are well positioned to capture additional site leasing business and new tower build opportunities in our

markets and identify and participate in site development projects across our markets

Customers

Since commencing operations we have performed site leasing and site development services for all of the

large U.S wireless service providers In both our site development and site leasing businesses we work with large

national providers and smaller regional local or private operators



We depend on relatively small number of customers for our site leasing and site development revenues The

following customers represented at least 10% of our total revenues during at least one of the last three years

Percentage of Total Revenues

For the year ended December 31

2008 2009 2010

ATT 23.1% 23.8% 23.9%

Sprint 25.0% 1.9% 20.4%

Verizon Wireless 15.6% 15.4% 14.8%

T-Mobile 11.2% 13.7% 11.6%

2008 numbers have been restated due to 2009 merger of ATT and Centennial

2008 numbers have been restated due to 2009 merger of Sprint and IPCS Wireless

2008 numbers have been restated due to 2009 merger of Verizon and Ailtel

During the past two years we provided services for number of customers including

Aircell Leap Wireless

ATT M/A-COM
Barrett Xplore MediaFLO

Bechtel Corporation Metro PCS

Bell Canada Nokia-Siemens

Cellular South Nortel

Claro Nsoro Mastec LLC
Cleartalk Pocket Communication

Clearwire Rogers

Cox Communications Sprint

Digicel Telus

Ericsson T-Mobile

General Dynamics U.S Cellular

ITT Corporation Verizon Wireless

Sales and Marketing

Our sales and marketing goals are to

use existing relationships and develop new relationships with wireless service providers to lease antenna

space on and sell related services with respect to our owned or managed towers enabling us to grow our

site leasing business and

successfully bid and win those site development services contracts that will contribute to our operating

margins and/or provide financial or strategic benefit to our site leasing business

We approach sales on company-wide basis involving many of our employees We have dedicated sales

force that is supplemented by members of our executive management team Our dedicated salespeople are based

regionally as well as in the corporate office We also rely on our regional vice presidents general managers and

other operations personnel to sell our services and cultivate customers Our strategy is to delegate sales efforts to

those employees of ours who have the best relationships with our customers Most wireless service providers have

national corporate headquarters with regional and local offices We believe that wireless service providers make



most decisions for site development and site leasing services at the regional and local levels with input from their

corporate headquarters Our sales representatives work with wireless service provider representatives at the

regional and local levels and at the national level when appropriate Our sales staff compensation is heavily

weighted to incentive-based goals and measurements

Our primary marketing and sales support is centralized and directed from our headquarters office in Boca

Raton Florida and is supplemented by our regional and territory offices We have full-time staff dedicated to

our marketing and sales efforts The marketing and sales support staff is charged with implementing our

marketing strategies prospecting and producing sales presentation materials and proposals In addition to our

marketing and sales staff we rely upon our executive and operations personnel at the regional and local office

levels to identify sales opportunities within existing customer accounts

Competition

Site Leasing Our primary competitors for our site leasing activities are the national independent tower

companies including American Tower Corporation Crown Castle International and Global Tower Partners

large number of regional independent tower owners wireless service providers that own and operate
their own

towers and lease or may in the future decide to lease antenna space to other providers and alternative

facilities such as rooftops outdoor and indoor distributed antenna system DAS networks billboards and

electric transmission towers There has been significant consolidation among the large independent tower

companies in the past five years Specifically American Tower completed its merger with SpectraSite Inc in

2005 we completed our acquisition of AAT Communications Corporation in 2006 and Crown Castle completed

its merger with Global Signal Inc in 2007 As result of these consolidations American Tower and Crown

Castle have substantially more towers and greater financial resources than we do Wireless service providers that

own and operate their own tower networks are also generally larger and have greater financial resources than we

do We believe that tower location and capacity quality of service to our tenants and to lesser extent price

have been and will continue to be the most significant competitive factors affecting the site leasing business

Internationally to date the competition we have encountered has been from both independent tower companies

and wireless service providers that own and operate their own tower networks In our markets outside the U.S

and its territories the majority of existing towers are owned by wireless service providers

Site Development The site development business is extremely competitive and price sensitive We believe

that the majority of our competitors in the U.S site development business operate within local market areas

exclusively while some firms appear to offer their services nationally including Bechtel Corporation Black

Veatch Corporation Goodman Networks General Dynamics Corporation Nsoro and Wireless Facilities Inc

The market includes participants from variety of market segments offering individual or combinations of

competing services The field of competitors includes site development consultants zoning consultants real estate

firms right-of-way consulting firms construction companies tower owners/managers radio frequency

engineering consultants telecommunications equipment vendors which provide end-to-end site development

services through multiple subcontractors and wireless service providers internal staff We believe that providers

base their decisions for site development services on number of criteria including company experience price

track record local reputation geographic reach and time for completion of project Currently we do not offer

site development services in markets outside of the U.S and its territories

Employees

Our executive corporate development accounting finance human resources legal and regulatory

information technology site administration personnel and our network operations center are located in our

headquarters in Boca Raton Florida Certain sales new tower build support and tower maintenance personnel are

also located in our Boca Raton office Our remaining employees are based in our regional and local offices



As of December 31 2010 we had 720 employees none of whom are represented by collective bargaining

agreement Of these 720 employees 47 were based outside of the U.S and its territories We consider our

employee relations to be good

Regulatory and Environmental Matters

Federal Regulations Both the FCC and the Federal Aviation Administration the FAA regulate antenna

towers and structures that support wireless communications and radio or television antennas Many FAA
requirements are implemented in FCC regulations These regulations govern the construction lighting and

painting or other marking of towers and structures and may depending on the characteristics of particular towers

or structures require prior approval and registration of towers or structures before they may be constructed

altered or used Wireless communications equipment and radio or television stations operating on towers or

structures are separately regulated and may require independent customer licensing depending upon the particular

frequency or frequency band used In addition any applicant for an FCC antenna tower or structure registration

must certify that consistent with the Anti-Drug Abuse Act of 1988 neither the applicant nor its principals are

subject to denial of Federal benefits because of conviction for the possession or distribution of controlled

substance

Pursuant to the requirements of the Communications Act of 1934 as amended the FCC in conjunction with

the FAA has developed standards to consider proposals involving new or modified antenna towers or structures

These standards mandate that the FCC and the FAA consider the height of the proposed tower or structure the

relationship of the tower or structure to existing natural or man-made obstructions and the proximity of the tower

or structure to runways and airports Proposals to construct or to modify existing towers or structures above

certain heights must be reviewed by the FAA to ensure the structure will not present hazard to air navigation

The FAA may condition its issuance of no-hazard determination upon compliance with specified lighting and/or

painting requirements Antenna towers that meet certain height and location criteria must also be registered with

the FCC tower or structure that requires FAA clearance will not be registered by the FCC until it is cleared by
the FAA Upon registration the FCC may also require special lighting and/or painting Owners of wireless

communications antenna towers and structures may have an obligation to maintain painting and lighting or other

marking in conformance with FAA and FCC regulations Antenna tower and structure owners and licensees that

operate on those towers or structures also bear the responsibility of monitoring any lighting systems and notifying

the FAA of any lighting outage or malfunction

Owners and operators of antenna towers and structures may be subject to and therefore must comply with
environmental laws Any licensed radio facility on an antenna tower or structure is subject to environmental

review pursuant to the National Environmental Policy Act of 1969 among other statutes which requires federal

agencies to evaluate the environmental impact of their decisions under certain circumstances The FCC has issued

regulations implementing the National Environmental Policy Act These regulations place responsibility on

applicants to investigate potential environmental effects of their operations and to disclose any potential

significant effects on the environment in an environmental assessment prior to constructing or modifying an

antenna tower or structure and prior to commencing certain operations of wireless communications or radio or

television stations from the tower or structure In the event the FCC determines the proposed structure or

operation would have significant environmental impact based on the standards the FCC has developed the FCC
would be required to prepare an environmental impact statement which will be subject to public comment This

process could significantly delay the registration of particular tower or structure

We generally indemnify our customers against any failure to comply with applicable regulatory standards

relating to the construction modification or placement of antenna towers or structures Failure to comply with the

applicable requirements may lead to civil penalties



The Telecommunications Act of 1996 amended the Communications Act of 1934 by preserving state and

local zoning authorities jurisdiction over the construction modification and placement of towers The law

however limits local zoning authority by prohibiting any action that would discriminate among different

providers of personal wireless services or ban altogether the construction modification or placement of radio

communication towers Finally the Telecommunications Act of 1996 requires the federal government to help

licensees for wireless communications services gain access to preferred sites for their facilities This may require

that federal agencies and departments work directly with licensees to make federal property available for tower

facilities

As an owner and operator of real property we are subject to certain environmental laws that impose strict

joint and several liability for the cleanup of on-site or off-site contamination and related personal or property

damage We are also subject to certain environmental laws that govern tower or structure placement including

pre-construction environmental studies Operators of towers or structures must also take into consideration certain

radio frequency RF emissions regulations that impose variety of procedural and operating requirements

Certain proposals to operate wireless communications and radio or television stations from antenna towers and

structures are also reviewed by the FCC to ensure compliance with requirements relating to human exposure to

RF emissions Exposure to high levels of RF energy can produce negative health effects The potential connection

between low-level RF energy and certain negative health effects including some forms of cancer has been the

subject of substantial study by the scientific community in recent years We believe that we are in substantial

compliance with and we have no material liability under any applicable environmental laws These costs of

compliance with existing or future environmental laws and liability related thereto may have material adverse

effect on our prospects financial condition or results of operations

State and Local Regulations Most states regulate certain aspects of real estate acquisition leasing activities

and construction activities Where required we conduct the site acquisition portions of our site development

services business through licensed real estate brokers agents who may be our employees or hired as independent

contractors and conduct the construction portions of our site development services through licensed contractors

who may be our employees or independent contractors Local regulations include city and other local ordinances

zoning restrictions and restrictive covenants imposed by community developers These regulations vary greatly

from jurisdiction to jurisdiction but typically require tower and structure owners to obtain approval from local

officials or community standards organizations or certain other entities prior to tower or structure construction

and establish regulations regarding maintenance and removal of towers or structures In addition many local

zoning authorities require tower and structure owners to post bonds or cash collateral to secure their removal

obligations Local zoning authorities generally have been unreceptive to construction of new antenna towers and

structures in their communities because of the height and visibility of the towers or structures and have in some

instances instituted moratoria

International Regulatory regimes outside of the U.S and its territories vary by country and locality however

these regulations typically require tower owners and/or licensees to obtain approval from local officials or

government agencies prior to tower construction or the addition of new antenna to an existing tower Based on

our experience to date these regimes have been similar to but not more rigorous burdensome or comprehensive

than those in the U.S Our international operations are also subject to various regulations and guidelines

regarding employee relations and other occupational health and safety matters As we expand our operations into

additional international geographic areas we will be subject to regulations in these jurisdictions

Backlog

Backlog related to our site leasing business consists of lease agreements and amendments which have been

signed but have not yet commenced As of December 31 2010 we had 253 new leases which had been executed

with customers but which had not begun generating revenue These leases will contractually provide for

approximately $4.9 million of annual revenue By comparison as of December 31 2009 we had 344 new leases



which had been executed with customers but which had not begun generating revenue These leases contractually

provided for approximately $7.6 million of annual revenue

Our backlog for site development services consists of the value of work that has not yet been completed on

executed contracts As of December 31 2010 we had approximately $17.8 million of contractually committed

revenue as compared to approximately $13.9 million as of December 31 2009

Availability of Reports and Other Information

Our
corporate website is www.sbasite.com We make available free of charge access to our Annual Report

on Form 10-K Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q Current Reports on Form 8-K Proxy Statement on Schedule

14A and amendments to those materials filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13a or 15d of the Securities and

Exchange Act of 1934 on our website under Investor RelationsSEC Filings as soon as reasonably practicable

after we file electronically such material with or furnish it to the United States Securities and Exchange
Commission the Commission

ITEM 1A RISK FACTORS

Risks Related to Our Business

If our wireless service provider customers combine their operations to signcant degree our future

operating results and our ability to service our indebtedness could be adversely affected

Significant consolidation among our wireless service provider customers may result in our customers failing

to renew existing leases for tower space or reducing future capital expenditures in the aggregate because their

existing networks and expansion plans may overlap or be very similar For example in connection with the

combinations of Verizon Wireless and ALLTEL to form Verizon Wireless Cingular and ATT Wireless to
form ATT Mobility and Sprint PCS and Nextel to form Sprint Nextel the combined companies have

rationalized and may continue to rationalize duplicative parts of their networks which has led and may continue

to lead to the non-renewal of certain leases on our towers Furthermore to the extent that other wireless service

providers consolidate in the future they may not renew any duplicative leases that they have on our towers and/or

may not lease as much space on our towers in the future If these consolidations significantly impact the number

of tower leases that are not renewed or the number of new leases that the wireless service providers require to

expand their network our future operating results and our ability to service our indebtedness could be adversely

affected



We have substantial level of indebtedness which may have an adverse effect on our business or limit our

ability to take advantage of business strategic or financing opportunities

As indicated below we have and will continue to have significant amount of indebtedness relative to our

equity The following table sets forth our total principal amount of debt and shareholders equity as of December

31 2009 and 2010

As of December 31

2009 2010

in thousands

Total principal amount of indebtedness 2771012 3050000

Shareholders equity 599949 317110

Our substantial level of indebtedness increases the possibility that we may be unable to generate cash

sufficient to pay the principal interest or other amounts when due Subject to certain restrictions under our

existing indebtedness we and our subsidiaries may also incur significant additional indebtedness in the future

some of which may be secured debt This may have the effect of increasing our total leverage

As consequence of our indebtedness demands on our cash resources may increase we are subject to

restrictive covenants that further limit our financial and operating flexibility and we may choose to institute

self-imposed limits on our indebtedness based on certain considerations including market interest rates our

relative leverage and our strategic plans For example as result of our substantial level of indebtedness and the

uncertainties arising in the credit markets and the U.S economy

we may be more vulnerable to general adverse economic and industry conditions

we may find it more difficult to obtain additional financing to fund future working capital capital

expenditures and other general corporate requirements that would be in our best long-term interests

we may be required to dedicate substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to the payment of

principal and interest on our debt reducing the available cash flow to fund other investments including

capital expenditures

we may in the future be required to reduce our annual tower acquisition and new build goals

we may have limited flexibility in planning for or reacting to changes in our business or in the industry

we may have competitive disadvantage relative to other companies in our industry that are less

leveraged and

we may be required to sell debt or equLity securities or sell some of our core assets possibly on

unfavorable terms in order to meet payment obligations

These restrictions could have an adverse effect on our business by limiting our ability to take advantage of

financing new tower development mergers and acquisitions or other opportunities

In addition fluctuations in market interest rates may increase interest expense relating to our floating rate

indebtedness which we expect to incur under our 2010 Credit Facility and may make it difficult to refinance our

existing indebtedness at commercially reasonable rate or at all There is no guarantee that the future refinancing
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of our indebtedness will have fixed interest rates or that interest rates on such indebtedness will be equal to or

lower than the rates on our current indebtedness

We depend on relatively small number of customers for most of our revenue therefore if any of our

significant customers reduced their demandfor tower space or became financially unstable it may materially

decrease our revenues

We derive significant portion of our revenue from small number of customers The loss of any one of our

significant customers as result of bankruptcy merger with other customers of ours or otherwise could

materially decrease our revenue and have an adverse effect on our growth

The following is list of significant customers representing at least 10% of revenue in any of the last three

years and the percentage of our total revenues for the specified time periods derived from these customers

Percentage of Total Revenues

For the year ended December 31

2008 2009 2010

ATT 23.1% 23.8% 23.9%

Sprint 25.0% 1.9% 20.4%

Verizon Wireless 15.6% 15.4% 14.8%

T-Mobile 11.2% 13.7% 11.6%
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We also have client concentrations with respect to revenues in each of our financial reporting segments

Percentage of Site Leasing Revenues

For the year ended December 31

2008 2009 2010

ATT 27.6% 27.7% 28.0%

Sprint 27.3% 25.3% 23.6%

Verizon Wireless 15.7% 16.0% 15.4%

T-Mobile 10.7% 11.8% 11.7%

Percentage of Site Development

Consulting Revenues

Cox Communications

Verizon Wireless

Nsoro Mastec LLC

T-Mobile

Sprint

Metro PCS

Nsoro Mastec LLC

T-Mobile

Verizon Wireless3

Metro PCS

Sprint

For the year ended December 31

2008 2009 2010

0.0% 8.6% 17.0%

24.2% 23.6% 15.1%

4.9% 9.3% 13.4%

7.6% 13.9% 6.0%

22.9% 0.5% 1.7%

13.3% 5.8% 0.5%

Percentage of Site Development

Construction Revenues

For the year ended December 31

2008 2009 2010

2.4% 24.9% 36.0%

15.8% 28.2% 11.8%

12.3% 8.3% 10.2%

11.9% 9.0% 3.7%

10.8% 1.8% 1.6%

2008 numbers have been restated due to 2009 merger of ATT and Centennial

2008 numbers have been restated due to 2009 merger of Sprint and IPCS Wireless

2008 numbers have been restated due to 2009 merger of Verizon and Ailtel

Revenue from these clients is derived from numerous different site leasing contracts and site development

contracts Each site leasing contract relates to the lease of space at an individual tower site and is generally for an

initial term of five years renewable for five 5-year periods at the option of the tenant However if any of our

significant site leasing clients were to experience financial difficulty substantially reduce their capital

expenditures or reduce their dependence on leased tower space and fail to renew their leases with us our

revenues future revenue growth and results of operations would be adversely affected

Our site development customers engage us on project-by-project basis and customer can generally

terminate an assignment at any time without penally In addition customers need for site development services

can decrease and we may not be successful in establishing relationships with new customers Furthermore our

existing customers may not continue to engage us for additional projects
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New technologies and their use by carriers may have material adverse effrct on our growth rate and results

of operations

The emergence of new technologies could reduce the demand for space on our towers For example the

increased use by wireless service providers of signal combining and related technologies and products that allow

two or more wireless service providers to provide services on different transmission frequencies using the same

communications antenna and other facilities normally used by only one wireless service provider could reduce the

demand for our tower space Additionally the use of technologies that enhance spectral capacity such as beam

forming or smart antennae that can increase the range and capacity of an antenna could reduce the number of

additional sites wireless service provider needs to adequately serve certain subscriber base and therefore

reduce demand for our tower space The development and growth of communications and other new technologies

that do not require ground-based sites such as the growth in delivery of video voice and data services by
satellites or other technologies could also adversely affect the demand for our tower space New technologies

including small cell technologies that reduce the need for large antenna or macro configurations could

reduce our customers need to lease space on our communication sites Traditional macro-site installations

currently are the source and are expected to continue to be the source of substantially all our site leasing revenue

Our foreign operations are subject to economic political and other risks that could materially and adversely

affrct our revenues or financial position including risks associated with foreign currency exchange rates

Our current business operations in Canada Costa Rica El Salvador and Panama and our expansion into any

other international markets in the future could result in adverse financial consequences and operational problems

not typically experienced in the United States Although the consolidated revenues generated by our international

operations were immaterial during the year ended December 31 2010 we anticipate that our revenues from our

international operations may grow in the future Accordingly our business is and will in the future be subject to

risks associated with doing business internationally including

changes in specific countrys or regions political or economic conditions

laws and regulations that tax or otherwise restrict repatriation of earnings or other funds or otherwise limit

distributions of capital

laws and regulations that dictate how we operate our communications sites and conduct business

including zoning and environmental matters

changes to existing or new tax laws directed specifically at the ownership and operation of tower sites

expropriation and governmental regulation restricting foreign ownership

the applicability of laws governing foreign operations including the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and

similar local anti-bribery laws

uncertainties regarding legal or judicial systems including inconsistencies between and within laws

regulations and decrees and judicial application thereof

health or similar issues such as pandemic or epidemic

difficulty in
recruiting and retaining trained personnel and

language and cultural differences
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The majority of our international operations are denominated in United States dollars However for some of

our international operations we face risks associated with changes in foreign currency exchange rates including

those arising from our operations investments and financing transactions related to our international business

Volatility in foreign currency exchange rates can also affect our ability to plan forecast and budget for our

international operations and expansion efforts

Our convertible note hedge transactions may not cover all of the potential dilution or additional cash outlay if

we settled the notes in cash to which we may be subject upon conversion of the notes

Concurrently with the pricing of our 1.875% Convertible Senior Notes due 2013 the 1.875% Notes and

our 4.0% Convertible Senior Notes due 2014 the 4.0% Notes we entered into convertible note hedge

transactions and warrant transactions with affiliates of certain of the initial purchasers of the convertible note

offerings The initial strike price of the convertible note hedge transactions relating to our 1.875% Notes is $41.46

per share of our Class common stock the same as the initial conversion price of our 1.875% convertible notes

and the upper strike price of the warrants is $67.37 per share The initial strike price of the convertible note hedge

transactions relating to our 4.0% convertible Notes is $30.38 per share of our Class common stock the same as

the initial conversion price of the 4.0% Notes and the upper strike price of the warrant transactions is $44.64 per

share

Initially we entered into convertible note hedge and warrant transactions to cover the full amount of the shares

that were issuable upon conversion of the 1.875% Notes and the 4.0% Notes However as result of the global

economic conditions in 2008 Lehman Brothers OTC Derivatives Inc Lehman Derivatives counterparty to

one of the convertible note hedge transactions entered into in connection with our 1.875% Notes filed voluntary

petition for protection under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code As result on November

2008 we terminated the convertible note hedge transaction with Lehman Derivatives which covered 55% of the

13265780 shares of our Class common stock potentially issuable upon conversion of our 1.875% Notes

Consequently we do not currently have hedge with respect to those shares and to the extent that the market

price of our Class common stock exceeds $41.46 per share upon conversion of the notes we will be subject to

dilution or if we settle in cash additional costs upon conversion of that portion of the 1.875% Notes If any of

the other counterparties to our convertible hedge transactions were to default in their obligations then our

potential dilution or costs upon conversion of the respective notes would be materially increased

Pursuant to the terms of the warrant transaction we are responsible for the dilution or costs to the extent that

we settle in cash or stock arising from the conversion of the notes to the extent that the market price of our Class

common stock exceeds the strike price of the warrants The strike price for the warrants covering 45% of the

1.875% Notes is $67.37 per share and the strike price for the warrants covering the 4.0% Notes is $44.64 per

share As of February 17 2011 the closing sales price of our Class common stock was $43.66 per share If the

market price of our Class common stock significantly exceeded either of these strike prices on their respective

conversion dates we would be subject to material dilution or to the extent we elected to settle in cash material

additional costs

Increasing competition may negatively impact our ability to grow our tower portfolio long-term

We currently intend to grow our tower portfolio 5% to 10% annually domestically and internationally

through acquisitions and new builds Our ability to meet these growth targets significantly depends on our ability

to acquire existing towers that meet our investment requirements Traditionally our acquisition strategy has

focused on acquiring towers from smaller tower companies independent tower developers and wireless service

providers However as result of consolidation in the tower industry there are fewer of these mid-sized tower

transactions available and there is more competition to acquire existing towers Increased competition for

acquisitions may result in fewer acquisition opportunities for us higher acquisition prices and increased difficulty

14



in negotiating and consummating agreements to acquire such towers Furthermore to the extent that the tower

acquisition opportunities are for significant tower portfolios many of our competitors are significantly larger and

have greater financial resources than us If we are not able to successfully address these challenges we may not

be able to materially increase our tower portfolio in the long-term

We currently intend to build at least 390 to 410 new towers domestically and internationally during 2011

However our ability to build these new towers is dependent upon the availability of sufficient capital to fund

construction our ability to locate and acquire at commercially reasonable prices attractive locations for such

towers and our ability to obtain the necessary zoning and permits Furthermore with respect to our international

new builds our tower construction may be delayed or halted as result of local zoning restrictions

inconsistencies between laws or other barriers to construction in international markets

Local regulations including municipal or local ordinances zoning restrictions and restrictive covenants

imposed by community developers vary greatly but typically require antenna tower and structure owners to

obtain approval from local officials or community standards organizations prior to tower or structure construction

or modification

Due to these risks it may take longer to complete our new tower builds than anticipated the costs of

constructing or acquiring these towers may be higher than we expect or we may not be able to add as many towers

as we had planned in 2011 If we are not able to increase our tower portfolio as anticipated it could negatively

impact our ability to achieve our financial goals

slowdown in demandfor wireless communications services or for tower space could materiallyand adversely

affect our future growth and revenues

If wireless service subscribers significantly reduce their minutes of use or fail to widely adopt and use

wireless data applications our wireless service provider customers would experience decrease in demand for

their services Regardless of consumer demand each wireless service customer must have substantial capital

resources and capabilities to build out their wireless networks Two wireless carriers that currently own
nationwide spectrum positions have announced the intention to build nationwide networks but have also

announced that they do not have all of the necessary financing in place to complete such networks As result of

all of the above wireless carriers may scale back their business plans or otherwise reduce their spending which

could materially and adversely affect demand for our tower space and our wireless communications services

business which could have material adverse effect on our business results of operations and financial condition

In addition other factors affecting the demand for our communication sites include

the impact of general economic conditions on consumers of wireless services

the impact of general economic conditions or regulatory policy on wireless service providers

the ability and willingness of wireless service providers to maintain or increase capital expenditures and

interest rates and the overall availability and cost of capital

As result of these factors wireless service providers may delay or abandon implementation of new systems

and technologies including 3G 4G or other wireless services or worse elect not to renew existing antenna leases

in order to reduce operating expenses
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We may not secure as many site leasing tenants as planned or our lease rates for new tenant leases may
decline

If wireless service provider demand for tower space or our lease rates on new leases decrease we may not be

able to successfully grow our site leasing business as expected This may have material adverse effect on our

strategy revenue growth and our ability to satisfy our financial and other contractual obligations Our plan for the

growth of our site leasing business largely depends on our managements expectations and assumptions

concerning future tenant demand and potential lease rates for our towers

Delays or changes in the deployment or adoption of new technologies or slowing consumer adoption rates may
have material adverse efftct on our growth rate

There can be no assurances that 3G 4G or other new wireless technologies will be deployed or adopted as

rapidly as projected or that these new technologies will be implemented in the manner anticipated The

deployment of 3G experienced delays from the original projected timelines of the wireless and broadcast

industries and deployment of 4G has been limited to date Additionally the demand by consumers and the

adoption rate of consumers for these new technologies once deployed may be lower or slower than anticipated

These factors could have material adverse effect on our growth rate since growth opportunities and demand for

our tower space as result of such new technologies may not be realized at the times or to the extent anticipated

Our expansion initiatives may disrupt our operations or expose us to additional risk

As we continue to acquire communications sites in our existing markets and expand into new markets we are

subject to number of risks and uncertainties including not meeting our return on investment criteria and

financial objectives increased costs undisclosed and assumed liabilities and the diversion of managerial attention

due to an acquisition Acquisitions involve substantial operating and financial risks and no assurance can be given

as to our future success in identifying executing and integrating acquisitions Our international expansion

initiatives are subject to additional risks such as complex laws regulations and business practices that may require

additional resources and personnel as well as those risks described above in Our foreign operations are

subject to economic political and other risks that could materially and adversely affect our revenues or financial

position including risks associated with foreign currency exchange rates Furthermore we began expanding our

operations internationally relatively recently and the success of our international operations is subject to

number of uncertainties including our ability to compete internationally with tower companies or wireless service

providers that own and operate their own tower networks that have been in the international market for longer

period of time Although we generally focus our international efforts in countries with relatively stable political

and macroeconomic environments growing competitive wireless communications industries and multiple

wireless carriers that are likely to outsource their communications site infrastructure needs to us we are subject to

several factors outside of our control and no assurance can be given that our expansion initiatives will succeed

and not materially and adversely affect our business results of operations and financial condition

Increasing competition in the tower industry may create pricing pressures that may materially and adversely

affect us

Our industry is highly competitive and our customers have numerous alternatives for leasing antenna space

Some of our competitors such as U.S and international wireless carriers that allow collocation on their towers

and large independent tower companies are substantially larger and have greater financial resources than us

This could provide them with advantages with respect to establishing favorable leasing terms with wireless

service providers or in their ability to acquire available towers

In the site leasing business we compete with
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wireless service providers that own and operate their own towers and lease or may in the future decide to

lease antenna space to other providers

national and regional tower companies and

alternative facilities such as rooftops outdoor and indoor DAS networks billboards and electric

transmission towers

We believe that tower location and capacity quality of service density within geographic market and to

lesser extent price historically have been and will continue to be the most significant competitive factors affecting

the site leasing business However competitive pricing pressures
for tenants on towers from these competitors

could materially and adversely affect our lease rates In addition we may not be able to renew existing customer

leases or enter into new customer leases resulting in material adverse impact on our results of operations and

growth rate Increasing competition could also make the acquisition of high quality tower assets more costly

Any of these factors could materially and adversely affect our business results of operations or financial

condition

The site development segment of our industry is also extremely competitive There are numerous large and

small companies that offer one or more of the services offered by our site development business As result of

this competition margins in this segment continue to be under pressure Many of our competitors have lower

overhead expenses and therefore may be able to provide services at prices that we consider unprofitable If

margins in this segment were to further decrease our consolidated revenues and our site development segment

operating profit could be adversely affected

If we are unable to protect our rights to the land under our towers it could adversely affect our business and

operating results

Our real property interests relating to our towers consist primarily of leasehold and sub-leasehold interests

fee interests easements licenses and rights-of-way From time to time we experience disputes with landowners

regarding the terms of ground agreements for the land under our towers which can affect our ability to access and

operate such towers Further landowners may not want to renew their ground agreements with us they may lose

their rights to the land or they may transfer their land interests to third parties including ground lease

aggregators which could affect our ability to renew ground agreements on commercially viable terms Our

inability to protect our rights to the land under our towers may have future material adverse effect on our

business results of operations or financial condition

In addition we may not always have the ability to analyze and verify all information regarding title access

and other issues regarding the land underlying acquired towers To the extent that we do not have complete

access to or use of the land underlying the acquired towers it could require us to incur additional expenses

before we can operate and generate revenue from such tower

Our debt instruments contain restrictive covenants that could adversely afftct our business by limiting our

flexibility

Our 2010 Credit Facility contains certain restrictive covenants Among other things these covenants limit our

ability to

incur indebtedness above certain level

sell assets
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make certain investments

engage in mergers or consolidations

incur liens and

enter into affiliate transactions

These covenants could place us at disadvantage compared to some of our competitors which may have

fewer restrictive covenants and may not be required to operate under these restrictions Further these covenants

could have an adverse effect on our business by limiting our ability to take advantage of financing new tower

development merger and acquisitions or other opportunities If we fail to comply with these covenants it could

result in an event of default under the 2010 Credit Facility In addition if we default in the payment of our other

indebtedness including under our 2010 Tower Securities and our notes then such default could cause cross-

default under our 2010 Credit Facility

The mortgage loan relating to our 2010 Tower Securities also contains financial covenants that require that

the mortgage loan borrowers maintain on consolidated basis minimum debt service coverage ratio To the

extent that the debt service coverage ratio as of the end of any calendar quarter falls to .30x or lower then all

cash flow in excess of amounts required to make debt service payments to fund required reserves to pay

management fees and budgeted operating expenses and to make other payments required under the loan

documents referred to as excess cash flow will be deposited into reserve account instead of being released to

the Borrowers The funds in the reserve account will not be released to the Borrowers unless the Debt Service

Coverage Ratio exceeds .30x for two consecutive calendar quarters If the debt service coverage ratio falls below

1.1 5x as of the end of any calendar quarter then an amortization period will commence and all funds on deposit

in the reserve account will be applied to prepay the mortgage loan until such time that the Debt Service Coverage

Ratio exceeds 1.1 5x for calendar quarter As lease payments from 3683 tower sites of our total tower portfolio

are pledged as collateral under the mortgage loan if this cash flow was not available to us it could adversely

impact our ability to pay our indebtedness other than the mortgage loan and to operate our business

Our dependence on our subsidiaries for cash flow may negatively affect our business

We are holding company with no business operations of our own Our only significant asset is and is

expected to be the outstanding capital stock and membership interests of our subsidiaries We conduct and

expect to continue conducting all of our business operations through our subsidiaries Accordingly our ability to

pay our obligations is dependent upon dividends and other distributions from our subsidiaries to us Most of our

indebtedness is owed directly by our subsidiaries including the mortgage loan underlying the 2010 Tower

Securities the 2016 Notes the 2019 Notes and any amounts that we may borrow under the 2010 Credit Facility

Consequently the first use of any cash flow from operations generated by such subsidiaries will be payments of

interest and principal if any under their respective indebtedness Other than the cash required to repay amounts

due under our outstanding convertible notes we currently expect that substantially all the earnings and cash flow

of our subsidiaries will be retained and used by them in their operations including servicing their respective debt

obligations The ability of our operating subsidiaries to pay dividends or transfer assets to us is restricted by

applicable state law and contractual restrictions including the terms of their outstanding debt instruments
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Our quarterly operating results for our site development services fluctuate and therefore we may not be able to

adjust our cost structure on timely basis with regard to such fluctuations

The demand for our site development services fluctuates from quarter to quarter and should not be considered

indicative of long-term results Numerous factors cause these fluctuations including

the timing and amount of our customers capital expenditures

the size and scope of our projects

the business practices of customers such as deferring commitments on new projects until after the end of

the calendar year or the customers fiscal year

delays relating to project or tenant installation of equipment

seasonal factors such as weather vacation days and total business days in quarter

the use of third party providers by our customers

the rate and volume of wireless service providers network development and

general economic conditions

Although the demand for our site development services fluctuates we incur significant fixed costs such as

maintaining staff and office space in anticipation of future contracts In addition the timing of revenues is

difficult to forecast because our sales cycle may be relatively long Therefore we may not be able to adjust our

cost structure on timelybasis to respond to the fluctuations in demand for our site development services

We are not profitable and expect to continue to incur losses

We are not profitable The following chart shows the net losses we incurred for the periods indicated

For the year ended December 31

2008 2009 2010

in thousands

Net loss 67164 141119 194421

Our losses are principally due to depreciation amortization and accretion expenses interest expense

including non-cash interest expense and amortization of deferred financing fees and losses from the

extinguishment of debt as well as impairment charges on our towers in the periods presented above We expect to

continue to incur significant losses which may affect our ability to service our indebtedness

The loss of the services of certain of our key personnel or significant number of our employees may
negatively affect our business

Our success depends to significant extent upon performance and active participation of our key personnel

We cannot guarantee that we will be successful in retaining the services of these key personnel We have

employment agreements with Jeffrey Stoops our President and Chief Executive Officer Kurt Bagwell our

President International Thomas Hunt our Senior Vice President Chief Administrative Officer and General

Counsel and Brendan Cavanagh our Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer We do not have
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employment agreements with any of our other key personnel If we were to lose any key personnel we may not

be able to find an appropriate replacement on timely basis and our results of operations could be negatively

affected Further the loss of significant number of employees or our inability to hire sufficient number of

qualified employees could have material adverse effect on our business

Our business is subject to government regulations and changes in current or future regulations could harm

our business

We are subject to federal state and local reguLation of our business both in the U.S and internationally In

the U.S both the Federal Aviation Administration FAA and the FCC regulate the construction modification

and maintenance of antenna towers and structures that support wireless communications and radio and television

antermas In addition the FCC separately licenses and regulates wireless communications equipment and

television and radio stations operating from such towers and structures FAA and FCC regulations govern

construction lighting painting and marking of towers and structures and may depending on the characteristics of

the tower or structure require registration of the tower or structure Certain proposals to construct new towers or

structures or to modify existing towers or structures are reviewed by the FAA to ensure that the tower or structure

will not present hazard to air navigation

Antenna tower owners and antenna structure owners may have an obligation to mark or paint towers or

structures or install lighting to conform to FAA and FCC regulations and to maintain such marking painting and

lighting Antenna tower owners and antenna structure owners may also bear the responsibility of notifying the

FAA of any lighting outages Certain proposals to operate wireless communications and radio or television

stations from antenna towers and structures are also reviewed by the FCC to ensure compliance with

environmental impact requirements Failure to comply with existing or future applicable requirements may lead to

civil penalties or other liabilities and may subject us to significant indemnification liability to our customers

against any such failure to comply In addition new regulations may impose additional costly burdens on us

which may affect our revenues and cause delays in our growth

Local regulations including municipal or local ordinances zoning restrictions and restrictive covenants

imposed by community developers vary greatly but typically require antenna tower and structure owners to

obtain approval from local officials or community standards organizations prior to tower or structure construction

or modification Local regulations can delay prevent or increase the cost of new construction co-locations or

site upgrades thereby limiting our ability to respond to customer demand In addition new regulations may be

adopted that increase delays or result in additional costs to us These factors could have material adverse effect

on our future growth and operations

Our towers are subject to damage from natural disasters

Our towers are subject to risks associated with natural disasters such as tornadoes hurricanes and

earthquakes We maintain insurance to cover the estimated cost of replacing damaged towers but these insurance

policies are subject to loss limits and deductibles We also maintain third party liability insurance subject to loss

limits and deductibles to protect us in the event of an accident involving tower tower accident for which we

are uninsured or underinsured or damage to significant number of our towers could require us to incur

significant expenditures and may have material adverse effect on our operations or financial condition

To the extent that we are not able to provide wireless services to our customers due to natural disaster or

other catastrophic circumstances our customers may not be obligated or willing to pay their lease expenses

however we would be required to continue paying our fixed expenses related to the affected tower including

ground lease expenses If we are unable to provide wireless services to our customers for material portion of our

towers our operations could be materially and adversely affected
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We could have liability under environmental laws that could have material adverse effect on our business

financial condition and results of operations

Our operations like those of other companies engaged in similar businesses are subject to the requirements

of various federal state local and foreign environmental and occupational safety and health laws and regulations

including those relating to the management use storage disposal emission and remediation of and exposure to
hazardous and non-hazardous substances materials and wastes As owner lessee or operator of numerous tower

sites we may be liable for substantial costs of remediating soil and groundwater contaminated by hazardous

materials without regard to whether we as the owner lessee or operator knew of or were responsible for the

contamination We may be subject to potentially significant fines or penalties if we fail to comply with any of

these requirements The current cost of complying with these laws is not material to our financial condition or

results of operations However the requirements of these laws and regulations are complex change frequently

and could become more stringent in the future It is possible that these requirements will change or that liabilities

will arise in the future in manner that could have material adverse effect on our business financial condition

and results of operations

We have adopted anti-takeover provisions that could make it more djfJicult for thi rd party to acquire us

Provisions of our articles of incorporation our bylaws and Florida law could make it more difficult for third

party to acquire us even if doing so would be beneficial to our shareholders We adopted shareholder rights

agreement which could make it considerably more difficult or costly for person or group to acquire control of

us in transaction that our board of directors opposes These provisions alone or in combination with each other

may discourage transactions involving actual or potential changes of control including transactions that otherwise

could involve payment of premium over prevailing market prices to holders of our Class common stock or

could limit the ability of our shareholders to approve transactions that they may deem to be in their best interests

We could suffer adverse tax and other financial consequences taxing authorities do not agree with our tax

positions or we are unable to utilize our net operating losses

We are periodically subject to number of tax examinations by taxing authorities in the states and countries

where we do business We also have significant deferred tax assets related to our net operating losses NOLs in

U.S federal and state taxing jurisdictions Generally for U.S federal and state tax purposes NOLs can be carried

forward and used for up to twenty years and all of our tax years will remain subject to examination until three

years after our NOLs are used or expire We expect that we will continue to be subject to tax examinations in the

future We recognize tax benefits of uncertain tax positions when we believe the positions are more likely than not

of being sustained upon challenge by the relevant tax authority We believe our judgments in this area are

reasonable and correct but there is no guarantee that we will be successful if challenged by tax authority If

there are tax benefits including from our use of NOLs or other tax attributes that are challenged successfully by

taxing authority we may be required to pay additional taxes or we may seek to enter into settlements with the

taxing authorities which could require significant payments or otherwise have material adverse effect on our

business results of operations and financial condition

In addition we may be limited in our ability to utilize our NOLs to offset future taxable income and thereby

reduce our otherwise payable income taxes We have substantial federal and state NOLs including significant

portions obtained through acquisitions and dispositions as well as those generated through our historic business

operations In addition we have disposed of some entities and restructured other entities in conjunction with

financing transactions and other business activities

To the extent we believe that position with respect to an NOL is not more likely than not to be sustained we
do not record the related deferred tax asset In addition for NOLs that meet the recognition threshold we assess
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the recoverability of the NOL and establish valuation allowance against the deferred tax asset related to the

NOL if recoverability is questionable Given the uncertainty surrounding the recoverability of certain of our

NOLs we have established valuation allowance to offset the related deferred tax asset so as to reflect what we

believe to be the recoverable portion of our NOLs

Our ability to utilize our NOLs is also dependent in part upon us having sufficient future earnings to utilize

our NOLs before they expire If market conditions change materially and we determine that we will be unable to

generate sufficient taxable income in the future to utilize our NOLs we could be required to record an additional

valuation allowance We review our uncertain tax position and the valuation allowance for our NOLs periodically

and make adjustments from time to time which can result in an increase or decrease to the net deferred tax asset

related to our NOLs Our NOLs are also subject to review and potential disallowance upon audit by the taxing

authorities of the jurisdictions where the NOLs were incurred and future changes in tax laws or interpretations of

such tax laws could limit materially our ability to utilize our NOLs If we are unable to use our NOLs or use of

our NOLs is limited we may have to make significant payments or otherwise record charges or reduce our

deferred tax assets which could have material adverse effect on our business results of operations and financial

condition

Future sales of our Class common stock in the public market or the issuance of other equity may cause

dilution or adversely afftct the market price of our Class common stock and our ability to raise funds in new

equity or equity-related offe rings

Sales of substantial number of shares of our Class common stock or other equity-related securities in the

public market including sales by any selling shareholder or conversion of the Notes could depress the market

price of our Class common stock and impair our ability to raise capital through the sale of additional equity

securities

Our costs could increase and our revenues could decrease due to perceived health risks from radio frequencyRF energy

The U.S government imposes requirements and other guidelines relating to exposure to RF energy Exposure

to high levels of RF energy can cause negative health effects The potential connection between exposure to low

levels of RF energy and certain negative health effects including some forms of cancer has been the subject of

substantial study by the scientific community in recent years According to the Federal Communications

Commission the FCCthe results of these studies to date have been inconclusive However public perception

of possible health risks associated with cellular and other wireless communications media could slow the growth

of wireless companies which could in turn slow our growth In particular negative public perception of and

regulations regarding health risks could cause decrease in the demand for wireless communications services

Moreover if connection between exposure to low levels of RF energy and possible negative health effects

including cancer were demonstrated we could be subject to numerous claims If we were subject to claims

relating to exposure to RF energy even if such claims were not ultimately found to have merit our financial

condition could be materially and adversely affected

Our issuance of equity securities and other associated transactions may trigger future ownership change
which may negatively impact our ability to utilize net operating loss deferred tax assets in the future

The issuance of equity securities and other associated transactions may increase the chance that we will have

future ownership change under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 We may also have future

ownership change outside of our control caused by future equity transactions by our current shareholders

Depending on our market value at the time of such future ownership change an ownership change under

Section 382 could negatively impact our ability to utilize our net operating loss deferred tax assets in the event we

generate future taxable income Currently we have recorded full valuation allowance against our net operating
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loss deferred tax asset because we have concluded that our loss history indicates that it is not more likely than

not that such deferred tax assets will be realized

ITEM lB UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None

ITEM PROPERTIES

We are headquartered in Boca Raton Florida where we currently lease approximately 73000 square feet of

office space This lease expires February 28 2022 We have entered into long-term leases for regional and

certain site development office locations where we expect our activities to be longer-term We open and close

project offices from time to time in connection with our site development business We believe our existing

facilities are adequate for our current and planned levels of operations and that additional office space suited for

our needs is reasonably available in the markets within which we operate

Our interests in towers are comprised of variety of fee interests leasehold interests created by long-term

lease agreements perpetual easements easements and licenses or rights-of-way granted by government entities

Of the 9111 tower sites in our portfolio as of December 31 2010 approximately 31.1% were located on parcels

of land that we own land subject to perpetual easements or parcels of land that have leasehold interest that

extends beyond 50 years In rural areas wireless communications site typically consists of up to 10000

square foot tract which supports towers equipment shelters and related equipment Less than 2500 square feet is

required for monopole or self-supporting tower structure of the kind typically used in metropolitan areas for

wireless communications tower sites Land leases generally have an initial term of five years with five or more

additional automatic renewal periods of five years for total of thirty years or more

ITEM LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are involved in various legal proceedings relating to claims arising in the ordinary course of business We
do not believe that the ultimate resolution of these matters will have material adverse effect on our business

financial condition results of operations or liquidity

ITEM RESERVED
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PART II

ITEM MARKET FOR REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market for our Class Common Stock

Our Class common stock commenced trading under the symbol SBAC on The NASDAQ National

Market System on June 16 1999 We now trade on the NASDAQ Global Select Market segment of the

NASDAQ Global Market formally known as the NASDAQ National Market System

The following table
presents the high and low sales price for our Class common stock for the periods

indicated

High Low

QuarterendedDecember3l2010 41.29 36.38

Quarter ended September 30 2010 40.60 33.06

QuarterendedJune3o20l0 37.03 30.47

QuarterendedMarch3l2010 37.12 30.64

Quarter ended December31 2009 35.88 25.83

Quarter ended September 30 2009 28.14 22.25

Quarter ended June 30 2009 27.54 21.87

Quarter ended March31 2009 24.43 15.85

As of February 17 2011 there were 124 record holders of our Class common stock

Dividends

We have never paid dividend on any class of common stock and anticipate that we will retain future

earnings if any to fund the development and growth of our business Consequently we do not anticipate paying

cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future
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Issuer purchases of equity securities

The following table presents information related to our repurchases of Class common stock during the

fourth quarter of 2010

Maximum Number or

Approximate Dollar

Total Number of Shares Value of Shares that

Purchased as Part of May Yet Be Purchased

Total Number of Shares Average Price Paid per Publicly Announced Under the Plans or

Period Purchased Share Plans or Programs Programs

10/1/2010-10/31/2010

11/1/2010 11/30/2010 278750 37.09 278750 140918486

12/1/2010-12/31/2010

Total 278750 37.09 278750 140918486

On October 29 2009 our Board of Directors authorized $250.0 million share repurchase program pursuant to which we would repurchase shares of
our Class common stock through open market repurchases in compliance with Rule lOb-18 of the Securities Act of 1933 as amended and/or in

privately negotiated transactions at managements discretion based on market and business conditions applicable legal requirements and other factors
This program became effective November 2009 and will continue until otherwise modified or terminated by our Board of Directors at any time in

our sole discretion
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ITEM SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth selected historical financial data as of and for each of the five years ended

December 31 2010 The financial data for the fiscal years ended 2006 2007 2008 2009 and 2010 have been

derived from our audited consolidated financial statements You should read the information set forth below in

conjunction with our Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

and our consolidated financial statements and the re Eated notes to those consolidated financial statements included

in this Form 10-K

For the year ended December 31

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

audited audited audited audited audited

in thousands except for per share data

Operating data

Revenues

Site leasing
256170 321818 395541 477007 535444

Site development 94932 86383 79413 78506 91175

Totalrevenues 351102 408201 474954 555513 626619

Operating expenses

Cost of revenues exclusive of depreciation

accretion and amortization shown below

Costofsite leasing 70663 88006 96175 llt842 119141

Cost of site development 85923 75347 71990 68701 80301

Selling general and administrative 42277 45564 48721 52785 58209

Acquisition related expenses
120 4810 10106

Restructuring and other credits 357

Asset impairment
921 3884 5862

Depreciation accretion and amortization 133088 169232 211445 258537 278727

Total operating expenses
331594 378154 429372 500559 552346

Operating income 19508 30047 45582 54954 74273

Other income expense

Interest income 3814 10182 6883 1123 432

Interest expense 81283 93063 105328 130853 149921

Non-cash interest expense 6845 13402 33309 49897 60070

Amortization of deferred financing fees 11584 8162 10746 10456 9099

Loss gain from extinguishment of debt net 57233 431 44269 5661 49060

Other income expense 692 15777 13478 163 29

Total other expense 152439 120653 111709 195581 267689

Loss before provision for income taxes 132931 90606 66127 140627 193416

Provision for income taxes 517 868 1037 492 1005

Netloss 133448 91474 67164 141119 194421

Net loss income attributable to the noncontrolhng interest
248 253

Net loss attributable to SBA Communications Corporation 133448 91474 67164 140871 194674

Net loss per common share attributable to SBA Communications

Corporation

Basic anddiluted 1.36 0.87 0.61 1.20 1.68

Basic and diluted weighted average
number ofcommon shares 98193 104743 109882 117165 115591
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As of December 31

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

audited audited audited audited audited

Balance Sheet Data in thousands

Cash and cash equivalents 46148 70272 78856 161317 64254

Short-term investments 55142 162 5352 4016

Restricted cash current 34403 37601 38599 30285 29456

Property and equipment net 1105942 1191969 1502672 1496938 1534318

Intangibles net 724872 868999 1425132 1435591 1500012

Total assets 2046292 2382863 3207829 3313646 3400175

Total debt 1555000 1844573 2392230 2489050 2827450

Total shareholders equity 385921 396357 650510 599949 317110

For the year ended December 31

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

audited audited audited audited audited

Other Data
in thousands

Cash provided by used in

Operating activities 73730 122934 173696 222558 201155

Investing activities 738353 301884 580549 229075 425039

Financing activities 664837 203074 415437 88978 126821

Restricted cash of $29.5 million as of December 31 2010 consisted of $28.6 million related to 2010 Tower Securities loan requirements and $0.9

million related to surety bonds issued for our benefit Restricted cash of $30.3 million as of December 31 2009 consisted of $29.1 million related to

CMBS Mortgage loan requirements and $1.2 million related to surety bonds issued for our benefit Restricted cash of $38.6 million as of December 31
2008 consisted of $36.2 million related to CMBS Mortgage loan requirements and $2.4 million related to surety bonds issued for our benefit Restricted

cash of $37.6 million as of December 31 2007 consisted of $35.3 million related to CMBS Mortgage loan requirements and $2.3 million related to

surety bonds issued for our benefit Restricted cash of $34.4 million as of December 31 2006 consisted of $30.7 million related to CMBS mortgage loan

requirements and $3.7 million related to surety bonds issued for our benefit

Includes deferred loss from the termination of nine interest rate swap agreements of $4.3 million as of December 31 2009 $7.4 million as of

December31 2008 $10.2 million as of December 31 2007 and $12.5 million as of December 31 2006 Includes deferred gain from the termination of

two interest rate swap agreements of $5.9 million as of December 31 2008 $8.9 million as of December 31 2007 and $11.8 million as of December

31 2006

ITEM MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTSOF OPERATIONS

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction

with the information contained in our consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto The following

discussion includes forward-looking statements that involve certain risks and uncertainties including but not

limited to those described in Item JA Risk Factors Our actual results may der materially from those discussed

below See Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements and Item JA Risk Factors

We are leading independent owner and operator of wireless communications towers Our principal

operations are in the United States and its territories In addition we own towers in Canada Costa Rica El

Salvador and Panama Our primary business line is our site leasing business which contributed approximately

97.5% of our total segment operating profit for the year ended December 31 2010 In our site leasing business

we lease antenna space to wireless service providers on towers and other structures that we own manage or lease

from others The towers that we own have been constructed by us at the
request of wireless service provider

built or constructed based on our own initiative or acquired As of December 31 2010 we owned 9111 tower

sites the substantial majority of which have been built by us or built by other tower owners or operators who like

us have built such towers to lease space to multiple wireless service providers As of December 31 2010 we also

managed or leased approximately 5300 actual or potential communications sites approximately 500 of which
were revenue producing as of December 31 2010 Our other business line is our site development business
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through which we assist wireless service providers in developing and maintaining their own wireless service

networks

Site Leasing Services

Our primary focus is the leasing of antenna space on our multi-tenant towers to variety of wireless service

providers under long-term lease contracts Site leasing revenues are received primarily from wireless service

provider tenants including ATT Sprint Verizon Wireless and T-Mobile Wireless service providers enter into

numerous different tenant leases with us each of which relates to the lease or use of space at an individual tower

site Tenant leases are generally for an initial term of five years with five 5-year renewal periods at the option of

the tenant These tenant leases typically contain specific rent escalators which average 3% per year including the

renewal option periods Tenant leases are generally paid on monthly basis and revenue from site leasing is

recorded monthly on straight-line basis over the current term of the related lease agreements Rental amounts

received in advance are recorded in deferred revenue

Cost of site leasing revenue primarily consists of

Rental payments on ground and other underlying property leases

Straight-line rent adjustment for the difference between rental payments made and the expense

recorded as if the payments had been made evenly throughout the minimum lease term which may

include renewal terms of the underlying property leases

Property taxes

Site maintenance and monitoring costs exclusive of employee related costs

Utilities

Property insurance and

Deferred lease origination cost amortization

For any given tower such costs are relatively fixed over monthly or an annual time period As such

operating costs for owned towers do not generally increase significantly as result of adding additional customers

to the tower The amount of other direct costs associated with operating tower varies from site to site depending

on the taxing jurisdiction and the height and age of the tower but typically do not make up large percentage of

total operating costs The ongoing maintenance requirements are typically minimal and include replacing lighting

systems painting tower or upgrading or repairing an access road or fencing Lastly ground leases are generally

for an initial term of five years or more with multiple renewal terms of five year periods at our option and provide

for rent escalators which typically average 3% anriually or provide for term escalators of approximately 15%
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As indicated in the table below our site leasing business generates substantially all of our total segment

operating profit For information regarding our operating segments see Note 22 of our Consolidated Financial

Statements included in this annual report

Revenues

For the year ended December 31
2008 2009 2010

in thousands

Site leasing revenue 395541 477007 535444
Total revenues 474954 555513 626619

Site leasing revenue percentage of total revenues 83.3% 85.9% 85.4%

Segment Operating Profit

For the year ended December 31

2008 2009 2010

in thousands

Site leasing segment operating profit 299366 365165 416303

Total segment operating profit 306789 374970 427177

Site leasing segment operating profit

percentage of total segment operating profit 97.6% 97.4% 97.5%

Site leasing segment operating profit and total segment operating profit are non-GAAP financial measures We reconcile these measures and

other Regulation disclosures in this annual report in the section entitled Non-GAPP Financial Measures

We believe that over the long-term site leasing revenues will continue to grow as wireless service providers

lease additional anteima space on our towers due to increasing minutes of network use network expansion and

network coverage requirements We believe our site leasing business is characterized by stable and long-term

recurring revenues predictable operating costs and minimal non-discretionary capital expenditures Due to the

relatively young age and mix of our tower portfolio we expect future expenditures required to maintain these

towers to be minimal Consequently we expect to grow our cash flows by adding tenants to our towers at minimal

incremental costs by using existing tower capacity or requiring wireless service providers to bear all or portion

of the cost of tower modifications Furthermore because our towers are strategically positioned and our customers

typically do not relocate we have historically experienced low tenant lease terminations as percentage of

revenue

Site Development Services

Our site development services business is complementary to our site leasing business and provides us the

ability to keep in close contact with the wireless service providers who generate substantially all of our site

leasing revenue and to capture ancillary revenues that are generated by our site leasing activities such as antenna

and equipment installation at our tower locations Our site development services business consists of two

segments site development consulting and site development construction Site development services revenues are

received primarily from providing full range of end to end services to wireless service providers or companies

providing development or project management services to wireless service providers We principally perform

services for third parties in our core historical areas of wireless expertise specifically site acquisition zoning

technical services and construction
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Our site development customers engage us on project-by-project basis and customer can generally

terminate an assignment at any time without penalty Site development projects both consulting and construction

include contracts on time and materials basis or fixed price basis The majority of our site development

services are billed on fixed price basis Time and materials based site development contracts are billed and

revenue is recognized at contractual rates as the services are rendered Our site development projects generally

take from three to twelve months to complete For those site development consulting contracts in which we

perform work on fixed price basis we recognize revenue based on the completion of agreed upon phases of the

project on per site basis

Our revenue from site development construction contracts is recognized on the percentage-of-completion

method of accounting determined by the percentage of cost incurred to date compared to managements

estimated total cost for each contract This method is used because management considers total cost to be the best

available measure of progress on the contracts These amounts are based on estimates and the uncertainty

inherent in the estimates initially is reduced as work on the contracts nears completion Revenue from our site

development construction business may fluctuate from period to period depending on construction activities

which are function of the timing and amount of our clients capital expenditures the number and significance of

active customer engagements during period weather and other factors

Cost of site development consulting revenue and construction revenue includes all costs of materials salaries

and labor costs including payroll taxes subcontract labor vehicle expense and other costs directly and indirectly

related to the projects All costs related to site development consulting contracts and construction contracts are

recognized as incurred

The table below provides the percentage of total company revenues contributed by site development services

over the last three years For information regarding our operating segments see Note 22 of our Consolidated

Financial Statements included in this annual report

Percentage of Revenues

For the year ended December 31

2008 2009 2010

in thousands

Site development consulting 18754 17408 19210

Site development construction 60659 61098 71965

Total revenues 474954 555513 626619

Site development consulting revenue percentage of total 3.9% 3.1% 3.1%

Site development construction revenue percentage of total 12.8% 11.0% 11.5%

International Operations

As of December 31 2010 we had operations in Canada Costa Rica El Salvador and Panama Our operations

in these four countries are solely in the site leasing business and we expect to expand operations through new

builds and acquisitions Tenant leases and ground leases in these international markets typically have similar

terms and conditions as those in the United States with fixed initial term of three to five years and specific rent

escalators

In our Central American markets significantly all of our revenue expenses and capital expenditures arising

from our new build activities are denominated in U.S dollars Specifically our ground leases our tenant leases

and most of our tower related expenses are due and paid in U.S dollars In our Canadian operations

significantly all of our revenue expenses and capital expenditures arising from our new build activities including
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tenant leases ground leases and other tower-related expenses are denominated in Canadian dollars In each of

these markets our local currency obligations are principally limited to salaries and other employee benefits

permitting and other local fees utilities and taxes however in some of our Central American markets

portion of these expenses may also be paid in U.s dollars

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

We have identified the policies and significant estimation processes below as critical to our business

operations and the understanding of our results of operations The listing is not intended to be comprehensive

list In many cases the accounting treatment of particular transaction is specifically dictated by accounting

principles generally accepted in the United States with no need for managements judgment in their application

In other cases management is required to exercise judgment in the application of accounting principles with

respect to particular transactions The impact and any associated risks related to these policies on our business

operations is discussed throughout Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operations where such policies affect reported and expected financial results For detailed discussion on the

application of these and other accounting policies see Note of our Consolidated Financial Statements for the

year ended December 31 2010 included herein Our preparation of our financial statements requires us to make

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities disclosure of contingent assets

and liabilities at the date of our financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the

reporting periods Management bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that

are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances There can be no assurance that actual results will not differ

from those estimates and such differences could be significant

Construction Revenue

Revenue from construction projects is recognized using the percentage-of-completion method of accounting

determined by the percentage of cost incurred to date compared to managements estimated total cost for each

contract This method is used because we consider total cost to be the best available measure of progress on each

contract These amounts are based on estimates and the uncertainty inherent in the estimates initially is reduced

as work on each contract nears completion The asset Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on

uncompleted contracts represents expenses incurred and revenues recognized in excess of amounts billed The

liability Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts represents billings in

excess of revenues recognized

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We perform periodic credit evaluations of our customers We continuously monitor collections and payments

from our customers and maintain an allowance for estimated credit losses based upon our historical experience

and any specific customer collection issues that we have identified Establishing reserves against specific accounts

receivable and the overall adequacy of our allowance is matter of judgment

Asset Impairment

We evaluate the potential impairment of individual long-lived assets principally the tower sites We record an

impairment charge when we believe an investment in towers or intangible assets has been impaired such that

future undiscounted cash flows would not recover the then current carrying value of the investment in the tower

site We consider many factors and make certain assumptions when making this assessment including but not

limited to general market and economic conditions historical operating results geographic location lease-up

potential and expected timing of lease-up In addition we make certain assumptions in determining an assets fair

value for purposes of calculating the amount of an impairment charge Changes in those assumptions or market

conditions may result in fair value which is different from managements estimates Future adverse changes in
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market conditions could result in losses or an inability to recover the carrying value thereby possibly requiring an

impairment charge in the future In addition if our assumptions regarding future undiscounted cash flows and

related assumptions are incorrect future impairment charge may be required

Property Tax Expense

We typically receive notifications and invoices in arrears for property taxes associated with the tangible

personal property and real property used in our site leasing business As result we recognize property tax

expense which is reflected as component of site leasing cost of revenue based on our best estimate of

anticipated property tax payments related to the current period We consider several factors in establishing this

estimate including our historical level of incurred property taxes the location of the property our awareness of

jurisdictional property value assessment methods and industry related property tax information If our estimates

regarding anticipated property tax expenses are incorrect future increase or decrease in site leasing cost of

revenue may be required

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

This report contains certain non-GAAP measures including Segment Operating Profit and Adjusted EBITDA

information We have provided below description of such non-GAAP measures reconciliation of such non

GAAP measures to their most directly comparable GAAP measures and an explanation as to why management

utilizes these measures

Segment Operating Profit

We believe that Segment Operating Profit is an indicator of the operating performance of our site leasing and

site development segments and is used to provide management with the ability to monitor the operating results

and margin of each segment while excluding the impact of depreciation accretion and amortization which is

largely fixed and non-cash in nature Segment Operating Profit is not intended to be an alternative measure of

revenue or segment gross profit as determined in accordance with GAAP

For the year ended For the year ended

December 31 Dollar Percentage December 31 Dollar Percentage

Segment Operating Profit 2010 2009 Change Change 2009 2008 Change Change

in thousands in thousands

Site leasing 416303 365165 51138 14.0% 365165 299366 65799 22.0%

Site development consulting 4235 4174 61 1.5% 4174 3542 632 17.8%

Sitedevelopmentconstruction 6639 5631 1008 17.9% 5631 3881 1750 45.1%

Total 427177 374970 52207 13.9% 374970 306789 68181 22.2%

The increase in site leasing segment operating profit of $51.1 million in 2010 is primarily related to additional

profit generated by the revenues from the towers that we acquired or constructed in the latter half of 2009 or

subsequent to December 31 2009 organic site leasing growth from new leases and contractual rent escalators and

lease amendments with current tenants which increased the related rent to reflect additional equipment added to

our towers in the year ended December 31 2010 control of our site leasing cost of revenue and the positive

impact of our ground lease purchase program

The increase in site leasing segment operating profit of $65.8 million in 2009 is primarily related to additional

profit generated by the revenues from the towers that we acquired in the 2008 acquisitions of Optasite Light
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Tower and Tower Co and other towers that we acquired or constructed in the latter half of 2008 or subsequent to

December 31 2008 organic site leasing growth from new leases and contractual rent escalators and lease

amendments with current tenants which increased the related rent to reflect additional equipment added to our

towers in the year ended December 31 2009 control of our site leasing cost of revenue and the positive impact of

our ground lease purchase program

Each respective Segment Operating Profit is defined as segment revenues less segment cost of revenues

excluding depreciation accretion and amortization Total Segment Operating Profit is the tOtal of the operating

profits of the three segments The reconciliation of Segment Operating Profit is as follows

Segment revenue

Segment cost of revenues excluding depreciation

accretion and amortization

Segment operating profit

Segment revenue

Segment cost of revenues excluding depreciation

accretion and amortization

Segment operating profit

Segment revenue

Segment cost of revenues excluding depreciation

accretion and amortization

Segment operating profit

Adjusted EBITDA

Site leasing segment

For the year ended December 31
2010 2009 2008

in thousands

535444 477007 395541

119141 111842 96175

416303 365165 299366

Site development consulting segment

For the year ended December 31
2010 2009 2008

in thousands

19210 17408 18754

14975 13234 15212

4235 4174 3542

Site development construction segment

For the year ended December 31
2010 2009

in thousands

We believe that Adjusted EBITDA is an indicator of the performance of our core operations and reflects the

changes in our operating results Adjusted EBITDA is component of the calculation that has been used by our

lenders to determine compliance with certain covenants under our 2010 Credit Facility as defined below and

Senior Notes as defined below Adjusted EBITDA is not intended to be an alternative measure of operating

income or gross profit margin as determined in accordance with GAAP

We define Adjusted EBITDA as net loss excluding the impact of net interest expenses including

amortization of deferred financing fees provision for taxes depreciation accretion and amortization asset

impairment and other charges non-cash compensation net loss gain from extinguishment of debt other income

and expenses acquisition related expenses non-cash straight-line leasing revenue and non-cash straight-line

ground lease expense Adjusted EBITDA excludes acquisition related costs which were previously capitalized

but commencing January 2009 were required to be expensed and included within operating expenses pursuant

2008

71965 61098 60659

65326 55467 56778

6639 5631 3881
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to the adoption of new business combination accounting guidance The reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA is as

follows

194421

432

219090

278727

5862

2904

49060

10106

10501

5289
11300

in thousands

141119

1123

191206

258537

3884

2204

5661

4810

8200

6176
12543

67164

6883

149383

211445

921

2371

44269
120

7207

7810

10387

13478

269186

Interest expense includes cash interest expense non-cash interest expense and amortization of deferred financing fees

Includes $1899 $1712 and $1334 of franchise taxes reflected on the Statement of Operations in selling general and administrative expenses

for the year ended 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

Adjusted EBITDA was $387.4 million for the year ended December 31 2010 as compared to $338.5 million

for the year ended December 31 2009 The increase of $48.9 million is primarily the result of increased segment

operating profit from our site leasing segment

Adjusted EBITDA was $338.5 million for the year ended December 31 2009 as compared to $269.2 million

for the year ended December 31 2008 The increase of $69.3 million is primarily the result of increased segment

operating profit from our site leasing segment

For the year ended December 31
2010 2009 2008

Net loss

Interest income

Interest expense

Depreciation accretion and amortization

Asset impairment

Provision for taxes

Loss gain from extinguishment of debt net

Acquisition related expenses

Non-cash compensation

Non-cash straight-line leasing revenue

Non-cash straight-line ground lease expense

Other income expense

Adjusted EBITDA

29
387379

163

338464
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended 2010 Compared to Year Ended 2009

For the year ended December 31 Dollar Percentage

2010 2009 Change Change

in thousands except for percentages

Revenues

Site leasing 535444 477007 58437 12.3%

Site development consulting 19210 17408 1802 10.4%

Site development construction 71965 61098 10867 17.8%

Total revenues 626619 555513 71106 12.8%

Operating expenses

Cost of revenues exclusive of depreciation

accretion and amortization shown below

Costofsite leasing 119141 111842 7299 6.5%

Cost of site development consulting 14975 13234 1741 13.2%

Cost of site development construction 65326 55467 9859 17.8%

Selling general and administrative 58209 52785 5424 10.3%

Asset impairment 5862 3884 1978 50.9%

Acquisition related expenses 10106 4810 5296 110.1%

Depreciation accretion and amortization 278727 258537 20190 7.8%

Total operating expenses 552346 500559 51787 10.3%

Operating income 74273 54954 19319 35.2%

Other income expense

Interest income 432 1123 691 61.5%

Interest expense 149921 130853 19068 14.6%

Non-cash interest expense 60070 49897 10173 20.4%

Amortization of deferred financing fees 9099 10456 1357 13.0%

Loss from extinguishment of debt net 49060 5661 43399 766.6%

Other income 29 163 134 82.2%

Total other expense 267689 195581 72108 36.9%

Loss before provision for income taxes 193416 140627 52789 37.5%

Provision for income taxes 1005 492 513 104.3%

Netloss 194421 141119 53302 37.8%

Net income loss attributable to the noncontrolling interest 253 248 501 202.0%

Net loss attributable to SBA Communications Corporation 194674 140871 53803 38.2%

Revenues

Site leasing revenue increased $58.4 million for the year ended December 31 2010 largely due to

revenues from the towers that we acquired or constructed in the latter half of 2009 or subsequent to December 31
2009 and ii organic site leasing growth from new leases and contractual rent escalators with current tenants and

lease amendments with current tenants which increased the related rent to reflect additional equipment added to

our towers
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Site development consulting revenue increased $1.8 million and site development construction revenues

increased $10.9 million for the year ended December 31 2010 as compared to the year ended December 31

2009 as result of higher volume of work associated with continued network expansion of the wireless carriers

Operating Expenses

Site leasing cost of revenues increased $7.3 million primarily as result of the growth in the number of tower

sites owned by us which was 9111 at December 31 2010 up from 8324 at December 31 2009 offset by the

positive impact of our ground lease purchase program

Site development consulting cost of revenues increased $1.7 million and site development construction cost

of revenues increased $9.9 million for the year ended December 31 2010 as compared to the prior year as

result of higher volume of work performed during 2010 as compared to 2009

Selling general and administrative expenses increased $5.4 million primarily as result of an increase in

salaries benefits and other employee related expenses resulting primarily from higher number of employees

increased non-cash compensation expense as well as costs incurred in connection with our international

expansion

Acquisition related expenses increased $5.3 million for the year ended December 31 2010 as compared to

the prior year primarily as result of an increase in the number of towers acquired as well as under contract for

acquisition during 2010 as compared to 2009

We recognized an asset impairment charge of $5.9 million for the year ended December 31 2010 and $3.9

million for the year ended December 31 2009 These asset impairment charges resulted from reevaluation of

future cash flow expectations using discounted cash flow analysis for those towers 59 towers in 2010 and 21

towers in 2009 that have not achieved expected lease-up results compared to ii the related net book value of

those towers In addition the asset impairment charge for 2009 included an impairment charge on our six DAS

networks based on their estimated fair value at December 31 2009

Depreciation accretion and amortization expense increased $20.2 million to $278.7 million for the year ended

December 31 2010 from $258.5 million for the year ended December 31 2009 due to an increase in the number

of towers and associated intangible assets owned for the year ended December 31 2010 compared to those owned

at December 31 2009

Operating Income

Operating income increased $19.3 million for year ended December 31 2010 to $74.3 million compared to

$55.0 million for the year ended December 31 2009 primarily due to the result of higher segment operating profit

in the site leasing segment partially offset by increases in depreciation accretion and amortization expense

acquisition related expenses and selling general and administrative expenses

Other Income Expense

Interest income decreased $0.7 million for the year ended December 31 2010 compared to the year ended

December 31 2009 primarily as result of the lower weighted average interest rates during 2010 compared to

2009

Interest expense for the year ended December 31 2010 increased $19.1 million from the year ended

December 31 2009 primarily due to the higher weighted average amount of cash-interest bearing debt
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outstanding offset by the lower weighted average interest rate for the year ended December 31 2010 as compared
to the year ended December 31 2009

Non-cash interest expense for the year ended December 31 2010 increased $10.2 million from the year ended

December 31 2009 primarily as result of accretion of debt discounts using the effective interest method on the

1.875% Notes the 4.0% Notes and the Senior Notes offset by the impact of the repurchase of an aggregate of

$107.7 million in principal of the 0.375% Notes during 2009 and repayment of the Optasite Credit Facility in July

2009

The loss from extinguishment of debt of $49.1 million for the year ended December 31 2010 is primarily

associated with the repayment of the outstanding balance of $938.6 million in principal of our 2006 CMBS
Certificates The net loss from extinguishment of debt of $5.7 million for the year ended December 31 2009

includes loss of $7.2 million related to the repurchases and subsequent payoff of our 2005 CMBS Certificates in

July 2009 $2.7 million associated with the repurchase of $150.1 million in principal of our 2006 CMBS
Certificates and $1.9 million related to the payoff of our Optasite Credit Facility in July 2009 offset by gain of

$6.1 million associated with the repurchases of an aggregate of $107.7 million in principal of our 0.375% Notes

Net Loss

Net loss was $194.4 million for the year ended December 31 2010 as compared to $141.1 million for the year

ended December 31 2009 The net loss increased in 2010 primarily due to the loss on extinguishment of debt of

$49.1 million increases in interest expense non-cash interest expense and depreciation accretion and

amortization expense partially offset by an increase in site leasing segment operating profit
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Year Ended 2009 Compared to Year Ended 2008

For the year ended December 31 Dollar Percentage

2009 2008 Change Change

in thousands except for percentages

Revenues

Site leasing 477007 395541 81466 20.6%

Site development consulting 17408 18754 1346 7.2%

Site development construction 61098 60659 439 0.7%

Total revenues 555513 474954 80559 17.0%

Operating expenses

Cost of revenues exclusive of depreciation

accretion and amortization shown below

Cost of site leasing 111842 96175 15667 16.3%

Cost of site development consulting 13234 15212 1978 13.0%

Cost of site development construction 55467 56778 1311 2.3%

Selling general and administrative 52785 48721 4064 8.3%

Asset impairment 3884 921 2963 321.7%

Acquisition related expenses 4810 120 4690 3908.3%

Depreciation accretion and amortization 258537 211445 47092 22.3%

Total operating expenses 500559 429372 71187 16.6%

Operating income 54954 45582 9372 20.6%

Other income expense

Interest income 1123 6883 5760 83.7%

Interest expense 130853 105328 25525 24.2%

Non-cash interest expense 49897 33309 16588 49.8%

Amortization of deferred financing fees 10456 10746 290 2.7%

Loss gain from extinguishment of debt net 5661 44269 49930 112.8%

Other income expense 163 13478 13641 101.2%

Total other expense 195581 111709 83872 75.1%

Loss before provision for income taxes 140627 66127 74500 112.7%

Provision for income taxes 492 1037 545 52.6%

Nettoss 141119 67164 73955 110.1%

Net loss attributable to the noncontrolling interest 248 248 100.0%

Net loss attributable to SBA Communications Corporation 140871 67164 73707 109.7%

Revenues

Site leasing revenue increased $81.5 million for the year ended December 31 2009 largely due to

revenues from the towers that we acquired in the 2008 acquisitions of Optasite Light Tower and Tower Co and

the other towers that we acquired or constructed subsequent to December 31 2008 and ii organic site leasing

growth from new leases and contractual rent escalators and lease amendments with current tenants which

increased the related rent to reflect additional equipment added to our towers Average rents per tenant increased

in the year ended December 31 2009 due primarily to rent escalators lease amendments and higher rents

associated with new leases

Site development consulting revenue decreased $1.3 million for the year ended December 31 2009

compared to the same period in the prior year as result of lower volume of work Site development

construction revenues remained relatively stable frr the year ended December 31 2009 as compared to the year

ended December 31 2008
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Operating Expenses

Site leasing cost of revenues increased $15.7 million primarily as result of the growth in the number of

tower sites owned by us which was 8324 at December 31 2009 up from 7854 at December 31 2008 offset by

the positive impact of our ground lease purchase program

Site development consulting cost of revenues decreased by $2.0 million and site development construction

cost of revenues decreased by $1.3 million for the year ended December 31 2009 as compared to the same period

in the prior year as result of lower volume of work and continued effort to manage and reduce fixed overhead

costs

Selling general and administrative expenses increased $4.1 million primarily as result of an increase in

salaries benefits and other employee related expenses resulting primarily from higher number of employees

and increased non-cash compensation expense that we recognized for the year ended December 31 2009

compared to the year ended December 31 2008

Acquisition related expenses of $4.8 million are associated with acquisitions which effective January 2009

are required to be expensed and included within operating expenses We had historically capitalized the majority

of these expenses

Asset impairment of $3.9 million for the year ended December 31 2009 is result of reevaluation of future

cash flow expectations for 21 towers that have not achieved expected lease-up results as determined using

discounted cash flow analysis compared to the related net book value of the tower assets and an impairment

charge on our six DAS networks based on the estimated fair value of the DAS networks at December 31 2009

Asset impairment of $0.9 million for the year ended December 31 2008 is result of reevaluation of future cash

flow expectations for towers that have not achieved expected lease-up results as determined using discounted

cash flow analysis compared to the related net book value of the tower asset and related intangibles

Depreciation accretion and amortization expense increased $47.1 million to $258.5 million for the year ended

December 31 2009 from $211.4 million for the year ended December 31 2008 due to an increase in the number

of towers and associated intangible assets we owned for the year ended December 31 2009 compared to those

owned at December 31 2008

Operating Income

Operating income increased $9.4 million for year ended December 31 2009 to $55.0 million compared to

$45.6 million for the year ended December 31 2008 primarily due to the result of higher segment operating profit

in the site leasing segment partially offset by increases in depreciation accretion and amortization expense

acquisition related expenses and selling general and administrative expenses

Other Income Expense

Interest income decreased $5.8 million for the year ended December 31 2009 compared to the year ended

December 31 2008 primarily as result of lower weighted average interest rates offset by higher average invested

funds during 2009 compared to 2008

Interest expense for the year ended December 31 2009 increased $25.5 million from the year ended

December 31 2008 primarily due to the higher interest rates on the mix of our outstanding debt and the higher

weighted average amount of cash interest bearing debt outstanding for the year ended December 31 2009 as

compared to the year ended December 31 2008
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Non-cash interest expense for the year ended December 31 2009 increased $16.6 million from the year ended

December 31 2008 primarily as result of the accretion of debt discounts on the Senior Notes which were issued

in July 2009 and the 4.0% Notes which were issued in April 2009 and the Optasite Credit Facility acquired in

September 2008 offset by the impact of the repurchase of an aggregate of $319.6 million in principal of the

0.375% Notes in the fourth quarter of 2008 and year ended December 31 2009

The net loss from extinguishment of debt of $5.7 million for the year ended December 31 2009 includes

loss of $7.2 million related to the repurchases and subsequent payoff of our 2005 CMBS Certificates in July 2009

$2.7 million associated with the repurchase of $150.1 million in principal of our 2006 CMBS Certificates and

$1.9 million related to the payoff of our Optasite Credit Facility in July 2009 offset by gain of $6.1 million

associated with the repurchases of an aggregate of $107.7 million in principal of our 0.375% Notes The net gain

from extinguishment of debt of $44.3 million for the year ended December 31 2008 included $25.7 million

related to the repurchase of $211.9 million in principal amount of our 0.375% Notes and $18.9 million related to

the repurchases of $65.5 million of our CMBS Certificates offset by the write-off of deferred financing fees

related to the portion of the debt extinguished and tlhe reduction in the aggregate commitment of the lenders under

the Senior Credit Facility as result of Lehman Commercial Paper Inc.s default of its funding obligations See

discussion in Note 12 to the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for more information

Other income expense for the year ended December 31 2009 decreased $13.6 million from the year ended

December 31 2008 primarily as result of an other-than-temporary impairment charge on our investments in

auction rate securities during 2008 See Note of cur Consolidated Financial Statements for more information on

our investments in auction rate securities and this other-than-temporary impairment charge

Net Loss

Net loss increased by $74.0 million to $141.1 million for the year ended December 31 2009 primarily as

result of the 2009 net losses from the early extinguishment of debt as opposed to net gains from the early

extinguishment of debt in 2008 increases in interest expense non-cash interest expense and depreciation

accretion and amortization expense partially offset by an increase in site leasing segment operating profit

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

SBA Communications Corporation is holding company with no business operations of its own SBA
Communications only significant asset is the outstanding capital stock of SBA Telecommunications Inc

Telecommunications which is also holding company that owns equity interests in SBA Senior Finance

Inc SBA Senior Finance the entity that indirectly owns all of our other domestic towers and assets and

our international entities We conduct all of our business operations through Telecommunications subsidiaries

Accordingly our only source of cash to pay our obligations other than financings is distributions with respect to

our ownership interest in our subsidiaries from the net earnings and cash flow generated by these subsidiaries
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summary of our cash flows is as follows

For the year ended December 31

2010 2009

in thousands

Summary cash flow information

Cash provided by operating activities 201155 222558

Cash used in investing activities 425039 229075
Cash provided by financing activities 126821 88978

Decrease increase in cash and cash equivalents 97063 82461

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of
year 161317 78856

Cash and cash equivalents end of year 64254 161317

Sources of Liquidity

We fund our growth including our tower portfolio growth through cash flows from operations long-term

indebtedness and equity issuances With respect to our debt financing we have utilized secured and unsecured

financings and issuances at various levels of our organizational structure to minimize our financing costs while

maximizing our operational flexibility

Cash provided by operating activities was $201.2 million for the year ended December 31 2010 as compared
to $222.6 million for the year ended December 31 2009 This decrease was primarily due to the timing of interest

payments relating to the .higher average amount of cash-interest bearing debt outstanding for the year ended

December 31 2010 compared to the same period in the prior year offset by an increase in segment operating

profit from the site leasing segment

On February 11 2010 SBA Senior Finance II LLC SBA Senior Finance II our indirect wholly-owned

subsidiary entered into credit agreement for $500.0 million senior secured revolving credit facility the 2010

Credit Facility with several banks and other financial institutions or entities from time to time parties to the

credit agreement the Credit Agreement Amounts borrowed under the 2010 Credit Facility are secured by
first lien on the capital stock of Telecommunications SBA Senior Finance and SBA Senior Finance II and

substantially all of the assets other than leasehold easement or fee interests in real property of SBA Senior

Finance II and the Subsidiary Guarantors as defined in the Credit Agreement The 2010 Credit Facility matures

on February 11 2015 and may be borrowed repaid and redrawn subject to compliance with the financial and

other covenants in the Credit Agreement As of December 31 2010 we had $20.0 million outstanding under the

2010 Credit Facility and the weighted average interest rate for the amounts borrowed was 2.15% As of December

31 2010 the availability under the 2010 Credit Facility was $480.0 million Proceeds under the 2010 Credit

Facility may be used for general corporate purposes The material terms of the 2010 Credit Facility are described

below under Debt Instruments and Debt Service Requirements 2010 Credit Facility

On April 16 2010 New York common law trust the Trust initially formed by our indirect subsidiary

issued $680.0 million of Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2010-1 the 2010-1 Tower Securities and

$550.0 million of Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 20102 the 2010-2 Tower Securities and together

with the 2010-1 Tower Securities the 2010 Tower Securities The weighted average annual fixed coupon
interest rate of the 2010 Tower Securities is 4.6% payable monthly The anticipated repayment date and the final

maturity date for the 20101 Tower Securities is April 16 2015 and April 16 2040 respectively The anticipated

repayment date and the final maturity date for the 20102 Tower Securities is April 16 2017 and April 16 2042

respectively The sole asset of the Trust consists of non-recourse mortgage loan made in favor of SBA
Properties Inc SBA Sites Inc and SBA Structures Inc our indirect operating subsidiaries the Borrowers
The mortgage loan consists of two components each with terms that are identical to the series of 2010 Tower
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Securities to which it relates The Borrowers are special purpose vehicles which exist solely to hold the towers

which are subject to the securitization The Borrowers are jointly and severally liable for all obligations under the

mortgage loan The material terms of the 2010 Tower Securities are described below under Debt Instruments

and Debt Service Requirements Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2010

Registration Statements

We have on file with the Commission shelf registration statement on Form S-4 registering shares of

Class common stock that we may issue in connection with the acquisition of wireless communication towers or

antenna sites and related assets or companies who own wireless communication towers antenna sites or related

assets During the year ended December 31 2010 we did not issue any shares of Class common stock under

this registration statement As of December 31 2010 we had approximately 1.7 million shares of Class

common stock remaining under this shelf registration statement

On March 2009 we filed with the Commission an automatic shelf registration statement for well-known

seasoned issuers on Form S-3ASR This registration statement enables us to issue shares of our Class common

stock preferred stock or debt securities either separately or represented by warrants or depositary shares as well

as units that include any of these securities Under the rules governing automatic shelf registration statements we

will file prospectus supplement and advise the Commission of the amount and type of securities each time we

issue securities under this registration statement For the year ended December 31 2010 we did not issue any

securities under this automatic shelf registration statement

Uses of Liquidity

We believe that our principal use of liquidity will be to fund tower portfolio growth and secondarily to fund

our stock repurchase program In the future we may repurchase for cash or equity our outstanding indebtedness

in privately-negotiated or open market transactions in order to optimize our liquidity and leverage and take

advantage of market opportunities

Our cash capital expenditures including cash used for acquisitions for the year ended December 31 2010

were $394.7 million The $394.7 million includes cash capital expenditures of $303.1 million that we incurred

primarily in connection with the acquisition of 712 completed towers net of related working capital adjustments

and earnouts associated with previous acquisitions The $394.7 million also includes $46.9 million for

construction and related costs associated with the completion of 124 new towers during the year ended December

31 2010 and for the sites in process at December 31 2010 $8.2 million for tower maintenance capital

expenditures $9.4 million for augmentations and tower upgrades $2.1 million for general corporate expenditures

and $25.0 million for ground lease purchases not including $9.0 million spent to extend ground lease terms

Subsequent to December 31 2010 we acquired 123 towers and related assets and liabilities from various

sellers The aggregate consideration paid for the lowers and related assets was approximately $63.6 million in

cash

Pursuant to the terms of the Indenture on or prior to November 26 2010 we received conversion notices

from holders of an aggregate of $30.3 million in principal of our 0.375% Notes Pursuant to Section 10.02 of the

Indenture these notes were converted at price cf $1152.78 per $1000 of principal or an aggregate of $34.9

million Concurrently with the settlement of our conversion obligation we settled two convertible note hedge

transactions that we had initially purchased at the time the 0.375% Notes were issued In connection with the

settlement of these options we received an aggregate of $13.1 million including $8.5 million attributable to

portion held by our wholly-owned subsidiary The remaining $120000 aggregate principal amount of 0.375%

Notes that was not earlier converted or repurchased matured on December 2010 On December 2010 we

satisfied our obligation on the notes held to maturity by paying $120000 in cash plus accrued interest
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On April 16 2010 we used the proceeds from the issuance of our 2010 Tower Securities to repay the

remaining principal balance of $938.6 million of the 2006 CMBS Certificates and to pay $38.5 million for related

prepayment consideration plus accrued interest and fees During the year-to-date period ended December 31
2010 but prior to the payoff of the principal balance we repurchased an aggregate of $2.0 million in principal

amount of 2006 CMBS Certificates for $2.1 million in cash

The Board of Directors authorized stock repurchase program effective November 2009 This program
authorizes us to purchase from time to time up to $250.0 million of our outstanding Class common stock

through open market repurchases in compliance with Rule Ob- 18 of the Securities Act of 1933 as amended
andor in privately negotiated transactions at managements discretion based on market and business conditions

applicable legal requirements and other factors This program will continue until otherwise modified or

terminated by our Board of Directors at any time in our sole discretion During the year ended December 31

2010 we repurchased and retired approximately 3174385 shares for an aggregate of $107.4 million including

commissions and fees As of December 31 2010 we had remaining authorization to repurchase an additional

$140.9 million of our common stock under our current $250.0 million stock repurchase program

In order to manage our leverage and liquidity positions take advantage of market opportunities and ensure

continued compliance with our financial covenants we may decide to pursue variety of other financial

transactions These transactions may include the issuance of additional indebtedness the repurchase of our

outstanding indebtedness for cash or equity selling certain assets or lines of business issuing common stock or

securities convertible into shares of common stock or pursuing other financing alternatives including

securitization transactions If either our debt repurchases or exchanges or any of the other financial transactions

are implemented these actions could materially impact the amount and composition of indebtedness outstanding

increase our interest expense andlor dilute our existing shareholders We cannot assure you that we will not

implement any of these strategies or that if implemented these strategies could be implemented on terms

favorable to us and our shareholders

During 2011 we expect to incur non-discretionary cash capital expenditures associated with tower

maintenance and general corporate expenditures of $10.0 million to $14.0 million and discretionary cash capital

expenditures based on current obligations of $230.0 million to $250.0 million primarily associated with the

towers we intend to build in 2011 tower acquisitions closed or currently under contract tower augmentations and

ground lease purchases We may spend additional capital in 2011 on acquiring revenue producing or expense

reducing assets not yet identified and under contract or possibly stock repurchases

We estimate we will incur less than $1000 per tower per year for non-discretionary maintenance capital

improvements related to our towers We expect to fund cash capital expenditures from cash on hand cash flow

from operations and borrowings under the 2010 Credit Facility The exact amount of our future capital

expenditures will depend on number of factors including amounts necessary to support our tower portfolio our

new tower build and tower acquisition programs and our ground lease purchase program

Debt Instruments and Debt Service Requirements

As of December 31 2010 we believe that our cash on hand and cash flows from operations will be sufficient

to service our outstanding debt during the next twelve months
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Commercial Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates Series 2006-1

On November 2006 New York common law trust the Trust formed by our indirect subsidiary issued

in private transaction $1.15 billion of Commercial Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates Series 2006-1 the

2006 CMBS Certificates

The 2006 CMBS Certificates consisted of nine subclasses with annual pass-through interest rates ranging

from 5.314% to 7.825% The weighted average annual fixed interest rate of the 2006 CMBS Certificates was

5.9% payable monthly and the effective weighted average annual fixed interest rate was 6.2% after giving effect

to the settlement of the nine interest rate swap agreements entered into in contemplation of the transaction

On April 16 2010 we paid off the remaining outstanding balance of $938.6 million on the 2006 CMBS

Certificates and paid $38.5 million in related prepayment consideration plus accrued interest and fees

Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2010

The 2010-1 Tower Securities have an annual interest rate of 4.254% and the 2010-2 Tower Securities have an

annual interest rate of 5.101% The weighted average annual fixed coupon interest rate of the 2010 Tower

Securities is 4.6% payable monthly The anticipated repayment date and the final maturity date for the 20 101

Tower Securities is April 16 2015 and April 16 2040 respectively The anticipated repayment date and the final

maturity date for the 20102 Tower Securities is April 16 2017 and April 16 2042 respectively Net proceeds

from the 2010 Tower Securities were used to repay in full the outstanding 2006 CMBS Certificates in the amount

of $938.6 million and pay the related prepayment consideration plus accrued interest and fees The remaining net

proceeds were used for general corporate purposes

The sole asset of the Trust consists of non-recourse mortgage loan made in favor of the Borrowers The

Borrowers are special purpose vehicles which exist solely to hold the towers which are subject to the

securitization In connection with the issuance of the 2010 Tower Securities and the repayment of the 2006

CMBS Certificates the mortgage loan components relating to the 2006 CMBS Certificates were repaid and the

mortgage loan was amended to create two new loan components each with terms that are identical to the series of

2010 Tower Securities to which it relates The Borrowers are jointly and severally liable for all obligations under

the mortgage loan

The mortgage loan underlying the 2010 Tower Securities will be paid from the operating cash flows from the

aggregate 3683 tower sites owned by the Borrowers The mortgage loan is secured by mortgages deeds of

trust and deeds to secure debt on substantial portion of the tower sites ii security interest in substantially all

of the Borrowers personal property and fixtures iii the Borrowers rights under certain tenant leases and iv
all of the proceeds of the foregoing For each calendar month SBA Network Management Inc our indirect

subsidiary is entitled to receive management fee equal to 7.5% of the Borrowers operating revenues for the

immediately preceding calendar month

The Borrowers may prepay either of the mortgage loan components in whole or in part with no prepayment

consideration within nine months of the anticipated repayment date of such mortgage loan component

iiwith proceeds received as result of any condemnation or casualty of any tower site owned by the Borrowers

or iii during an amortization period In all other circumstances the Borrowers may prepay the mortgage loan in

whole or in part upon payment of the applicable prepayment consideration The prepayment consideration is

determined based on the class of 2010 Tower Securities to which the prepaid mortgage loan component

corresponds and consists of an amount equal to the excess if any of the present value associated with the

portion of the principal balance being prepaid calculated in accordance with the formula set forth in the mortgage

loan agreement on the date of prepayment of all future installments of principal and interest required to be paid
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from the date of prepayment to and including the first due date that is nine months prior to the anticipated

repayment date over that portion of the principal balance of such class prepaid on the date of such prepayment

To the extent that the mortgage loan components corresponding to the 2010 Tower Securities are not fully

repaid by their respective anticipated repayment dates the interest rate of each such component will increase by
the greater of 5% and ii the amount if any by which the sum of the ten-year U.S treasury rate plus

the credit-based spread for such component as set forth in the mortgage loan agreement plus 5% exceeds the

original interest rate for such component

Pursuant to the terms of the 2010 Tower Securities all rents and other sums due on any of the tower sites

owned by the Borrowers are directly deposited by the lessees into controlled deposit account and are held by the

indenture trustee The monies held by the indenture trustee after the release date are classified as restricted cash

on our Consolidated Balance Sheets However if the Debt Service Coverage Ratio defined as the net cash flow

as defined in the mortgage loan agreement divided by the amount of interest on the mortgage loan servicing

fees and trustee fees that the Borrowers are required to pay over the succeeding twelve months as of the end of

any calendar quarter falls to .30x or lower then all cash flow in excess of amounts required to make debt service

payments to fund required reserves to pay management fees and budgeted operating expenses and to make other

payments required under the loan documents referred to as excess cash flow will be deposited into reserve

account instead of being released to the Borrowers The funds in the reserve account will not be released to the

Borrowers unless the Debt Service Coverage Ratio exceeds .30x for two consecutive calendar quarters If the

Debt Service Coverage Ratio falls below 1.1 5x as of the end of any calendar quarter then an amortization

period will commence and all funds on deposit in the reserve account will be applied to prepay the mortgage

loan until such time that the Debt Service Coverage Ratio exceeds 1.1 5x for calendar quarter The mortgage
loan agreement as amended also includes covenants customary for mortgage loans subject to rated

securitizations Among other things the Borrowers are prohibited from incurring other indebtedness for borrowed

money or further encumbering their assets As of December 31 2010 the Borrowers met the required Debt
Service Coverage Ratio Based on the amounts outstanding at December 31 2010 debt service for the next

twelve months on the 2010 Tower Securities would be $57.0 million

Convertible Senior Notes

0.3 75% Convertible Senior Notes On March 26 2007 we issued $350.0 million of our 0.375% Convertible

Senior Notes the 0.375% Notes Interest was payable semi-annually on June and December The 0.375%
Notes had maturity date of December 2010 The 0.375% Notes were convertible at the holders option at

any time between October 12 2010 and November 26 2010 into shares of our Class common stock at an

initial conversion rate of 29.7992 shares of Class common stock per $1000 principal amount of 0.375% Notes

subject to certain customary adjustments which was equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately

$33.56 per share Pursuant to the terms of the Indenture upon conversion we had the right to settle our

conversion obligation in cash shares of Class common stock or combination of cash and shares of our Class

common stock On October 2010 we provided notice to the trustee and holders of our 0.375% Notes that we
had elected to settle 100% of our conversion obligation relating to the 0.3 75% Notes in cash During the fourth

quarter of 2010 we converted or repaid at maturity all outstanding 0.3 75% Notes

1.8 75% Convertible Senior Notes On May 16 2008 we issued $550.0 million of our 1.875% Notes Interest

is payable semi-annually on May and November The maturity date of the 1.875% Notes is May 2013 The
1.875% Notes are convertible at the holders option into shares of our Class common stock at an initial

conversion rate of 24.1196 shares of Class common stock per $1000 principal amount of 1.875% Notes

subject to certain customary adjustments which is equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately

$41.46 per share or 20% conversion premium based on the last reported sale price of $34.55 per share of Class

common stock on the Nasdaq Global Select Market on May 12 2008 the purchase agreement date
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Concurrently with the pricing of the 1.875% Notes we entered into convertible note hedge transactions

covering 13265780 shares of our Class common stock at an initial price of $41.46 per share the same as the

initial conversion price of the 1.875% Notes Separately and concurrently with the pricing of the 1.875% Notes

we entered into warrant transactions whereby we sold warrants to each of the hedge counterparties to acquire

13265780 shares of our Class common stock at an initial exercise price of $67.37 per share The convertible

note hedge transactions and the warrant transactions taken as whole effectively increase the conversion price of

the 1.875% Notes from $41.46 per share to $67.37 per share As we cannot determine when or whether the

1.875% Notes will be converted the convertible note hedge transactions and the warrant transactions taken as

whole minimize the dilution risk associated with early conversion of the 1.875% Notes until such time that our

Class common stock is trading at price above $67.37 per share the upper strike of the warrants

One of the convertible note hedge transactions entered into in connection with the 1.875% Notes was with

Lehman Brothers OTC Derivatives Inc Lehman Derivatives The convertible note hedge transaction with

Lehman Derivatives covers 55% of the 13265780 shares of our Class common stock potentially issuable upon

conversion of the 1.875% Notes In October 2008 Lehman Derivatives filed voluntary petition for protection

under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code The filing by Lehman Derivatives of voluntary Chapter

11 bankruptcy petition constituted an event of default under the convertible note hedge transaction with

Lehman Derivatives As result on November 2008 we terminated the convertible note hedge transaction with

Lehman Derivatives Based on information available to us we have no indication as of the date of filing this

Form 10-K that any party other than Lehman Derivatives would be unable to fulfill their obligations to us under

the convertible note hedge transactions

The net cost of the convertible note hedge transaction with Lehman Derivatives was recorded as an

adjustment to Additional Paid in Capital and therefore the termination of the convertible note hedge did not have

any impact on our consolidated balance sheet However we could incur significant costs to replace this hedge

transaction if we elect to do so If we do not elect to replace the convertible note hedge transaction then we will

be subject to potential dilution upon conversion of the 1.875% Notes if on the date of conversion the per share

market price of our Class common stock exceeds the conversion price of $41.46

At December 31 2010 we had $550.0 million outstanding of 1.875% Notes Based on the amounts

outstanding at December 31 2010 debt service for the next twelve months on the 1.875% Notes will be

approximately $10.3 million

4.0% Convertible Senior Notes On April 24 2009 we issued $500.0 million of our 4.0% Notes in private

placement transaction Interest on the 4.0% Notes is payable semi-annually on April and October The

maturity date of the 4.0% Notes is October 2014 The 4.0% Notes are convertible at the holders option into

shares of our Class common stock at an initial conversion rate of 32.9164 shares of our Class common stock

per $1000 principal amount of 4.0% Notes subject to certain customary adjustments which is equivalent to an

initial conversion price of approximately $30.38 per share or 22.5% conversion premium based on the last

reported sale price of $24.80 per share of our Class common stock on the Nasdaq Global Select Market on

April 20 2009 the purchase agreement date

Concurrently with the pricing of the 4.0% Notes we entered into convertible note hedge transactions

whereby we purchased from affiliates of the initial purchasers of the 4.0% Notes an option covering 16458196

shares of our Class common stock at an initial price of $30.38 per share the same as the initial conversion price

of the notes Separately and concurrently with the pricing of the 4.0% Notes we entered into warrant transactions

whereby we sold to affiliates of the initial purchasers of the 4.0% Notes warrants to acquire 16458196 shares of

our Class common stock at an initial exercise price of $44.64 per share We used approximately $61.6 million

of the net proceeds from the 4.0% Notes offering plus the proceeds from the warrant transactions to fund the cost

of the convertible note hedge transactions The convertible note hedge transactions and the warrant transactions

taken as whole effectively increase the conversion price of the 4.0% Notes from $30.38 per share to $44.64 per
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share reflecting premium of 80% based on the closing stock price of $24.80 per share of our Class common

stock on April 20 2009 If the market price of our Class common stock exceeded the upper strike price of

$44.64 per share on the conversion date of the 4.0% Notes then we will be subject to dilution or cost upon
conversion of the 4.0% Notes The remaining net proceeds of $376.6 million were used for general corporate

purposes including repurchases or repayments of our outstanding debt

As of December 31 2010 we had outstanding $500.0 million of our 4.0% Notes Based on the amounts

outstanding at December 31 2010 debt service for the next twelve months on the 4.0% Notes would be

approximately $20.0 million

Convertible Senior Notes conversion options The 1.875% Notes and 4.0% Notes collectively the Notes
are convertible only under the following circumstances

during any calendar quarter if the last reported sale price of our Class common stock for at least 20

trading days in the 30 consecutive trading day period ending on the last trading day of the preceding

calendar quarter is more than 130% of the applicable conversion price per share of Class common stock

on the last day of such preceding calendar quarter

during the five business day period after any ten consecutive trading day period in which the trading price

per $1000 principal amount of the Notes for each day in the measurement period was less than 95% of

the product of the last reported sale price of Class common stock and the applicable conversion rate

if specified distributions to holders of Class common stock are made or specified corporate transactions

occur and

at any time on or after February 19 2013 for the 1.875% Notes and July 22 2014 for the 4.0% Notes

Upon conversion we have the right to settle our conversion obligation in cash shares of Class common
stock or combination of cash and shares of our Class common stock From time to time upon notice to the

holders of the Notes we may change our election regarding the form of consideration that we will use to settle our

conversion obligation provided however that we are not permitted to change our settlement election after

February 18 2013 for the 1.875% Notes and July 21 2014 for the 4.0% Notes

Senior Notes

On July 24 2009 Telecommunications issued $750.0 million of unsecured senior notes the Senior Notes
$375.0 million of which are due August 15 2016 the 2016 Notes and $375.0 million of which are due August

15 2019 the 2019 Notes At December 31 2010 we had $375.0 million of 2016 Notes outstanding which

were recorded at carrying value of $372.9 million and $375.0 million of 2019 Notes outstanding which were

recorded at carrying value of $372.1 million

The 2016 Notes have an interest rate of 8.00% and were issued at price of 99.330% of their face value The

2019 Notes have an interest rate of 8.25% and were issued at price of 99.152% of their face value Interest on

the 2016 Notes and 2019 Notes is due semi-annually on February 15 and August 15 of each year beginning on

February 15 2010 Based on the amounts outstanding at December 31 2010 debt service for the next twelve

months on the 2016 Senior Notes and the 2019 Senior Notes would be $30.0 million and $30.9 million

respectively The 2016 Notes and the 2019 Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by SBA
Communications
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The 2016 Notes and the 2019 Notes are subject to redemption in whole or in part on or after August 15 2012

and on or after August 15 2014 respectively at the redemption prices set forth in the indenture agreement plus

accrued and unpaid interest Prior to August 15 2012 for the 2016 Notes and August 15 2014 for the 2019 Notes

we may at our option redeem all or portion of the 2016 Notes or 2019 Notes at redemption price equal to

100% of the principal amount thereof plus make whole premium plus accrued and unpaid interest In addition

we may redeem up to 35% of the originally issued aggregate principal amount of each of the 2016 Notes and

2019 Notes with the net proceeds of certain equity offerings at redemption price of 108.00% and 108.25%

respectively of the principal amount of the redeemed notes plus accrued and unpaid interest

The Indenture governing the Senior Notes contains customary covenants subject to number of exceptions

and qualifications including restrictions on Telecommunications ability to incur additional indebtedness

unless its Consolidated Indebtedness to Annualized Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA Ratio as defined in the

Indenture pro forma for the additional indebtedness does not exceed 7.Ox for the fiscal quarter merge
consolidate or sell assets make restricted payments including dividends or other distributions enter into

transactions with affiliates and enter into sale and leaseback transactions and restrictions on the ability of

Telecommunications Restricted Subsidiaries as defined in the Indenture to incur liens securing indebtedness

On May 19 2010 SBA Communications and Telecommunications filed registration statement on Form

with the Commission pursuant to which Telecommunications offered to exchange all of its outstanding

unregistered $375.0 million 8.00% Senior Notes due 2016 for registered $375.0 million 8.00% Senior Notes due

2016 and exchange all of its outstanding unregistered $375.0 million 8.25% Senior Notes due 2019 for

registered $375.0 million 8.25% Senior Notes due 2019 On July 15 2010 the exchange offer was consummated

2010 Credit Facility

The 2010 Credit Facility consists of revolving loan up to $500.0 million based on SBA Senior Finance IIs

ratio of Annualized Adjusted EBITDA to Consolidated Total Debt plus Net Hedge Exposure may be borrowed

repaid and redrawn subject to compliance with specific financial ratios and the satisfaction of other customary

conditions to borrowing as set forth in the Credit Agreement Amounts borrowed under the 2010 Credit Facility

accrue interest at the Eurodollar rate plus margin that ranges from 187.5 basis points to 237.5 basis points or at

Base Rate as defined in the Credit Agreement plus margin that ranges from 87.5 basis points to 137.5 basis

points in each case based on the ratio of Consolidated Total Debt to Annualized Borrower EBITDA as defined

in the Credit Agreement 0.375% to 0.5% per annum fee is charged on the amount of unused commitment

Unless terminated earlier the 2010 Credit Facility will terminate on and SBA Senior Finance II will repay all

amounts outstanding on or before February 11 2015 Proceeds available under the 2010 Credit Facility may be

used for general corporate purposes As of December 31 2010 we had $20.0 million outstanding under the 2010

Credit Facility and the weighted average interest rate for the amounts borrowed was 2.15% As of December 31

2010 the availability under the 2010 Credit Facility was $480.0 million We may from time to time borrow from

and repay the 2010 Credit Facility Consequently the amount outstanding under the 2010 Credit Facility at the

end of period may not be reflective of the total amounts outstanding during the period Based on the amounts

outstanding under the 2010 Credit Facility at December 31 2010 debt service for the next twelve months will be

approximately $0.4 million for the amounts borrowed and $1.8 million for the unused commitment

The Credit Agreement requires SBA Senior Finance II and SBA Communications to maintain specific

financial ratios including at the SBA Senior Finance II level ratio of Consolidated Total Debt to Annualized

Borrower EBITDA as defined in the Credit Agreement that does not exceed 5.Ox for any fiscal quarter ratio of

Consolidated Total Debt and Net Hedge Exposure as defined in the Credit Agreement to Annualized Borrower

EBITDA for the most recently ended fiscal quarter not to exceed 5.Ox for 30 consecutive days and ratio of

Annualized Borrower EBITDA to Annualized Cash Interest Expense as defined in the Credit Agreement of not

less than 2.Ox for any fiscal quarter In addition our ratio of Consolidated Total Net Debt to Consolidated

Adjusted EBITDA as defined in the Credit Agreement for any fiscal quarter on an annualized basis cannot
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exceed 8.9x The Credit Agreement also contains customary affirmative and negative covenants that among other

things limit SBA Senior Finance IIs ability to incur indebtedness grant certain liens make certain investments

enter into sale leaseback transactions or engage in certain asset dispositions including sale of all or substantially

all of our assets As of December 31 2010 SBA Senior Finance II and SBA Communications were in full

compliance with the financial covenants contained in the 2010 Credit Facility

The 2010 Credit Facility also permits us to request that one or more lenders increase their proportionate

share of the 2010 Credit Facility commitment up to an additional $200.0 million in the aggregate and provide

SBA Senior Finance II term loans for an aggregate amount up to $800.0 million without requesting consent of

the other lenders SBA Senior Finance IFs ability to request such increase of the 2010 Credit Facility or term

loans is subject to its compliance with the conditions set forth in the Credit Agreement including with respect to

any term loan compliance on pro forma basis with the financial covenants and ratios set forth therein Upon
SBA Senior Finance IIs request each lender may decide in its sole discretion whether to increase all or portion

of its revolving credit facility commitment or whether to provide SBA Senior Finance II term loans and if so upon
what terms

Senior Credit Facility

On January 18 2008 SBA Senior Finance our indirect wholly-owned subsidiary entered into Senior Credit

Facility the Senior Credit Facility with several banks and other financial institutions or entities from time to

time parties to the credit agreement

Amounts borrowed under the facility accrued interest at the Eurodollar rate plus margin that ranged from

150.0 basis points to 300.0 basis points or at Base Rate as defined in the Restated Credit Agreement plus

margin that ranged from 50.0 basis points to 200.0 basis points in each case based on the Consolidated Total

Debt to Annualized Borrower EBITDA ratio as defined in the Restated Credit Agreement 0.5% per annum

fee was charged on the amount of unused commitment

On February 11 2010 we terminated our $320.0 million Senior Credit Facility We had no borrowings under

the Senior Credit Facility at the time of its termination No early termination penalties were incurred by us as

result of the termination

Inflation

The impact of inflation on our operations has not been significant to date However we cannot assure you that

high rate of inflation in the future will not adversely affect our operating results particularly in light of the fact

that our site leasing revenues are governed by long-term contracts with pre-determined pricing that we will not be

able to increase in response to increases in inflation

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

For description of accounting changes and recent accounting pronouncements including the expected dates

of adoption and estimated effects if any on our Consolidated Financial Statements see Note Current

Accounting Pronouncements in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements of this Form 10-K
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Commitments and Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our scheduled contractual commitments as of December 31 2010

Contractual Obligations 2011 2012 _2013 2014 2015 Thereafter Total

in thousands

Long-term debt 550000 500000 700000 1300000 3050000

Interest payments 150462 150462 143615 135371 97771 167637 845318

Operating leases 63369 63176 62526 62961 62696 1110591 1425319

Capital leases 646 425 319 173 1570

Employment agreements 1470 932 2402

215947 214995 756460 698505 860474 2578228 5324609

Represents interest payments based on the 2010 Tower Securities with weighted average coupon fixed interest rate of 4.6% the 2010 Credit

Facility weighted average interest rate of 2.15% the Convertible Senior Notes interest rate of 1.875% and 4.0% and the Senior Notes interest

rate of 8.0% and 8.25%

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We are not involved in any off-balance sheet arrangements

ITEM 7A QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to certain market risks that are inherent in our financial instruments These instruments arise

from transactions entered into in the normal course of business

The following table presents the future principal payment obligations and fair values associated with our

long-term debt instruments assuming our actual level of long-term indebtedness as of December 31 2010

Fair

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Thereafter Total Value

in thousands

Debt

1.875% Convertible Senior Notes due 2013 550000 550000 617375

4.0% Convertible Senior Notes due 2014 500000 500000 744375

8.0% Senior Notes due 2016 375000 375000 405938

8.25% Senior Notes due 2019 375000 375000 409688

4.254% 2010-1 Tower Securities 680000 680000 691900

5.101% 2010-2 Tower Securities 550000 550000 556875

2010 Credit Facility
20000 20000 20000

The anticipated repayment date and the final maturity date for the 20101 Tower Securities is April 16 2015 and April 162040 respectively

The anticipated repayment date and the final maturity date for the 20102 Tower Securities is April 16 2017 and April 16 2042 respectively

Our current primary market risk exposure is interest rate risk relating to our ability to meet financial

covenants and the impact of interest rate movements on any borrowings that we may incur under our 2010

Credit Facility which are at floating rates We manage the interest rate risk on our outstanding debt through our

large percentage of fixed rate debt While we cannot predict our ability to refinance existing debt or the impact

interest rate movements will have on our existing debt we continue to evaluate our financial position on an

ongoing basis In addition in connection with our convertible notes we are subject to market risk associated with

the market price of our common stock
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Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This annual report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities

Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 These statements concern expectations

beliefs projections plans and strategies anticipated events or trends and similar expressions concerning matters

that are not historical facts Specifically this annual report contains forward-looking statements regarding

our expectations on the future growth and financial health of the wireless industry and the

industry participants and the drivers of such growth

our beliefs regarding our ability to capture and capitalize on industry growth and the impact of

such growth on our financial and operational results

our expectations regarding the opportunities in the international wireless markets in which we

currently operate or have targeted for growth and our beliefs regarding how we can capitalize on

such opportunities

our belief that our site leasing business is characterized by stable and long-term recurring

revenues predictable operating costs and minimal non-discretionary capital expenditures

our belief that our towers have significant capacity to accommodate additional tenants that our

tower operations are highly scalable that we can add tenants to our towers at minimal

incremental costs and the impact of these economies of scale on our cash flow and financial

results

our intent to grow our tower portfolio domestically and internationally by 5% to 10% in 2011

which would include building at least 390 to 410 new towers domestically and internationally

our expectations that there will be towers available for acquisition that meet our investment

criteria and are available at prices which we believe will be accretive to our shareholders and

allow us to maintain our long-term target leverage ratios

our estimates of the impact of our ground lease purchase program on our financial results

our expectation that we will continue to incur losses

our expectations regarding our future cash capital expenditures both discretionary and non-

discretionary including expenditures required to maintain improve and modify our towers and

general corporate expenditures

our estimates regarding our liquidity position in 2011 and our intended use of such liquidity

our expectations regarding the effectiveness of our convertible note hedge transactions to

minimize the dilution and costs associated with our outstanding convertible notes and

our estimates regarding certain accounting and tax matters

These forward-looking statements reflect our current views about future events and are subject to risks

uncertainties and assumptions We wish to caution readers that certain important factors may have affected and

could in the future affect our actual results and could cause actual results to differ significantly from those
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expressed in any forward-looking statement The most important factors that could prevent us from achieving our

goals and cause the assumptions underlying forward-looking statements and the actual results to differ materially

from those expressed in or implied by those forward-looking statements include but are not limited to the

following

developments in the wireless communications industry in general and for wireless

communications infrastructure providers in particular that may slow growth or affect the

willingness or ability of the wireless service providers to expend capital to fund network

expansion or enhancements

the impact of recent consolidation among wireless service providers on our leasing revenue

our ability to secure as many site leasing tenants as anticipated and our ability to retain current

leases on towers

our ability to recognize our expected economies of scale with respect to new tenants on our

towers and new towers in our portfolio and additional expenses or capital expenditures that we

may be required to incur to capture the additional revenue

factors that would adversely impact our ability to build the anticipated number of new towers

including our ability to identify arid acquire land that would be attractive for our clients and to

successfully and timely address zoning permitting and other issues that arise in connection with

the building of new towers

competition for the acquisition of towers and other factors that may adversely affect our ability to

purchase towers that meet our investment criteria and are available at prices which we believe

will be accretive to our shareholders and allow us to maintain our long-term target leverage

ratios

our ability to successfully manage the risks associated with international operations including

foreign exchange risk currency restrictions and foreign regulatory and legal risks

our intent and ability to continue our ground lease purchase program and the effect of such

ground lease purchases on our margins and long-term financial condition

our ability to secure and deliver anticipated services business at contemplated margins

our ability to continue to comply with covenants and the terms of our credit instruments

our ability to sufficiently increase our revenues and maintain expenses and cash capital

expenditures at appropriate levels to permit us to meet our anticipated uses of liquidity for

operations debt service and estimated portfolio growth

our ability to successfully estimate the impact of certain accounting and tax matters including the

effect on our company of adopting certain accounting pronouncements and the availability of

sufficient net operating losses to offset future taxable income and

natural disasters and other unforeseen damage for which our insurance may not provide

adequate coverage
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ITEM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Financial statements and supplementary data are on pages F-i through F-47

ITEM CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None

ITEM 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to

ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as

amended the Exchange Act is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time periods

specified in the SECs rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to

management including our Chief Executive Officer CEO and Chief Financial Officer CFO as

appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure In designing and evaluating the disclosure

controls and procedures management recognized that any controls and procedures no matter how well designed

and operated can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives as ours are

designed to do and management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit

relationship of possible controls and procedures

In connection with the preparation of this Annual Report on Form 10-K as of December 31 2010 an

evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the participation of our management including the CEO
and CFO of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rule 3a- 15e under the

Exchange Act Based on such evaluation our CEO and CFO concluded that as of December 31 2010 our

disclosure controls and procedures were effective

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December

31 2010 that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial

reporting

Managements Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting -Management is responsible

for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting and for performing an

assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2010 Internal

control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of

financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles Our system of internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and

procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the

transactions and dispositions of the assets of SBA iiprovide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded

as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles and that receipts and expenditures of SBA are being made only in accordance with authorizations of

management and directors of SBA and iii provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely

detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of SBAs assets that could have material effect on the

financial statements

Management performed an assessment of the effectiveness of SBAs internal control over financial reporting

as of December 31 2010 based upon criteria in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO Based on our assessment

management determined that SBA internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31
2010 based on the criteria in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by COSO
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Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the

policies or procedures may deteriorate

Ernst Young LLP the independent registered certified public accounting firm that audited the financial

statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K has issued an attestation report on SBAs internal

control over financial reporting
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Report of Independent Registered Certified Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of SBA Communications Corporation and Subsidiaries

We have audited SBA Communications Corporation and Subsidiaries internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31 2010 based on criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission the COSO criteria SBA Communications Corporation and

Subsidiaries management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its

assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Managements
Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the companys
internal control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective

internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our audit included obtaining an

understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists testing and

evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk and performing such other

procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We believe that our audit provides reasonable basis for our

opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures

that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and

dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to

permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and

expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the

company and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or

disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also

projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate

because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion SBA Communications Corporation and Subsidiaries maintained in all material respects effective internal

control over financial reporting as of December 31 2010 based on the COSO criteria

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States

the consolidated balance sheets of SBA Communications Corporation and Subsidiaries as of December 31 2010 and 2009
and the related consolidated statements of operations shareholders equity and cash flows for each of the three

years
in the

period ended December 31 2010 of SBA Communications Corporation and Subsidiaries and our report dated February 25
2011 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

Is Ernst Young LLP

Boca Raton Florida

February 25 2011
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Item 9B Other Information

None

PART III

ITEM 10 DIRECTORS EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERANCE

We have adopted Code of Ethics that applies to our Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer and

Chief Accounting Officer The Code of Ethics is located on our internet web site at www.sbasite.com under

Investor Relations-Corporate Governance Other Documents We intend to provide disclosure of any

amendments or waivers of our Code of Ethics on our website within four business days following the date of the

amendment or waiver

The remaining items required by Part III Item 10 are incorporated herein by reference from the Registrants

Proxy Statement for its 2011 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed on or before April 30 2011

ITEM 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The items required by Part III Item 11 are incorporated herein by reference from the Registrants Proxy

Statement for its 2011 Aimual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed on or before April 30 2011

ITEM 12 SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The Equity Compensation Plan Information table required by Item 201d of Regulation S-K and the

remaining items required by Part III Item 12 are incorporated herein by reference from the Registrants Proxy

Statement for its 2011 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed on or before April 30 2011

ITEM 13 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

The items required by Part III Item 13 are incorporated herein by reference from the Registrants Proxy

Statement for its 2011 Aimual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed on or before April 30 2011

ITEM 14 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The items required by Part III Item 14 are incorporated herein by reference from the Registrants Proxy

Statement for its 2011 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed on or before April 30 2011

PART IV

ITEM 15 EXHIBITS FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Documents filed as part of this report

Financial Statements

See Item for Financial Statements included with this Annual Report on Form 10-K
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Financial Statement Schedules

None

Exhibits

Exhibit No
Description

of Exhibits

3.4 Fourth Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation as Amended of SBA Communications Corporation 26

3.5A Amended and Restated Bylaws of SBA Communications Corporation effective as of July 30 2009 22

4.6 Rights Agreement dated as of January 112002 between SBA Communications Corporation and the Rights Agent

4.6A First Amendment to Rights Agreement dated as of March 17 2006 between SBA Communications Corporation and Computershare Trust

Company N.A

4.11 Indenture dated March 26 2007 between SBA Communications Corporation and U.S Bank National Association

4.12 Form of 0.3 75% Convertible Senior Notes due 2010 included in Exhibit 4.11

4.13 Indenture dated May 16 2008 between SBA Communications Corporation and U.S Bank National Association 13

4.14 Form of 1.875% Convertible Senior Notes due 2013 included in Exhibit 4.13 13

4.15 Indenture dated April24 2009 between SBA Communications Corporation and U.S Bank National Association 20

4.16 Form of 4.0% Convertible Senior Note due 2014 included in Exhibit 4.15 20

4.17 Indenture dated July 24 2009 between SBA Communications Corporation and U.S Bank National Association 23

4.18 Form of 8.000% Senior Notes due 2016 included in Exhibit 4.17 23

4.19 Form of 8.250% Senior Notes due 2019 included in Exhibit 4.17 23

10.1 SBA Communications Corporation Registration Rights Agreement dated as of March 1997 among the Company Steven Bemstein Ronald

Bizick II and Robert Grobstein

10.24 1999 Equity Participation Plan

10.25 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

10.33 2001 Equity Participation Plan as Amended and Restated on May 16 2002

l0.35C Amended and Restated Employment Agreement made and entered into as of January 12008 between SBA Communications Corporation and

Jeffrey Stoops 12
l0.35D Amendment No to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement made and entered into as of September 18 2008 between SBA

Communications Corporation and Jeffrey Stoops 15
10.49 Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement dated as of November 18 2005 by and between SBA Properties Inc and the Additional

Borrower or Borrowers that may become party thereto and SBA CMBS Depositor LLC

10.50 Management Agreement dated as of November 18 2005 by and among SBA Properties Inc SBA Network Management Inc and SBA Senior

Finance Inc

lO.57B Amended and Restated Employment Agreement made and entered into as of January 2010 between SBA Communications Corporation and

Kurt Bagwell 24
l0.58B Amended and Restated Employment Agreement made and entered into as of January 12010 between SBA Communications Corporation and

Thomas Hunt 24
10.60 Joinder and Amendment to Management Agreement dated November 2006 by and among SBA Properties Inc SBA Towers Inc SBA

Puerto Rico Inc SBA Sites Inc SBA Towers USVI Inc and SBA Structures Inc and SBA Network Management Inc and SBA Senior

Finance Inc

10.61 Second Loan and Security Agreement Supplement and Amendment dated as of November 2006 by and among SBA Properties Inc and SBA

Towers Inc SBA Puerto Rico Inc SBA Sites Inc SBA Towers USVI Inc and SBA Structures Inc and Midland Loan Services Inc as

Servicer on behalf of LaSalle Bank National Association as Trustee

10.64 Form of Convertible Bond Hedge Transaction Agreement entered into by SBA Communications Corporation with Citibank N.A and Deutsche

Bank AG London Branch

10.65 Form of Issuer Warrant Transaction Letter Agreement entered into by SBA Communications Corporation with Citibank N.A and Deutsche Bank

AG London Branch

10.66 $285000000 Credit Agreement dated as of January 18 2008 among SBA Senior Finance Inc as borrower the several banks and other

financial institutions or entities from time to time parties to the credit agreement the Lenders Wachovia Bank National Association and

Lehman Commercial Paper Inc as co-syndication agents Citicorp North America Inc and JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A as co-documentation

agents and Toronto Dominion Texas LLC as administrative agent 10
l0.66A First Amendment dated as of July 18 2008 to the Credit Agreement dated as of January 18 2008 among SBA Senior Finance Inc as

Borrower the Several Lenders from time to time parties thereto Toronto Dominion Texas LLC As Administrative Agent and the other agents

parties thereto 15
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10.66B Second Amendment dated as of April 13 2009 to the Credit Agreement dated as of January 18 2008 as amended by the First Amendment

dated as of July 18 2008 among SBA Senior Finance Inc as Borrower the Several Lenders from time to time
parties thereto Toronto

Dominion Texas LLC As Administrative Agent and the other agents parties thereto 20
10.67 Guarantee and Collateral Agreement dated as of January 18 2008 by SBA Communications Corporation SBA Telecommunications Inc SBA

Senior Finance Inc and certain of its subsidiaries in favor of Toronto Dominion Texas LLC as administrative agent 10

10.68 New Lender Supplement effective March 62008 entered into between SBA Senior Finance Inc and The Royal Bank of Scotland Group plc

and accepted by Toronto Dominion Texas LLC as Administrative Agent and The Toronto-Dominion Bank as Issuing Lender 11

10.70 Registration Rights Agreement dated May 162008 among SBA Communications Corporation and Deutsche Bank Securities Inc Citigroup

Global Markets Inc and Lehman Brothers Inc as representatives of the several initial purchasers listed on Schedule of the Purchase

Agreement 13
10.71 Form of Convertible Bond Hedge Transaction Agreement entered into by SBA Communications Corporation with each of Lehman Brothers

OTC Derivatives Inc Citibank N.A Deutsche Bank AG London Branch and Wachovia Capital Markets LLC and Wachovia Bank National

Association 14
10.72 Form of Issuer Warrant Transaction Letter Agreement entered into by SBA Communications Corporation with each of Lehman Brothers OTC

Derivatives Inc Citibank N.A Deutsche Bank AG London Branch and Wachovia Capital Markets LLC and Wachovia Bank National

Association 14
10.75 SBA Communications Corporation 2008 Employee Stock Purchase Plan 16

10.76 Form of Indemnification Agreement dated January 15 2009 between SBA Communications Corporation and its directors and certain officers

17
10.77 New Lender Supplement effective April 14 2009 entered into between SBA Senior Finance Inc and Barclays Bank PLC and accepted by

Toronto Dominion Texas LLC as Administrative Agent and The Toronto-Dominion Bank as Issuing Lender 18

10.78 Purchase Agreement dated April 20 2009 among SBA Communications Corporation and Citigroup Global Markets Inc Barclays Capital Inc

Deutsche Bank Securities Inc J.P Morgan Securities Inc and Wachovia Capital Markets LLC as representatives of the several initial

purchasers listed on Schedule of the Purchase Agreement 19
10.79 Form of Convertible Bond Hedge Transaction Agreement entered into by SBA Communications Corporation with each of Citibank N.A

Barclays Bank PLC Deutsche Bank AG London Branch JP Morgan Chase Bank National Association and Wachovia Capital Markets LLC

20
10.80 Form of Issuer Warrant Transaction Letter Agreement entered into by SBA Communications Corporation with each of Citibank N.A Barclays

Bank PLC Deutsche Bank AG London Branch JP Morgan Chase Bank National Association and Wachovia Capital Markets LLC 20

10.81 Purchase Agreement dated July 21 2009 among SBA Communications Corporation SBA Telecommunications Inc and Barclays Capital Inc

Deutsche Bank Securities Inc and J.P Morgan Securities Inc as representatives of the several initial purchasers listed on Schedule

thereto.2

10.82 Registration Rights Agreement dated July 24 2009 among SBA Communications Corporation SBA Telecommunications Inc and Barclays

Capital Inc Deutsche Bank Securities Inc and J.P Morgan Securities Inc as representatives of the several initial purchasers listed on Schedule

of the Registration Rights Agreement 23
10.83 $320000000 Amendment and Restatement of the Credit Agreement dated July 24 2009 among SBA Senior Finance Inc the several banks

and other financial institutions or entities from time to time
parties thereto Toronto Dominion Texas LLC as Administrative Agent Wachovia

Bank National Association and Lehman Commercial Paper Inc as Co-Syndication Agents and Citicorp North America Inc and JPMorgan

Chase Bank N.A as Co-Documentation Agents 23
10.84 Amendment and Restatement of the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement dated July 28 2009 among SBA Communications Corporation SBA

Telecommunications Inc SBA Senior Finance Inc and certain of its subsidiaries in favor of Toronto Dominion Texas LLC as administrative

agent 23
10.85 Employment Agreement made and entered into as of October 28 2009 between SBA Communications Corporation and Brendan Cavanagh

24

10.86 $500000000 Credit Agreement dated as of February 11 2010 among SBA Senior Finance II LLC as borrower the several banks and other

financial institutions or entities from time to time parties thereto RBS Securities Inc as syndication agent Wells Fargo Bank National

Association as co-syndication agent Citibank N.A and JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A as co-documentation agents and Toronto Dominion

Texas LLC as administrative agent 24

10.87 Guarantee and Collateral Agreement dated as of February 112010 by SBA Communications Corporation SBA Telecommunications Inc

SBA Senior Finance Inc SBA Senior Finance II LLC and certain of its subsidiaries in favor of Toronto Dominion Texas LLC as

administrative agent 24
10.88 Purchase Agreement dated April 82010 among SBA Senior Finance Inc and the several initial purchasers listed on Schedule of the

Purchase Agreement 25
10.89 SBA Communications Corporation 2010 Performance and Equity Incentive Plan 27
10.90 Third Loan and Security Agreement Supplement and Amendment dated as of April 16 2010 by and among SBA Properties Inc SBA Sites

Inc and SBA Structures Inc as Borrowers and Midland Loan Services Inc as Servicer on behalf of Deutsche Bank Trust Company

Americas as Trustee 28
10.91 Fourth Loan and Security Agreement Supplement and Amendment dated as of April 16 2010 by and among SBA Properties Inc SBA Sites

Inc and SBA Structures Inc as Borrowers and Midland Loan Services Inc as Servicer on behalf of Deutsche Bank Trust Company

Americas as Trustee 28
21 Subsidiaries

23.1 Consent of Ernst Young LLP

31.1 Certification by Jeffrey Stoops Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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31.2 Certification by Brendan Cavanagh Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Certification by Jeffrey Stoops Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certification by Brendan Cavanagh Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101 INS XBRL Instance Document

101 .SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

1o1.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101 LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101 .PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement

Filed herewith

Furnished herewith

Incorporated by reference to the Registration Statement on Form S-I/A previously filed by the Registrant Registration No 333-76547

Incorporated by reference to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 previously filed by the Registrant Registration No 333-50219

Incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K dated January 11 2002 previously filed by the Registrant

Incorporated by reference to the Schedule 14A Preliminary Proxy Statement dated May 16 2002 previously filed by the Registrant

Incorporated by reference to the Form 10-K for the year ended December31 2005 previously filed by the Registrant

Incorporated by reference to the Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31 2006 previously filed by the Registrant

Incorporated by reference to the Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2006 previously filed by the Registrant

Incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K dated March 26 2007 previously filed by the Registrant

Incorporated by reference to the Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31 2007 previously filed by the Registrant

10 Incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K dated January 24 2008 previously filed by the Registrant

11 Incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K dated March 72008 previously filed by the Registrant

12 Incorporated by reference to the Form l0-Q for the quarter ended March 31 2008 previously filed by the Registrant

13 Incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K dated May 22 2008 previously filed by the Registrant

14 Incorporated by reference to the Form l0-Q for the quarter ended June 30 2008 previously filed by the Registrant

15 Incorporated by reference to the Form lO-Q for the quarter ended September 30 2008 previously filed by the Registrant

16 Incorporated by reference to the Form S-8 dated November 12 2008 previously filed by the Registrant

17 Incorporated by reference to the Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2008 previously filed by the Registrant

18 Incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K dated April 20 2009 previously filed by the Registrant

19 Incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K dated April24 2009 previously filed by the Registrant

20 Incorporated by reference to the Form l0-Q for the quarter ended March 31 2009 previously filed by the Registrant

21 Incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K dated July 24 2009 previously filed by the Registrant

22 Incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K dated July31 2009 previously filed by the Registrant

23 Incorporated by reference to the Form l0-Q for the quarter ended June 30 2009 previously filed by the Registrant

24 Incorporated by reference to the Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2009 previously filed by the Registrant

25 Incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K dated April 14 2010 previously filed by the Registrant

26 Incorporated by reference to the Form 8-4 dated May 19 2010 previously filed by the Registrant

27 Incorporated by reference to the Form 8-8 dated May 19 2010 previously filed by the Registrant

28 Incorporated by reference to the Form l0-Q for the quarter ended June 30 2010 previously filed by the Registrant
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the Registrant

has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION

By /s/ Jeffrey Stoops

Jeffrey Stoops

Chief Executive Officer and President

Date February 25 2011

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this
report has been signed below by the

following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Signature Title Date

Is Steven Bernstein Chairman of the Board of Directors February 25 2011

Steven Bernstein

Is/ Jeffrey Stooos Chief Executive Officer and President February 25 2011

Jeffrey Stoops Principal Executive Officer

Is Brendan Cavanagh Chief Financial Officer February 25 2011

Brendan Cavanagh Principal Financial Officer

Is Brian Lazarus Chief Accounting Officer February 25 2011

Brian Lazarus Principal Accounting Officer

/s/ Brian Carr Director February 25 2011

Brian Can

/s/ Duncan Cocroft Director February 25 2011

Duncan Cocrofi

/s/ George Krouse Jr Director February 25 2011

George Krouse Jr

/s/ Jack Langer Director February 25 2011

Jack Langer

/s/ Kevin Beebe Director February 25 2011

Kevin Beebe
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of SBA Communications Corporation and Subsidiaries

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of SBA Communications Corporation and Subsidiaries as of

December 31 2010 and 2009 and the related consolidated statements of operations shareholders equity and cash flows for each

of the three years in the period ended December 31 2010 These financial statements are the responsibility of the Companys

management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States

Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements

are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures

in the financial statements An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by

management as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable

basis for our opinion

In our opinion the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the consolidated financial position

of SBA Communications Corporation and Subsidiaries at December 31 2010 and 2009 and the consolidated results of their

operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2010 in conformity with U.S

generally accepted accounting principles

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States SBA

Communications Corporation and Subsidiaries internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2010 based on

criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the

Treadway Commission and our report dated February 25 2011 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

Is Ernst Young LLP

Boca Raton Florida

February 25 2011
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SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

in thousands except per share amounts

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Restricted cash

Short-term investments

Accounts receivable net of allowance of $263 and $350

at December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively

Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on

uncompleted contracts

Prepaid and other current assets

Property and equipment net

Intangible assets net

Deferred financing fees net

Other assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY
Current liabilities

Accounts payable

Accrued expenses

Current maturities of long-term debt

Deferred revenue

Accrued interest

Other current liabilities

Total current liabilities
_________________________

Long-term liabilities

Long-term debt 2460402

Other long-term liabilities
_________________________

94570

Total long-term liabilities
________________________

2554972

Commitments and contingencies

Redeemable noncontrolling interests

Shareholders equity

Preferred stock par value $.01 30000 shares authorized

no shares issued or outstanding

Conmion stock Class par value $01 400000 and 200000 shares

authorized 114832 and 117082 shares issued and outstanding

at December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively 1171

Additional paid-in capital 2228268

Accumulated deficit 1627602
Accumulated other comprehensive income loss net

__________________________ 2803
SBA Communications Corporation shareholders equity 599034

Noncontrolling interests
_________________________

915

Total shareholders equity __________ _________

Total liabilities and shareholders equity

ASSETS

Total current assets

December 31 2009

161317

30285

5352

19644

10392

9848

236838

1496938

1435591

37902

106377

3313646

9219

28110

28648

54013

35551

3184

158725

December 31 2010

64254

29456

4016

18784

17775

12442

146727

1534318

1500012

45110

174008

3400175

11847

21429

61138

32293

3877

130584

2827450

112008

2939458

13023

1148

2243457

1929670

2175

317110

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

317110

3400175

599949

3.313646
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SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

in thousands except per share amounts

For the year ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Revenues

Site leasing 535444 477007 395541

Site development 91175 78506 79413

Total revenues 626619 555513 474954

Operating expenses

Cost of revenues exclusive of depreciation

accretion and amortization shown below

Cost of site leasing 119141 111842 96175

Cost of site development 80301 68701 71990

Selling general and administrative 58209 52785 48721

Acquisition related expenses 10106 4810 120

Asset impairment 5862 3884 921

Depreciation accretion and amortization 278727 258537 211445

Total operating expenses 552346 500559 429372

Operating income 74273 54954 45582

Other income expense

Interest income 432 1123 6883

Interest expense 149921 130853 105328

Non-cash interest expense 60070 49897 33309

Amortization of deferred financing fees 9099 10456 10746

Loss gain from extinguishment of debt net 49060 5661 44269

Other income expense 29
__________

163 13478

Total other expense 267689 195581 111709

Loss before provision for income taxes 193416 140627 66127

Provision for income taxes 1005 492 1037

Net loss 194421 141119 67164

Net income loss attributable to the noncontrolling interest 253 248

Net loss attributable to SBA Communications Corporation 194674 140871 67164

Net loss per common share attributable to SBA Communications

Corporation

Basic and diluted 1.68 1.20 0.61

Basic and diluted weighted average number of common shares 115591 117165 109882

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2010 2009 AND 2008

in thousands

Accumulated

BALANCE December 31 2007

Net loss

Change in unfunded projected benefit obligation

Amortization of net deferred gain from settlement

of derivative financial instruments

Write-off of net deferred loss from derivative

instruments related to repurchase of debt

Total comprehensive loss

Less Comprehensive loss attributable

to the noncontrolling interests

Comprehensive loss attributable to

SBA Communications Corporation

Stock issued in connection

with acquisitions and cam-outs

Non-cash compensation

Stock issued in connection

with stock purchase/option plans

Purchase of convertible note hedges

Equity component related to 1.875%

convertible debt issuance

Proceeds from issuance of common stock warrants

Stock issued in connection with

repurchases of the 0.375% convertible debt

Equity component related to repurchases

of the 0.375% convertible debt

Repurchase and retirement of common stock

BALANCE December 31 2008

Net loss

Amortization of net deferred loss from settlement

of derivative financial instruments

Write-off of net deferred gain from derivative

instruments related to repurchase of debt

Foreign currency
translation adjustments

Total comprehensive loss

Less Comprehensive loss attributable

to the noncontrolling interests

Comprehensive loss attributable to

SBA Communications Corporation

Common stock issued in connection

with acquisitions and earn-outs

Purchase of non-wholly owned entity

Non-cash compensation

Common stock issued in connection

with stock purchase/option plans

Equity component related to 4.0%

convertible debt issuance

Purchase of convertible note hedges

Proceeds from issuance of common stock warrants

Stock issued in connection with

repurchases of the 0.375% convertible debt

Equity component related to repurchases

of the 0.375% convertible debt

Stock received related to the termination of

portion of the 0.375% convertible note hedge

Stock issued related to the termination of

portion of the 0.375% convertible debt

common stock warrants

Preferred return on capital contributions

Repurchase and retirement of common stock

BALANCE December 31 2009

t280 396357

67t64

31 31

557 557 557

319 319

67433

3350 3350 3350

1474 1474 t474

t42373

114

142259

20312

1222 1222

8260

7045

168933

160100

98491

11199

11830

Class Additional Other

Common Stock Paid-In Accumulated Comprehensive Noncontrolling Comprehensive

Shares Amount Capital Deficit Loss Income Interests Total Loss

108380 1084 t644455 1247902

67164 67164

31

319

67433

8514 85 295.546 295631

7415 7415

696 6496 6503

137698 137698

159168 159168

56183 56183

3408 34 54997 55031

647 647

3473 35 119965 128000

117525 1175 2085915 1435031 1549 650510

140871 248 141119 141119

622 622 622

864 203153

8260

689 7038

168933

160100

98491

618 11193

11830

874

328

59 59

2068 20 51700 51720

117082 1171 2228268 1627602 2803 915 599949

continued
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SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDEI DECEMBER 31 2010 2009 AND 2008

in thousands

Accumulated

Class Additional Other

Common Stock Paid-In Accumulated Comprehensive Noncontroffing Comprehensive

Shares Amount Capital Deficit Loss Income Interests Total Loss

BALANCE December 31 2009 117082 1171 2228268 1627602 2803 915 599949

Net loss 194674 253 194421 194421

Amortization of deferred loss from settlement

of derivstive financial instruments 632 632 632

Write-off of deferred loss from derivative

instruments related to repurchase of debt 3645 3645 3645

Foreign currency translation adjustments
701 701 701

Total comprehensive loss 189443

Less Comprehensive income attributable

to the noncontrolling interests 298

Comprehensive loss attributable to ________________

SBA Communications Corporation 189741

Net proceeds from the settlement of convertible

note hedges 8497 8497

Purchase of redeemable noncontrolling interests 7500 703 8203

Exchange of redeemable noncontrolling interests 12492 465 12957

Non-cash compensation 10560 10560

Common stock issued in connection

with stock purchase/option plans 924 16124 16133

Repurchase and retirement of common stock 3174 32 107394 107426

BALANCE December 31 2010 114832 1148 2243457 1929670 2175 317110

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

in thousands

For the year ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Netloss 194421 141119 67164

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by opersting activities

Depreciation accretion snd amortization 278727 258537 211445

Non-cash interest expense 60070 49897 33309

Deferred income tsx benefit provision 737 265 159

Asset impsirment 5862 3884 921

Non-cash compensstion expense 10501 8200 7207

Provision credit for doubtEd accounts 630 465 81
Amortization of deferred financing fees 9099 10456 10746

Loss gsin from extinguishment of debt net 49060 5661 44269
Write-down of investments 13256

Other non-cash hems reflected in the Ststements of Operations 467 85 341

Chsnges in opersting sssets and liabilities net of acquisitions

Accounts receivable snd costs and estimated esmings in excess of billings

on uncompleted eontrsets net 5919 3497 14408

Prepaid and other sssets 15023 8546 10906
Accounts payable and seemed expenses 3313 4008 6189
Accrued interest 3300 29605 2423

Other liabilities 10386 13203 8090

Net cash provided by operating activities 201155 222558 173696

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Acquisitions and related cam-outs 328045 180798 584498

Capital expenditurea 66618 46743 36166
Purchase of coat method investment 32300
Purchase of investments 4566 9164
Proceeds from aales/maturities of investments 7107 980 41044

Proceeds from disposition of fixed assets 50 608 51

Proceeds payment of restricted cash relating to tower removal obligations 667 6042 980

Net cash used in investing activities 425039 229075 580549

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issuance of 2010 Tower Securities net of fees paid 1212194

Repurchase and retirement of common stock 107426 51720 120000

Payment on early extinguishment of CMBS Certificates 979368 557316 45353

Payments on extinguishment of convertible debt 30409 90554 102486

Borrowings under 2010 Credit Facility and Senior Credit Facility 20000 8507 465552

Proceeds from iaauance of senior notes net of original issue discount and fees paid 727918

Proceeds from issuance of convertible senior notes net of fees paid 488195 536815

Proceeds from employee stock purchase/stock option plant 16133 7045 6503

Release payment of restricted cash relating to CMDS Certificates 526 7073 928

Payment of deferred financing fees 5123 384 3261
Net proceeds from the settlement of convertible note hedges 8497

Purchase of redeemable noncontrolling interests 8203

Repayment of Senior Credit Facility 239060 235000

Repayment of Optaaite Credit Facility 149117 1000
Proceeds from issuance of common stock warrants 98491 56183

Purchase of convertible note hedges 160100 137698

Payment related to termination of derivative inatrumeuta 3890
Net cash provided by financing activities 126821 88978 415437

NET DECREASE INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 97063 82461 8584

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Heginniog of
year 161317 78856 70272

End ofyear 64254 161317 78856

cotttinued

F-6



SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
in thousands

For the year ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Cash paid during the year for

Interest

hcome taxes

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION OF NON-CASH ACTIVITIES

Assets acquired through capital leases

Class common stock issued relating to acquisitions and eamouts

Fair value of debt assumed through acquisition

Class common stock issued in connection with early extinguishment of debt

Contribution of DAS Networks in exchange for equity investment

Exchange of redeemable noncontrolling interests

153607 101409 103085

1545 684 359

1130 239 781

20312 295631

147000

11199 55031

11000

12500

The accompanying condensed notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL

SBA Communications Corporation the Company or SBA was incorporated in the State of Florida in

March 1997 The Company is holding company that holds all of the outstanding capital stock of SBA

Telecommunications Inc Telecommunications Telecommunications is holding company that holds the

outstanding capital stock of the International Subsidiaries and SBA Senior Finance Inc SBA Senior Finance
SBA Senior Finance is holding company that holds directly or indirectly the equity interest in certain

subsidiaries that issued Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2010-1 the 2010-1 Tower Securities and the

Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 20102 the 2010-2 Tower Securities and together with the 2010-1

Tower Securities the 2010 Tower Securities and certain subsidiaries that were not involved in the issuance of

the 2010 Tower Securities With respect to the subsidiaries involved in the issuance of the 2010 Tower Securities

SBA Senior Finance is the sole member of SBA Holdings LLC and SBA Depositor LLC SBA Holdings LLC is

the sole member of SBA Guarantor LLC SBA Guarantor LLC holds all of the capital stock of the companies

included in the 2010 Tower Securities referred to as the Borrowers see Note 12 With respect to subsidiaries

not involved in the issuance of the 2010 Tower Securities SBA Senior Finance holds all of the membership

interests in SBA Senior Finance II LLC SBA Senior Finance II and certain non-operating subsidiaries SBA
Senior Finance II holds directly or indirectly all the capital stock in SBA Infrastructure Holdings Inc

Infrastructure formerly known as Optasite and certain other tower companies known as Tower Companies
SBA Senior Finance II also holds directly or indirectly all the capital stock and/or membership interests of

certain other subsidiaries involved in providing services including SBA Network Services Inc Network

Services as well as SBA Network Management Inc Network Management which manages and administers

the operations of the Borrowers

The table below outlines the legal structure of the Company at December 31 2010
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SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As of December 31 2010 the Company owned and operated wireless communications towers in the United

States and its territories In addition the Company owned towers in Canada Costa Rica El Salvador and Panama

Space on these towers is leased primarily to wireless service providers As of December 31 2010 the Company
owned 9111 tower sites

Network Services provides comprehensive turnkey services for the telecommunications industry in the areas

of site development services for wireless carriers and the construction and repair of transmission towers Site

development consulting services include network pre-design site audits identification of potential

locations for towers and antennas support in buying or leasing of the location and assistance in obtaining

zoning approvals and permits Site construction services of the Companys site development business includes

number of services including but not limited to the following tower and related site construction antenna

installation and radio equipment installation comrmssioning and maintenance

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

summary of the significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of the accompanying consolidated

financial statements is as follows

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States of America U.S GAAP and include the Company and its majority and wholly-

owned subsidiaries All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S GAAP requires management

to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and

accompanying notes The significant estimates made by management relate to the allowance for doubtful

accounts the costs and revenue relating to the Companys construction contracts stock-based compensation

valuation allowance related to deferred tax assets fair value of long-lived assets the useful lives of towers and

intangible assets anticipated property tax assessments fair value of investments and asset retirement obligations

Management develops estimates based on historical experience and on various assumptions about the future that

are believed to be reasonable based on the information available These estimates ultimately may differ from

actual results and such differences could be material

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of cash in banks money market funds commercial paper and

other marketable securities with an original maturity of three months or less at the time of purchase These

investments are carried at cost which approximates fair value

Investments

Investment securities with original maturities of more than three months but less than one year at time of

purchase are considered short-term investments The Companys short-term investments primarily consist of

certificates of deposit with maturities of less than year Investment securities with maturities of more than

year are considered long-term investments and are classified in other assets on the accompanying Consolidated

Balance Sheets Long-term investments primarily consist of U.S Treasuries corporate bonds and preferred
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SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

securities Gross purchases and sales of the Companys investments are presented within Cash flows from

investing activities on the Companys Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Restricted Cash

The Company classifies all cash pledged as collateral to secure certain obligations and all cash whose use is

limited as restricted cash This includes cash held in escrow to fund certain reserve accounts relating to the 2010

Tower Securities and 2006 CMBS Certificates for payment and performance bonds and surety bonds issued for

the benefit of the Company in the ordinary course of business see Note

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost or at estimated fair value in case of acquired properties

adjusted for asset impairment and estimated asset retirement obligations Costs associated with the development

and construction of towers are capitalized as cost of the towers Costs for self-constructed towers include direct

materials and labor indirect costs and capitalized interest Approximately $0.4 million and $0.2 million of interest

cost was capitalized in 2010 and 2009 respectively

Depreciation on towers and related components is provided using the straight-line method over the estimated

useful lives not to exceed the minimum lease term of the underlying ground lease The Company defines the

minimum lease term as the shorter of the period from lease inception through the end of the term of all tenant

lease obligations in existence at ground lease inception including renewal periods or the ground lease term

including renewal periods If no tenant lease obligation exists at the date of ground lease inception the initial term

of the ground lease is considered the minimum lease term Leasehold improvements are amortized on straight-

line basis over the shorter of the useful life of the improvement or the minimum lease term of the lease For all

other property and equipment depreciation is provided using the straight-line method over the estimated useful

lives

The Company performs ongoing evaluations of the estimated useful lives of its property and equipment for

depreciation purposes The estimated useful lives are determined and continually evaluated based on the period

over which services are expected to be rendered by the asset If the useful lives of assets are reduced depreciation

may be accelerated in future years Property and equipment under capital leases are amortized on straight-line

basis over the term of the lease or the remaining estimated life of the leased property whichever is shorter and

the related amortization is included in depreciation expense Expenditures for maintenance and repair are

expensed as incurred

Asset classes and related estimated useful lives are as follows

Towers and related components 15 years

Furniture equipment and vehicles years

Buildings and improvements 10 years

Betterments improvements and extraordinary repairs which increase the value or extend the life of an asset

are capitalized and depreciated over the remaining estimated useful life of the respective asset Changes in an

assets estimated useful life are accounted for prospectively with the book value of the asset at the time of the

change being depreciated over the revised remaining useful life There has been no material impact for changes in

estimated useful lives for any years presented
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SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Defrrred Financing Fees

Financing fees related to the issuance of debt have been deferred and are being amortized using the effective

interest rate method over the expected length of related indebtedness see Note 12

Deferred Lease Costs

The Company defers certain initial direct costs associated with the origination of tenant leases and lease

amendments and amortizes these costs over the initial lease term generally five years or over the lease term

remaining if related to lease amendment Such deferred costs were approximately $4.7 million $4.0 million and

$3.8 million in 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively Amortization expense was $3.6 million $3.3 million and $2.7

million for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively and is included in cost of site

leasing on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations As of December 31 2010 and 2009

unamortized deferred lease costs were $9.4 million and $8.3 million respectively and are included in other assets

on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets

Intangible Assets

The Company classifies as intangible assets the fair value of current leases in place at the acquisition date of

towers and related assets referred to as the Current contract intangibles and the fair value of future tenant

leases anticipated to be added to the acquired towers referred to as the Network location intangibles These

intangibles are estimated to have an economic useful life consistent with the economic useful life of the related

tower assets which is typically 15 years For all intangible assets amortization is provided using the straight-line

method over the estimated useful lives as the benefit associated with these intangible assets is anticipated to be

derived evenly over the life of the asset

Impairment ofLong-Lived Assets

The Company records an impairment charge when the Company believes an investment in towers or related

assets has been impaired such that future undiscounted cash flows would not recover the then current carrying

value of the investment in the tower site and related intangible Estimates and assumptions inherent in the

impairment evaluation include but are not limited to general market and economic conditions historical

operating results geographic location lease-up potential and expected timing of lease-up In addition the

Company makes certain assumptions in determining an assets fair value for the purpose of calculating the

amount of an impairment charge The Company recorded an impairment charge of $5.9 million $3.9 million and

$0.9 million for the twelve months ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively see Note 17

Fair Value ofFinancial Instruments

The Company determines the fair market values of its financial instruments based on the fair value hierarchy

established by the Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures accounting guidance which requires an entity to

maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value

Revenue Recognition and Accounts Receivable

Revenue from site leasing is recorded monthly and recognized on straight-line basis over the current term of

the related lease agreements which are generally five years Receivables recorded related to the straight-lining of

site leases are reflected in other assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets Rental amounts received in advance

are recorded as deferred revenue on the Consolidated Balance Sheets
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SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Site development projects in which the Company performs consulting services include contracts on time

and materials basis or fixed price basis Time and materials based contracts are billed at contractual rates as the

services are rendered For those site development contracts in which the Company performs work on fixed price

basis site development billing and revenue recognition is based on the completion of agreed upon phases of the

project on per site basis Upon the completion of each phase on per site basis the Company recognizes the

revenue related to that phase Site development projects generally take from to 12 months to complete

Revenue from construction projects is recognized on the percentage-of-completion method of accounting

determined by the percentage of cost incurred to date compared to managements estimated total cost for each

contract This method is used because management considers total cost to be the best available measure of

progress on the contracts These amounts are based on estimates and the uncertainty inherent in the estimates

initially is reduced as work on the contracts nears completion The asset costs and estimated earnings in excess of

billings on uncompleted contracts represents expenses incurred and revenues recognized in excess of amounts

billed The liability billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts included within

other current liabilities on the Companys Consolidated Balance Sheets represents billings in excess of revenues

recognized Provisions for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are made in the period in which such losses

are determined to be probable

The Company performs periodic credit evaluations of its customers The Company monitors collections and

payments from its customers and maintains provision for estimated credit losses based upon historical

experience specific customer collection issues identified and past due balances as determined based on

contractual terms Interest is charged on outstanding receivables from customers on case by case basis in

accordance with the terms of the respective contracts or agreements with those customers Amounts determined to

be uncollectible are written off against the allowance for doubtful accounts in the period in which uncollectibility

is determined to be probable

The following is rollforward of the allowance for doubtful accounts for the years ended December 31 2010

2009 and 2008

For the year ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

in thousands

Beginning balance 350 852 1186

Allowance recorded relating to acquisitions 10

Provision credits for doubtful accounts 630 465 81
Write-offs net of recoveries 717 977 253
Ending balance 263 350 852

Cost ofRevenue

Cost of site leasing revenue includes ground lease rent property taxes maintenance exclusive of employee

related costs and other tower operating expenses Liabilities recorded related to the straight-lining of ground

leases are reflected in other long-term liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets Cost of site development

revenue includes the cost of materials salaries and labor costs including payroll taxes subcontract labor vehicle

expense and other costs directly and indirectly related to the projects All costs related to site development

projects are recognized as incurred All rental obligations due to be paid out over the minimum lease term

including fixed escalations are recorded on straight-line basis over the minimumlease term
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SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Income Taxes

The Company had taxable losses during the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 and as result

net operating loss carry-forwards have been generated The majority of these net operating loss carry-forwards are

fully reserved as management believes it is not more-likely-than-not that the Company will generate sufficient

taxable income in future periods to recognize the losses The tax years 1997 through 2010 remain open to

examination by the major jurisdictions in which the Company operates

The Company determines whether it is more-likely-than-not that tax position taken in an income tax

return will be sustained upon examination including resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes

based on the technical merits of the position Once it is determined that position meets the more-likely-than-not

recognition threshold the position is measured to determine the amount of benefit to recognize in the financial

statements The Company has not identified any tax exposures that require adjustment In the future to the extent

that the Company records unrecognized tax exposures any related interest and penalties will be recognized as

interest expense in the Companys Consolidated Statements of Operations

The Company does not calculate U.S taxes on undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries because

substantially all such earnings are expected to be reinvested indefinitely

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company measures and recognizes compensation expense for all share-based payment awards made to

employees and directors including stock options restricted stock units and employee stock purchases under

employee stock purchase plans The Company records compensation expense net of estimated forfeitures for

stock options and restricted stock units on straight-line basis over the vesting period Compensation expense for

employee stock options is based on the estimated fair value of the options on the date of the grant using the Black

Scholes option-pricing model The stock options granted to non-employees are valued using the Black-Scholes

option-pricing model based on the market price of the underlying common stock on the valuation date which

for options to non-employees is the vesting date Expense related to the options granted to non-employees is

recognized on straight-line basis over the shorter of the period over which services are to be received or the

vesting period Compensation expense for restricted stock units is based on the fair market value of the units

awarded at the date of the grant

Asset Retirement Obligations

The Company recognizes asset retirement obligations in the period in which they are incurred if reasonable

estimate of fair value can be made and accretes such liability through the obligations estimated settlement date

The associated asset retirement costs are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the related tower fixed

assets and over time the liability is accreted to its present value each period and the capitalized cost is

depreciated over the estimated useful life of the tower

The Company has entered into ground leases for the land underlying the majority of the Companys towers

majority of these leases require the Company to restore leaseholds to their original condition upon termination of

the ground lease The asset retirement obligation at December 31 2010 and December 31 2009 was $5.2 million

and $4.6 million respectively and is included in other long-term liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets

Upon settlement of the obligations any difference between the cost to retire an asset and the recorded liability is

recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Operations as gain or loss In determining the impact of the asset

retirement obligations the Company considered the nature and scope of the contractual restoration obligations

contained in the Companys third party ground leases the historical retirement experience as an indicator of

future restoration probabilities intent in renewing existing ground leases through lease termination dates current
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SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

and future value and timing of estimated restoration costs and the credit adjusted risk-free rate used to discount

future obligations

The following summarizes the activity of the asset retirement obligation liability

For the year ended December 31

2010 2009

in thousands

Asset retirement obligation at January 4641 4198

Additional liabilities accrued 320 160

Accretion expense 323 314

Revision in estimates 70 31
Ending balance 5214 4641

Loss Per Share

The Company has potential common stock equivalents related to its outstanding stock options and convertible

senior notes These potential common stock equivalents were not included in diluted loss per share because the

effect would have been anti-dilutive in calculating the full year earnings per share Accordingly basic and diluted

loss per common share and the weighted average number of shares used in the computations are the same for all

periods presented in the Consolidated Statements of Operations

Comprehensive Income Loss

Comprehensive income loss is defined as the change in equity net assets of business enterprise during

period from transactions and other events and circumstances from non-owner sources and is comprised of net

income loss and other comprehensive income loss Comprehensive income loss is presented in the

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders Equity

Foreign Currency Translation

All assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries that do not utilize the United States dollar as its functional

currency are translated at period-end rates of exchange while revenues and expenses are translated at monthly

weighted average rates of exchange for the year Unrealized translation gains and losses are reported as foreign

currency translation adjustments through other comprehensive loss in shareholders equity

Reclassjfications

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior year amounts or balances to conform to the presentation

adopted in the current year

CURRENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

The Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ASU No
2010-06 Improving Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements ASU 2010-06 which requires new

disclosures about recurring or nonrecurring fair-value measurements including significant transfers into and out of

Level and Level fair value measurements and information on purchases sales issuances and settlements on

gross basis in the reconciliation of Level fair value measurements The FASB also clarified existing fair value

measurement disclosure guidance about the level of disaggregation inputs and valuation techniques ASU 2010-
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SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

06 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15 2009 The adoption of this accounting guidance did

not have any impact on the Companys disclosures

In February 2010 the FASB issued ASU 20 10-09 Amendments to Certain Recognition and Disclosure

Requirements ASU 2010-09 updates ASC Topic 855 Subsequent Events ASU 2010-09 removes the

requirement to disclose the date through which an entity has evaluated subsequent events The Company adopted

the provisions of ASU 2010-09 upon issuance with no material impact to the Companys financial position or

results of operations

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Items Measured at Fair Value on Recurring Basis The carrying values of the Companys financial

instruments that approximate fair value due to the short maturity of those instruments primarily includes cash and

cash equivalents short-term investments restricted cash accounts receivable and accounts payable These

financial instruments are valued using Level inputs Level valuations rely on quoted prices in active markets

for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has the ability to access at the measurement date Long-term

investments which are included in other assets on the Companys Consolidated Balance Sheet consist of U.S

treasuries corporate bonds and preferred securities formerly auction rate securities see Note for additional

information

During the year ended December 31 2010 and 2009 there were no changes in the fair value of the preferred

securities formerly auction rate securities The Company recorded $13.3 million of otherthantemporary

impairment charges in other income expense on its Consolidated Statements of Operations for the year ended

December 31 2008 The Company determined the other-than-temporary impairment charge for the year ended

December 31 2008 based on variety of factors including the significant decline in fair value indicated for the

individual investments the adverse market conditions impacting preferred securities formerly auction rate

securities and the exercise of the put rights that resulted in the Company owning shares of FGIC Preferred Stock

and shares of Ambac Preferred Stock

The Company has estimated the fair value of these preferred securities formerly auction rate securities

utilizing Level valuation methodology Level valuations rely on unobservable inputs for the asset or liability

and include situations where there is little if any market activity for the asset or liability The assumptions used

in the valuation included the ultimate time horizon over which dividends are anticipated to be paid on the

preferred stock the coupon rate for these securities and the appropriate discount margins The Company

continues to monitor market and other conditions in assessing whether further changes in the fair value of these

securities are warranted These estimated fair values could change based on future market conditions and as such

the Company may be required to record additional unrealized losses for impairment if the Company determines

there are further declines in their fair value

reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances for the preferred securities formerly auction rate

securities that use significant unobservable inputs Level as of December 31 2010 and 2009 is as follows
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SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Preferred Securities

in thousands

986

986

867

119

Beginning balance December 31 2008

Sales

Realized/unrealized gains and losses

Ending balance December 31 2009

Sales

Realized/unrealized gains and losses

Ending balance December 31 2010

Items Measured at Fair Value on Nonrecurring BasisThe Companys long-lived assets see Note

intangibles asset retirement obligations see Note and earnouts related to acquisitions see Note are

measured at fair value on nonrecurring basis using Level inputs The fair value of the long-lived assets

intangibles and asset retirement obligations is calculated using discounted cash flow model The fair value of the

earnouts is based on the anticipated future earnout obligations The Company recorded an impairment charge of

$5.9 million $3.9 million and $0.9 million for the twelve months ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008

respectively see Note 17

Fair Value of Financial Instruments The carrying value of the Companys financial instruments with the

exception of long-term debt including current portion reasonably estimate the related fair values as of December

31 2010 and December 31 2009

The Company determines fair value of its debt instruments utilizing various sources including quoted prices

and indicative quotes that is non-binding quotes from brokers that require judgment to interpret market

information including implied credit spreads for similar borrowings on recent trades or bid/ask prices The

following table reflects fair values principal values and carrying values of the Companys debt instruments see
Note 12

As of December 31 2010 As of December 31 2009

Principal Carrying Principal Carrying

Fair Value Value Value Fair Value Value Value

in millions

0.375% Convertible Senior Notes due 2010 34.2 30.4 28.6

1.875%ConvertibleSeniorNotesdue2Ol3 617.4 550.0 464.0 564.4 550.0 432.5

4.0% Convertible Senior Notes due 2014 744.4 500.0 368.5 652.5 500.0 342.8

8.0% Senior Notes due 2016 405.9 375.0 372.9 388.1 375.0 372.6

8.25%SeniorNotesdue2Ol9 409.7 375.0 372.1 393.8 375.0 371.9

4.254% 2010-1 Tower Securities 691.9 680.0 680.0

5.101% 2010-2 Tower Securities 556.9 550.0 550.0

2010 Credit Facility 20.0 20.0 20.0

2006 CMBS Certificates 961.5 940.6 940.6
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RESTRICTED CASH

Restricted cash consists of the following

As of As of

December 31 2010 December 31 2009 Included on Balance Sheet

in thousands

Securitization escrow accounts 28583 29108 Restricted cash current asset

Payment and performance bonds 873 1177 Restricted cash current asset

Surety bonds and workers compensation 11392 11097 Other assets noncurrent

Total restricted cash 40848 41382

Pursuant to the terms of the Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates Series 2006-1 the 2006 CMBS

Certificates and upon their refinancing pursuant to the terms of the Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series

2010-1 the 2010-1 Tower Securities and the Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 20102 the 2010-2

Tower Securities and together with the 2010-1 Tower Securities the 2010 Tower Securities see Note 12 the

Company is required to establish controlled deposit account held by the indenture trustee into which all rents

and other sums due on the towers that secured the 2006 CMBS Certificates and those that currently secure the

2010 Tower Securities are directly deposited by the lessees These restricted cash amounts are used to fund

reserve accounts for the payment of debt service costs ground rents real estate and personal property taxes

and insurance premiums related to tower sites trustee and servicing expenses management fees and to

reserve portion of advance rents from tenants The restricted cash in the controlled deposit account in excess of

required reserve balances is subsequently released to the Borrowers as defined in Note 12 monthly provided

that the Borrowers are in compliance with their debt service coverage ratio and that no Event of Default has

occurred All monies held by the indenture trustee are classified as restricted cash on the Companys Consolidated

Balance Sheets

Securitization escrow accounts relate to funds that are required to be in escrow initially pursuant to the terms

of the 2006 CMBS Certificates and upon their refinancing pursuant to the terms of the 2010 Tower Securities

Payment and performance bonds relate primarily to collateral requirements for tower construction currently in

process by the Company Cash is pledged as collateral related to surety
bonds issued for the benefit of the

Company or its affiliates in the ordinary course of business and primarily related to the Companys tower removal

obligations As of December 31 2010 the Company had $19.7 million in surety payment and performance bonds

for which it is only required to post $9.6 million in collateral The Company periodically evaluates the collateral

posted for its bonds to ensure that it meets the minimum requirements As of December 31 2010 and 2009 the

Company had pledged $2.2 million and $2.4 million respectively as collateral related to its workers

compensation policy Restricted cash for surety bonds and workers compensation are included in other assets on

the Companys Consolidated Balance Sheets

ACQUISITIONS

During the year ended December 31 2010 the Company acquired 712 completed towers and related assets

and liabilities from various sellers The aggregate consideration paid for these towers and related assets excluding

working capital adjustments was approximately $298.4 millionwhich was paid in cash In addition as part of the

ground lease purchase program the Company paid in cash an aggregate of $9.0 million for long-term lease

extensions and $25.0 million for land and perpetual easement purchases during the year ended December 31

2010 The Company accounted for these acquisitions under the acquisition method of accounting The

acquisitions are recorded at fair market value at the date of each acquisition The results of operations of the

acquired assets are included with those of the Company from the dates of the respective acquisitions
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During the year ended December 31 2010 the Company acquired an equity interest in distributed antenna

system DAS provider Extenet Systems Inc for approximately $32.3 million in cash and the contribution of

its existing DAS business The investment in Extenet Systems Inc is accounted for under the cost method of

accounting

During the year ended December 31 2009 the Company acquired 376 completed towers and related assets

and liabilities from various sellers and an interest in Canadian entity whose holdings consisted of 52 towers and

related assets and liabilities The aggregate consideration paid for these towers and the equity interest and related

assets was approximately $187.0 million consisting of $171.4 million of cash and approximately 642000 shares

of Class common stock excluding any working capital adjustments The Company accounted for the above

tower acquisitions under the acquisition method of accounting The acquisitions are recorded at fair market value

at the date of each acquisition The results of operations of the acquired assets are included with those of the

Company from the dates of the respective acquisitions In addition in 2009 as part of the ground lease purchase

program the Company paid $4.2 million in cash for long-term lease extensions and $15.0 million for land and

perpetual easement purchases consisting of $11.6 million paid in cash and $3.4 million paid through the issuance

of approximately 143000 shares of the Companys Class common stock

On September 16 2008 wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company merged with Optasite Holding Company
Inc Optasite and Optasite became wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company As of the closing Optasite

owned 528 tower sites located in 31 states Puerto Rico and the U.S Virgin Islands and had approximately 38

managed site locations Pursuant to the terms of the merger agreement the Company issued 7.25 million shares of

SBA Class common stock to the Optasite security holders assumed Optasites fully-drawn $150.0 million

senior credit facility see Note 12 and assumed approximately $26.9 million of additional liabilities The

aggregate consideration paid for Optasite was approximately $433.3 million excluding any working capital

adjustments The results of operations of Optasite are included with those of the Company from the date of the

acquisition

On October 20 2008 wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company acquired Light Tower Wireless LLC

Light Tower the wireless infrastructure subsidiary of Light Tower LLC Light Tower became wholly-

owned subsidiary of the Company As of the closing Light Tower owned 340 wireless communications towers
five managed sites and five distributed antenna system DAS networks The aggregate purchase price paid for

these towers and related assets was approximately $224.0 million excluding any working capital adjustments
which was paid in cash The results of operations of Light Tower are included with those of the Company from

the date of the acquisition

In addition to the Optasite and Light Tower acquisitions during the year ended December 31 2008 the

Company acquired 587 completed towers including 423 towers from the TowerCo LLC acquisition and related

assets and liabilities from various sellers as well as the equity interest of six entities whose holdings consisted of

114 towers and related assets and liabilities The aggregate consideration paid for these towers and related assets

was $479.6 million consisting of $441.1 million in cash and approximately 1.2 million shares of Class

common stock valued at $38.5 million excluding any working capital adjustments The Company accounted for

all of the above tower acquisitions at fair market value at the date of each acquisition The results of operations of

the acquired assets are included with those of the Company from the dates of the respective acquisitions Also
during 2008 the Company paid in cash $19.9 million for land and easement purchases and $3.3 million for long-

term lease extensions related to the land underneath the Companys towers

The acquisitions consummated were not significant to the Company and accordingly pro forma financial

information has not been presented The Company continues to evaluate all acquisitions within one year after the
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applicable closing date of each transaction to determine whether any additional adjustments are needed to the

allocation of the purchase price paid for the assets acquired and liabilities assumed by major balance sheet

caption as well as the separate recognition of intangible assets from goodwill if certain criteria are met These

intangible assets represent the value associated with current leases in place at the acquisition date Current

contract intangibles and future tenant leases anticipated to be added to the acquired towers Network location

intangibles and were calculated using the discounted values of the current or future expected cash flows The

intangible assets are estimated to have an economic useful life consistent with the economic useful life of the

related tower assets which is typically 15 years

From time to time the Company agrees to pay additional consideration or earnouts in connection with its

acquisitions if the towers or businesses that are acquired meet or exceed certain performance targets in the one to

three years after they have been acquired The Company records contingent consideration for acquisitions that

occurred prior to January 2009 when the contingent consideration is paid Effective January 2009 the

Company accrues for contingent consideration in connection with acquisitions at fair value as of the date of the

acquisition All subsequent changes in fair value are recorded through the Consolidated Statements of Operations

In certain acquisitions the additional consideration may be paid in cash or shares of Class common stock at the

Companys option

For the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 certain earnings targets associated with the acquired towers

were achieved and therefore the Company paid in cash $8.7 million and $3.4 million respectively For the year

ended December 31 2009 the Company issued approximately 78000 shares of Class common stock as result

of acquired towers exceeding certain performance targets As of December 31 2010 the Companys estimate of

its potential obligation if the performance targets contained in various acquisition agreements were met was $3.3

million which the Company recorded in accrued expenses The maximum potential obligation related to the

performance targets was $7.9 million as of December 31 2010 These obligations are associated with new build

and tower acquisition programs within the Companys site leasing segment

Subsequent to December 31 2010 the Company acquired 123 towers from third party sellers in exchange for

$63.6 million in cash

INTANGIBLE ASSETS NET

The following table provides the gross and net carrying amounts for each major class of intangible assets

As of December 31 2010 As of December 31 2009

Gross carrying Accumulated Net book Gross carrying Accumulated Net book

amount amortization value amount amortization value

in thousands

Current contract intangibles 1206114 248308 957806 1099164 173351 925813

Network location intangibles 684497 142291 542206 610222 100444 509778

Intangible assets 1890611 390599 1500012 1709386 273795 1435591

All intangibles noted above are contained in the Companys site leasing segment The Company amortizes its

intangibles using the straight line method over fifteen years Amortization expense relating to the intangible assets

above was $117.0 million $107.6 million and $77.5 million for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and

2008 respectively These amounts are subject to changes in estimates until the preliminary allocation of the

purchase price is finalized for each acquisition
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Estimated amortization expense on the Companys current contract and network location intangibles is as

follows

For the year ended December 31

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

Thereafter

Total

in thousands

126041

126041

126041

126041

126041

869807

1500012

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT NET

Property and Equipment net including assets held under capital leases consists of the following

Towers and related components

Construction-in-process

Furniture equipment and vehicles

Land buildings and improvements

Less accumulated depreciation

Property and equipment net

As of

December 31 2010

in thousands

2407322

24984

24045

143445

2599796

1065478

As of

2259405

11477

22804

117926

2411612

914674

1496938

Construction-in-process represents costs incurred related to towers that are under development and will be

used in the Companys operations Depreciation expense was $161.4 million $150.6 million and $133.7 million

for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively At December 31 2010 and 2009 non-cash

capital expenditures that are included in accounts payable and accrued expenses were $4.7 million and $1.9

million respectively

COSTS AND ESTIMATED EARNINGS IN EXCESS OF BILLINGS ON UNCOMPLETED
CONTRACTS

Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts consist of the following

Costs incurred on uncompleted contracts

Estimated earnings

Billings to date

43686

16767

As of

December 31 2009

32567

11282

33800

10049

December 31 2009

1534318

As of

December 31 2010

in thousands

14809

41728
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These amounts are included in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets under the following captions

Asof Asof

December 31 2010 December 31 2009

in thousands

Costs and estimated earnings in excess of

billings on uncompleted contracts 17775 10392

Other current liabilities Billings in excess of costs and

estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts 1008 343

16767 10049

At December 31 2010 five significant customers comprised 81.4% of the costs and estimated earnings in

excess of billings on uncompleted contracts net of billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings while at

December 31 2009 five significant customers comprised 83.2% of the costs and estimated earnings in excess of

billings on uncompleted contracts net of billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings

10 CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK

The Companys credit risks consist primarily of accounts receivable with national regional and local wireless

service providers and federal and state government agencies The Company performs periodic credit evaluations

of its customers financial condition and provides allowances for doubtful accounts as required based upon

factors surrounding the credit risk of specific customers historical trends and other information The Company

generally does not require collateral The following is list of significant customers representing at least 10% of

revenue for all periods reported and the percentage of total revenue for the specified time periods derived from

such customers

Percentage of Total Revenues

For the year ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

ATT 23.9% 23.8% 23.1%

Sprint 20.4% 1.9% 25.0%

Verizon Wireless 14.8% 15.4% 15.6%

T-Mobile 11.6% 13.7% 11.2%

The Companys site leasing site development consulting and site development construction segments derive

revenue from these customers Client percentages of total revenue in each of the segments are as follows

Percentage of Site Leasing Revenues

For the year ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

ATT 28.0% 27.7% 27.6%

Sprint 23.6% 25.3% 27.3%

Verizon Wireless 15.4% 16.0% 15.7%

T-Mobile 11.7% 11.8% 10.7%

F-2



SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Percentage of Site Development

Consulting Revenues

For the year ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Cox Communications 17.0% 8.6% 0.0%

Verizon Wireless 15.1% 23.6% 24.2%

Nsoro Mastec LLC 13.4% 9.3% 4.9%

T-Mobile 6.0% 13.9% 7.6%

Sprint 1.7% 0.5% 22.9%

Metro PCS 0.5% 5.8% 13.3%

Percentage of Site Development

Construction Revenues

For the year ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Nsoro Mastec LLC 6.0% 24.9% 2.4%

T-Mobile 11.8% 28.2% 15.8%

Verizon Wireless3 10.2% 8.3% 12.3%

Metro PCS 3.7% 9.0% 11.9%

Sprint 1.6% 1.8% 10.8%

2008 number has been restated due to 2009 merger of ATT and Centennial

2008 number has been restated due to 2009 merger of Sprint and IPCS Wireless

2008 number has been restated due to 2009 merger of Verizon and Alitel

Five significant customers comprised 50.5% of total gross accounts receivable at December 31 2010

compared to five significant customers which comprised 48.3% of total gross accounts receivable at December

31 2009

11 ACCRUED EXPENSES

The Companys accrued expenses are comprised of the following

Asof Asof

December 31 2010 December 31 2009

in thousands

Accrued earnouts 3263 8039
Salaries and benefits 5087 4819
Real estate and property taxes 6001 5674
Other 7078 9578

21429 28110
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12 DEBT

The carrying value of debt consists of the following

0.375% Convertible Senior Notes due 2010 Principal balance of $30.4 million

as of December 31 2009

1.875% Convertible Senior Notes due 2013 Principal balance of $550.0 million

as of December 31 2010 and December 31 2009

4.0% Convertible Senior Notes due 2014 Principal balance of $500.0 million

as of December 31 2010 and December 31 2009

8.0% Senior Notes due 2016 Principal balance of $375.0 million

as of December 31 2010 and December 31 2009

8.25% Senior Notes due 2019 Principal balance of $375.0 million

as of December 31 2010 and December 31 2009

4.254% Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2010-1

5.101% Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 20 10-2

2010 Senior Credit Facility originated in February 2010 Maturity date of February 11 2015

Commercial Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates Series 2006-1 Interest at fixed

rates ranging from 5.314% to 7.825%
__________________ __________________

Total debt

Less current maturities of long-term debt
__________________ __________________

Total long-term debt net of current maturities

The aggregate principal amount of long-term debt maturing in each of the next five years is none in 2011 and

2012 $550.0 million in 2013 $500.0 million in 2014 $700.0 million in 2015 and $1.3 billion thereafter

The CMBS Certjficates

Commercial Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates Series 2005-1

On November 18 2005 New York common law trust the Trust formed by an indirect subsidiary of the

Company issued in private transaction $405.0 million of 2005 CMBS Certificates Series 2005-1 the 2005

CMBS Certificates

The 2005 CMBS Certificates consisted of five classes with annual pass-through interest rates ranging from

5.369% to 6.706% The weighted average annual fixed coupon interest rate of the 2005 CMBS Certificates was

5.6% payable monthly and the effective weighted average annual fixed interest rate was 4.8% after giving effect

to the settlement of two interest rate swap agreements entered into in contemplation of the transaction see Note

13

On July 28 2009 the Company repaid the remaining principal balance of $380.2 million of the 2005 CMBS

Certificates and paid $10.1 million for related prepayment consideration plus accrued interest and fees During the

year ended December 31 2009 but prior to the payoff of the principal balance the Company repurchased an

aggregate of $18.6 million in principal amount of 2005 CMBS Certificates for $16.6 million in cash The

Company recorded in its Consolidated Statements of Operations $7.2 million net loss on the early

extinguishment of debt for the year ended December 31 2009 During 2008 the Company repurchased an
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December 31 2010 December 31 2009
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28648

463970 432459

368463 342820

372889 372604

372128 371910

680000

550000

20000

940609

2827450 2489050

28648

2827450 2460402
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aggregate of $6.2 million in principal amount of the 2005 CMBS Certificates for $5.5 million in cash The

Company recorded in its Consolidated Statements of Operations $0.7 million gain on early extinguishment of

debt for the year ended December 31 2008

Commercial Mortgage Pass-Through CertWcates Series 2006-1

On November 2006 the Trust issued in private transaction $1.15 billion of 2006 CMBS Certificates The
2006 CMBS Certificates consisted of nine subclasses with annual pass-through interest rates ranging from

5.314% to 7.825% The weighted average annual fixed coupon interest rate of the 2006 CMBS Certificates was

5.9% payable monthly and the effective weighted average annual fixed interest rate was 6.2% after giving effect

to the settlement of the nine interest rate swap agreements entered into in contemplation of the transaction see
Note 13

On April 16 2010 the Company repaid the remaining principal balance of $938.6 million of the 2006 CMBS
Certificates and paid $38.5 million for prepayment consideration plus accrued interest and fees During the

year-

to-date period ended December 31 2010 but prior to the payoff of the principal balance the Company
repurchased an aggregate of $2.0 million in principal amount of 2006 CMBS Certificates for $2.1 million in cash

The Company recorded on the Companys Consolidated Statements of Operations $49.0 million loss on

extinguishment of debt related to the repurchases and prepayment during the year ended December 31 2010

During the year ended 2009 the Company repurchased an aggregate of $150.1 million in principal amount of

2006 CMBS Certificates for $150.5 million in cash The Company recorded in its Consolidated Statements of

Operations $2.7 million loss on the early extinguishment of debt for the year ended December 31 2009 During

2008 the Company repurchased an aggregate of $59.3 million in principal amount of 2006 CMBS Certificates for

$39.8 million in cash and recorded in its Consolidated Statements of Operations $18.2 million gain on early

extinguishment of debt for the year ended December 31 2008

During the year ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 the Company incurred $16.4 million $74.6

million and $91.8 million of interest expense related to the 2005 CMBS Certificates and 2006 CMBS Certificates

respectively

Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2010

On April 16 2010 the Trust issued $680.0 million of 2010-1 Tower Securities and $550.0 million of 2010-2

Tower Securities The 20 10-1 Tower Securities have an annual interest rate of 4.254% and the 20 10-2 Tower

Securities have an annual interest rate of 5.101% The weighted average annual fixed coupon interest rate of the

2010 Tower Securities is 4.6% payable monthly The anticipated repayment date and the final maturity date for

the 20101 Tower Securities is April 16 2015 and April 16 2040 respectively The anticipated repayment date

and the final maturity date for the 20102 Tower Securities is April 16 2017 and April 16 2042 respectively

The Company incurred deferred financing fees of approximately $17.8 million in relation to this transaction

which are being amortized through the anticipated repayment date of each of the 2010 Tower Securities Net

proceeds from the 2010 Tower Securities were used to repay in full the outstanding 2006 CMBS Certificates in

the amount of $938.6 million and pay the related prepayment consideration plus accrued interest and fees The

remaining net proceeds were used for general corporate purposes

The sole asset of the Trust consists of non-recourse mortgage loan made in favor of SBA Properties Inc
SBA Sites Inc and SBA Structures Inc indirect wholly-owned operating subsidiaries of the Company the

Borrowers The Borrowers are special purpose vehicles which exist solely to hold the towers which are subject

to the securitization In connection with the issuance of the 2010 Tower Securities and the repayment of the 2006
CMBS Certificates the mortgage loan components relating to the 2006 CMBS Certificates were repaid and the
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mortgage loan was amended to create two new loan components each with terms that are identical to the series of

2010 Tower Securities to which it relates The Borrowers are jointly and severally liable for all obligations under

the mortgage loan

The mortgage loan underlying the 2010 Tower Securities will be paid from the operating cash flows from the

aggregate 3683 tower sites owned by the Borrowers The mortgage loan is secured by mortgages deeds of

trust and deeds to secure debt on substantial portion of the tower sites ii security interest in substantially all

of the Borrowers personal property and fixtures iii the Borrowers rights under certain tenant leases and iv
all of the proceeds of the foregoing For each calendar month SBA Network Management Inc the Companys

indirect subsidiary is entitled to receive management fee equal to 7.5% of the Borrowers operating revenues

for the immediately preceding calendar month

The Borrowers may prepay either of the mortgage loan components in whole or in part with no prepayment

consideration within nine months of the anticipated repayment date of such mortgage loan component

iiwith proceeds received as result of any condemnation or casualty of any tower site owned by the Borrowers

or iii during an amortization period In all other circumstances the Borrowers may prepay the mortgage loan in

whole or in part upon payment of the applicable prepayment consideration The prepayment consideration is

determined based on the class of 2010 Tower Securities to which the prepaid mortgage loan component

corresponds and consists of an amount equal to the excess if any of the present value associated with the

portion of the principal balance being prepaid calculated in accordance with the formula set forth in the mortgage

loan agreement on the date of prepayment of all future installments of principal and interest required to be paid

from the date of prepayment to and including the first due date that is nine months prior to the anticipated

repayment date over that portion of the principal balance of such class prepaid on the date of such prepayment

To the extent that the mortgage loan components corresponding to the 2010 Tower Securities are not fully

repaid by their respective anticipated repayment dates the interest rate of each such component will increase by

the greater of 5% and ii the amount if any by which the sum of the ten-year U.S treasury rate plus

the credit-based spread for such component as set forth in the mortgage loan agreement plus 5% exceeds the

original interest rate for such component

Pursuant to the terms of the 2010 Tower Securities all rents and other sums due on any of the tower sites

owned by the Borrowers are directly deposited by the lessees into controlled deposit account and are held by the

indenture trustee The monies held by the indenture trustee after the release date are classified as restricted cash

on the Companys Consolidated Balance Sheets see Note However if the Debt Service Coverage Ratio

defined as the net cash flow as defined in the mortgage loan agreement divided by the amount of interest on the

mortgage loan servicing fees and trustee fees that the Borrowers are required to pay over the succeeding twelve

months as of the end of any calendar quarter falls to .30x or lower then all cash flow in excess of amounts

required to make debt service payments to fund required reserves to pay management fees and budgeted

operating expenses and to make other payments required under the loan documents referred to as excess cash

flow will be deposited into reserve account instead of being released to the Borrowers The funds in the

reserve account will not be released to the Borrowers unless the Debt Service Coverage Ratio exceeds .30x for

two consecutive calendar quarters If the Debt Service Coverage Ratio falls below 1.1 5x as of the end of any

calendar quarter then an amortization period will commence and all funds on deposit in the reserve account

will be applied to prepay the mortgage loan until such time that the Debt Service Coverage Ratio exceeds 1.1 Sx

for calendar quarter The mortgage loan agreement as amended also includes covenants customary for

mortgage loans subject to rated securitizations Among other things the Borrowers are prohibited from incurring

other indebtedness for borrowed money or further encumbering their assets As of December 31 2010 the

Borrowers met the required Debt Service Coverage Ratio and were in compliance with all other covenants
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The Company incurred cash interest expense of $40.7 million during the year ended December 31 2010

related to the 2010 Tower Securities

0.375% Convertible Senior Notes due 2010

On March 26 2007 the Company issued $350.0 million of its 0.375% Convertible Senior Notes the

0.375% Notes Interest was payable semi-annually on June and December The 0.375% Notes had

maturity date of December 2010

On October 2010 the Company provided notice to the trustee and holders of its 0.375% Notes that the

Company had elected to settle 100% of its conversion obligation relating to the 0.375% Notes in cash

Pursuant to the terms of the Indenture on or prior to November 26 2010 the Company received conversion

notices from holders of an aggregate of $30.3 million in principal of our 0.375% Notes Pursuant to Section 10.02

of the Indenture these notes were converted at price of $1152.78 per $1000 of principal or an aggregate of

$34.9 million Concurrently with the settlement of the Companys conversion obligation the Company settled two

convertible note hedge transactions that the Company had initially purchased at the time the 0.375% Notes were

issued In connection with the settlement of these options the Company received an aggregate of $13.1 million

including $8.5 million attributable to portion held by wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company The

remaining $120000 aggregate principal amount of 0.375% Notes that was not earlier converted or repurchased

matured on December 2010 On December 2010 the Company satisfied its obligation on the notes held to

maturity by paying $120000 in cash plus accrued interest

During the year ended December 31 2009 the Company consummated privately negotiated exchanges of the

0.375% Notes for Class common stock in reliance on Section 3a9 of the Securities Act of 1933 as amended

Pursuant to these exchanges the Company issued approximately 618000 shares of the Companys Class

common stock in exchange for $12.5 million in principal amount of 0.375% Notes In addition the Company also

repurchased an aggregate of $95.2 million in principal amount of 0.3 75% Notes for $90.6 million in cash The

Company recorded gain on the early extinguishment of debt of $6.1 million and net reduction to additional

paid in capital of $0.6 million related to these transactions

During the year ended December 31 2008 the Company consummated privately negotiated exchanges of the

0.375% Notes for Class common stock in reliance on Section 3a9 of the Securities Act of 1933 as amended

During the fourth
quarter of 2008 the Company issued approximately 3407914 shares of the Companys Class

common stock in exchange for $73.8 million in principal amount of 0.375% Notes In addition the Company
also repurchased an aggregate of $138.1 million in principal amount of 0.375% Notes for $102.5 million in cash

The Company recorded gain on the early extinguishment of debt of $25.7 million and net increase to

additional paid in capital of $54.3 million related to these transactions

In April 2009 the Company also terminated the portion of the convertible note hedge and warrant

transactions that it entered into in March 2007 with respect to its 0.375% Notes which related to the $264.1

million principal amount of 0.3 75% Notes that the Company previously repurchased for cash or stock The

Company received net settlement of approximately 546000 shares from the counterparties of the hedge and

warrant transactions

The Company was amortizing the debt discount on the 0.375% Notes utilizing the effective interest method

over the life of the 0.375% Notes which increased the effective interest rate of the 0.375% Notes from its coupon

rate of 0.375% to 6.9% The Company incurred cash interest expense of $0.05 million $0.2 million and $1.2

million for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively The Company recorded non-cash
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interest expense of $1.8 million $3.7 million and $17.2 million for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and

2008 respectively

1.875% Convertible Senior Notes due 2013

On May 16 2008 the Company issued $550.0 million of its 1.875% Convertible Senior Notes the 1.875%

Notes Interest is payable semi-annually on May and November The 1.875% Notes have maturity date of

May 2013 The Company incurred fees of $12.9 million with the issuance of the 1.875% Notes of which $9.1

million was recorded as deferred financing fees and $3.8 million was recorded as reduction of shareholders

equity

The 1.875% Notes are convertible at the holders option into shares of the Companys Class common

stock at an initial conversion rate of 24.1196 shares of Class common stock per $1000 principal amount of

1.875% Notes subject to certain customary adjustments which is equivalent to an initial conversion price of

approximately $41.46 per share or 20% conversion premium based on the last reported sale price of $34.55 per

share of Class common stock on the Nasdaq Global Select Market on May 12 2008 the purchase agreement

date The 1.875% Notes are convertible only under the following certain circumstances during any calendar

quarter commencing at any time after June 30 2008 and only during such calendar quarter if the last reported

sale price of the Companys Class common stock for at least 20 trading days during the 30 consecutive trading

days ending on the last trading day of the preceding calendar quarter is more than 130% of the applicable

conversion price per share of the Companys Class common stock on the last trading day of such preceding

calendar quarter during the five business day period after any ten consecutive trading day period in which the

trading price per $1000 principal amount of 1.875% Notes for each day in the measurement period was less than

95% of the product of the last reported sale price of the Companys Class common stock and the applicable

conversion rate if specified distributions to holders of the Companys Class common stock are made or

specified corporate transactions occur and at any time on or after February 19 2013

Upon conversion the Company has the right to settle the conversion of each $1000 principal amount of

1.875% Notes with any of the three following alternatives at its option delivery of 24.1196 shares of the

Companys Class common stock cash equal to the value of 24.1196 shares of the Companys Class

common stock calculated at the market price per share of the Companys Class common stock at the time of

conversion or combination of cash and shares of the Companys Class common stock

The net proceeds from this offering were approximately $536.8 million after deducting discounts

commissions and expenses portion of the net proceeds from the sale of the 1.875% Notes was used to

repurchase and retire approximately 3.47 million shares of Class common stock valued at $120.0 million based

on the closing stock price of $34.55 on May 12 2008 The repurchased shares were recorded as reduction to

Class common stock for the par value of the Class common stock as well as an increase to accumulated

deficit on the Companys Consolidated Balance Sheets

Concurrently with the pricing of the 1.875% Notes the Company entered into convertible note hedge

transactions with affiliates of four of the initial purchasers of the 1.875% Notes The initial strike price of the

convertible note hedge transactions is $41.46 per share of the Companys Class common stock the same as the

initial conversion price of the 1.875% Notes and is similarly subject to certain customary adjustments The
convertible note hedge transactions originally covered 13265780 shares of Class common stock The cost of

the convertible note hedge transactions was $137.7 million portion of the net proceeds from the sale of the

1.875% Notes and the warrant transactions discussed below were used to pay for the cost of the convertible note

hedge transactions The cost of the convertible note hedge transactions was recorded as reduction to additional

paid-in capital on the Companys Consolidated Balance Sheets

F-27



SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Separately and concurrently with entering into the convertible note hedge transactions the Company entered

into warrant transactions whereby the Company sold warrants to each of the hedge counterparties to acquire an

aggregate of 13265780 shares of Class common stock at an initial exercise price of $67.37 per share The

aggregate proceeds from the warrant transactions were $56.2 million The proceeds from issuance of the warrants

were recorded as an increase to additional paid-in capital on the Companys Consolidated Balance Sheets

One of the convertible note hedge transactions entered into in connection with the 1.875% Notes was with

Lehman Brothers OTC Derivatives Inc Lehman Derivatives The convertible note hedge transaction with

Lehman Derivatives covers 55% of the 13265780 shares of the Companys Class common stock potentially

issuable upon conversion of the 1.875% Notes In October 2008 Lehman Derivatives filed voluntary petition

for protection under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code The filing by Lehman Derivatives of

voluntary Chapter 11 bankruptcy petition constituted an event of default under the convertible note hedge

transaction with Lehman Derivatives As result on November 2008 the Company terminated the convertible

note hedge transaction with Lehman Derivatives Based on information available to the Company there is no

indication as of the date of filing this Form 10-K that any party other than Lehman Derivatives would be unable

to fulfill their obligations under the convertible note hedge transactions

The net cost of the convertible note hedge transaction with Lehman Derivatives was recorded as an

adjustment to additional paid in capital and therefore the event of default did not have any impact on the

Companys financial position or results of operations However the Company could incur significant costs to

replace this hedge transaction if it elects to do so If the Company does not elect to replace the convertible note

hedge transaction then the Company would be subject to potential dilution or additional cost depending on if the

note is settled with shares or cash upon conversion of the 1.875% Notes if on the date of conversion the per
share market price of the Companys Class common stock exceeded the conversion price of $41.46

The Company is amortizing the debt discount on the 1.875% Notes utilizing the effective interest method

over the life of the 1.875% Notes which increases the effective interest rate of the 1.875% Notes from its coupon
rate of 1.875% to 9.4% The Company incurred cash interest expense of $10.3 million $10.3 million and $6.5

million for each of the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively and non-cash interest

expense of $31.5 million $28.7 million and $16.8 million for the
years

ended December 31 2010 2009 and

2008 respectively As of December 31 2010 the carrying amount of the equity component related to the 1.875%
Notes was $159.2 million

The 1.875% Notes are reflected in long-term debt in the Companys Consolidated Balance Sheets at carrying

value The following table summarizes the balances for the 1.875% Notes

Asof Asof

December 31 2010 December 31 2009

in thousands

Principal balance 550000 550000

Debt discount 86030 117541

Carrying value 463970 432459

4.0% Convertible Senior Notes due 2014

On April 24 2009 the Company issued $500.0 million of its 4.0% Convertible Senior Notes 4.0% Notes
in

private placement transaction Interest on the 4.0% Notes is payable semi-annually on April and October

The maturity date of the 4.0% Notes is October 2014 The Company incurred fees of $11.7 million with the
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issuance of the 4.0% Notes of which $7.7 million was recorded as deferred financing fees and $4.0 million was

recorded as reduction to shareholders equity

The 4.0% Notes are convertible at the holders option into shares of the Companys Class common stock

at an initial conversion rate of 32.9 164 shares of Class common stock per $1000 principal amount of 4.0%

Notes subject to certain customary adjustments which is equivalent to an initial conversion price of

approximately $30.38 per share or 22.5% conversion premium based on the last reported sale price of $24.80

per share of the Companys Class common stock on the Nasdaq Global Select Market on April 20 2009 the

purchase agreement date The 4.0% Notes are convertible only under the following circumstances during any

calendar quarter commencing at any time after June 30 2009 and only during such calendar quarter if the last

reported sale price of the Companys Class common stock for at least 20 trading days in the 30 consecutive

trading day period ending on the last trading day of the preceding calendar quarter is more than 130% of the

applicable conversion price per share of Class common stock on the last day of such preceding calendar

quarter during the five business day period after any 10 consecutive trading day period the measurement

period in which the trading price per $1000 principal amount of notes for each day in the measurement period

was less than 95% of the product of the last reported sale price of the Companys Class common stock and the

applicable conversion rate if specified distributions to holders of the Companys Class common stock are

made or specified corporate transactions occur or at any time on or after July 22 2014 Upon conversion the

Company has the right to settle its conversion obligation in cash shares of Class common stock or

combination of cash and shares of its Class common stock From time to time upon notice to the holders of the

4.0% Notes the Company may change its election regarding the form of consideration that the Company will use

to settle its conversion obligation provided however that the Company is not permitted to change its settlement

election after July 21 2014

The net proceeds of this offering were approximately $488.2 million after deducting discounts commissions

and expenses Contemporaneously with the closing of the sale of the 4.0% Notes portion of the net proceeds

from the sale of the 4.0% Notes was used to repurchase 2.0 million shares of the Companys Class common

stock valued at $50.0 million based on the closing stock price of $24.80 on April 20 2009 These repurchased

shares were immediately retired by the Company The repurchased shares were recorded as reduction to Class

common stock for the par value of the Class common stock as well as an increase to accumulated deficit

Concurrently with the pricing of the 4.0% Notes the Company entered into convertible note hedge

transactions whereby the Company purchased from affiliates of certain of the initial purchasers of the 4.0% Notes

an option covering 16458196 shares of its Class common stock at an initial strike price of $30.38 per share

the same as the initial conversion price of the notes Separately and concurrently with the pricing of the 4.0%

Notes the Company entered into warrant transactions whereby it sold to affiliates of certain of the initial

purchasers of the 4.0% Notes warrants to acquire 16458196 shares of its Class common stock at an initial

price of $44.64 per share The Company used approximately $61.6 million of the net proceeds from the 4.0%

Notes offering plus the proceeds from the warrant transactions to fund the cost of the convertible note hedge

transactions The convertible note hedge transactions and the warrant transactions taken as whole effectively

increase the conversion price of the 4.0% Notes from $30.38 per share to $44.64 per share reflecting premium

of 80% based on the closing stock price of $24.80 per share of the Companys Class common stock on April

20 2009 If the market price of the Companys Class common stock exceeded the upper strike price of $44.64

per share on the conversion date of the 4.0% Notes then the Company will be subject to dilution or cost upon

conversion of the 4.0% Notes The remaining net proceeds of $376.6 million were used for general corporate

purposes including repurchases or repayments of the Companys outstanding debt

The Company is amortizing the debt discount on the 4.0% Notes utilizing the effective interest method over

the life of the 4.0% Notes which increases the effective interest rate of the 4.0% Notes from its coupon rate of
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4.0% to 13.0% The Company incurred cash interest expense of $20.0 million and $13.8 million for the years

ended December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively and non-cash interest expense of $25.6 million and $15.8

million for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively As of December 31 2010 the canying

amount of the equity component related to the 4.0% Notes was $169.0 million

The 4.0 Notes are reflected in long-term debt in the Companys Consolidated Balance Sheets at carrying

value The following table summarizes the balances for the 4.0% Notes

Asof Asof

December 31 2010 December 31 2009

in thousands

Principal balance 500000

Debt discount 131537

368463

500000

157180

342820

Senior Notes

On July 24 2009 the Companys wholly-owned subsidiary SBA Telecommunications Inc

Telecommunications issued $750.0 million of unsecured senior notes the Senior Notes $375.0 million of

which are due August 15 2016 the 2016 Notes and $375.0 million of which are due August 15 2019 the
2019 Notes The 2016 Notes have an interest rate of 8.00% and were issued at price of 99.330% of their face

value The 2019 Notes have an interest rate of 8.25% and were issued at price of 99.152% of their face value

Interest on the 2016 Notes and 2019 Notes is due semi-annually on February 15 and August 15 of each year

beginning on February 15 2010 The Company incurred deferred financing fees of approximately $16.5 million

in relation to this transaction which are being amortized through the anticipated repayment date of each of the

Senior Notes Net proceeds of this offering were $727.8 million after deducting expenses and the original issue

discount

Telecommunications used the net proceeds from this offering to repay the 2005 CMBS Certificates issued by
its subsidiary and the related prepayment consideration repay and terminate the Optasite Credit Facility and repay

Senior Credit Facility and 0.375% Notes The remaining net proceeds were used for general corporate purposes

The 2016 Notes and the 2019 Notes are subject to redemption in whole or in part on or after August 15 2012

and on or after August 15 2014 respectively at the redemption prices set forth in the indenture agreement plus

accrued and unpaid interest Prior to August 15 2012 for the 2016 Notes and August 15 2014 for the 2019

Notes Telecommunications may at its option redeem all or portion of the 2016 Notes or 2019 Notes at

redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof plus make whole premium plus accrued and

unpaid interest In addition Telecommunications may redeem up to 35% of the originally issued aggregate

principal amount of each of the 2016 Notes and 2019 Notes with the net proceeds of certain equity offerings at

redemption price of 108.00% and 108.25% respectively of the principal amount of the redeemed notes plus

accrued and unpaid interest

The Company is amortizing the debt discount on the 2016 Notes and 2019 Notes utilizing the effective

interest method over the life of the 2016 Notes and 2019 Notes respectively

The Company incurred cash interest expense related to the 2016 Notes of $30.0 million and $13.1 million for

the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively and non-cash interest expense of $0.3 million and

$0.1 million for years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively

Canying value
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The Company incurred cash interest expense related to the 2019 Notes of $30.9 million and $13.5 million for

the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively and non-cash interest expense of $0.2 million and

$0.1 million for
years

ended December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively

The Indenture governing the Senior Notes contains customary covenants subject to number of exceptions

and qualifications including restrictions on Telecommunications ability to incur additional indebtedness

unless its Consolidated Indebtedness to Annualized Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA Ratio as defined in the

Indenture pro forma for the additional indebtedness does not exceed 7.Ox for the fiscal quarter merge

consolidate or sell assets make restricted payments including dividends or other distributions enter into

transactions with affiliates and enter into sale and leaseback transactions and restrictions on the ability of

Telecommunications Restricted Subsidiaries as de lined in the Indenture to incur liens securing indebtedness

SBA Communications Corporation is holding company with no business operations of its own and its only

significant asset is the outstanding capital stock of Telecommunications Telecommunications is 100% owned by

SBA Communications Corporation The Company has fully and unconditionally guaranteed the Senior Notes

issued by Telecommunications

On July 15 2010 Telecommunications and the Company consummated an exchange offer pursuant to which

outstanding unregistered notes of each series of the Senior Notes were exchanged for registered notes of the

respective series

2010 Credit Facility

On February 11 2010 SBA Senior Finance II an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered

into credit agreement for $500.0 million senior secured revolving credit facility the 2010 Credit Facility

with several banks and other financial institutions or entities from time to time parties to the credit agreement the

Credit Agreement Amounts borrowed under the 2010 Credit Facility are secured by first lien on the capital

stock of Telecommunications SBA Senior Finance Inc and SBA Senior Finance II and substantially all of the

assets other than leasehold easement or fee interests in real property of SBA Senior Finance II and the

Subsidiary Guarantors as defined in the Credit Agreement The Company incurred deferred financing fees of

$4.9 million associated with the closing of this transaction In addition at the time of termination of the Senior

Credit Facility the remaining deferred financing fees balance of approximately $1.0 million was transferred to the

2010 Credit Facility in accordance with FASB accounting guidance for revolving credit facilities

The 2010 Credit Facility consists of revolving loan up to $500.0 million based on SBA Senior Finance IIs

ratio of Annualized Adjusted EBTTDA to Consolidated Total Debt plus Net Hedge Exposure may be borrowed

repaid and redrawn subject to compliance with specific financial ratios and the satisfaction of other customary

conditions to borrowing as set forth in the Credit Agreement The Credit Agreement requires SBA Senior

Finance II and the Company to maintain specific financial ratios including at the SBA Senior Finance II level

ratio of Consolidated Total Debt to Annualized Borrower EBITDA as defined in the Credit Agreement that does

not exceed .Ox for any fiscal quarter ratio of Consolidated Total Debt and Net Hedge Exposure as defined in

the Credit Agreement to Annualized Borrower EBITDA for the most recently ended fiscal quarter not to exceed

5.Ox for 30 consecutive days and ratio of Annualized Borrower EBITDA to Annualized Cash Interest Expense

as defined in the Credit Agreement of not less than 2.Ox for any fiscal quarter addition the Companys ratio

of Consolidated Total Net Debt to Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA as defined in the Credit Agreement for any

fiscal quarter on an annualized basis cannot exceed 8.9x The Credit Agreement also contains customary

affirmative and negative covenants that among other things limit SBA Senior Finance IIs ability to incur

indebtedness grant certain liens make certain investments enter into sale leaseback transactions or engage in

certain asset dispositions including sale of all or substantially all of its assets As of December 31 2010 the
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Company and SBA Senior Finance II were in frill compliance with the financial covenants contained in the 2010

Credit Facility

Amounts borrowed under the 2010 Credit Facility accrue interest at the Eurodollar rate plus margin that

ranges from 187.5 basis points to 237.5 basis points or at Base Rate as defined in the Credit Agreement plus

margin that ranges from 87.5 basis points to 137.5 basis points in each case based on the ratio of Consolidated

Total Debt to Annualized Borrower EBITDA as defined in the Credit Agreement 0.375% to 0.5% per annum

fee is charged on the amount of unused commitment If it is not earlier terminated by SBA Senior Finance II the

2010 Credit Facility will terminate on and SBA Senior Finance II will repay all amounts outstanding on or

before February 11 2015 Proceeds available under the 2010 Credit Facility may be used for general corporate

purposes

As of December 31 2010 the Company had $20.0 million outstanding under the 2010 Credit Facility and the

weighted average interest rate for the amounts outstanding was 2.15% As of December 31 2010 the availability

under the 2010 Credit Facility was $480.0 million The Company may from time to time borrow from and repay

the 2010 Credit Facility Consequently the amount outstanding under the 2010 Credit Facility at the end of

period may not be reflective of the total amounts outstanding during the period

The 2010 Credit Facility also permits the Company to request that one or more lenders increase their

proportionate share of the 2010 Credit Facility commitment up to an additional $200.0 million in the aggregate

and provide SBA Senior Finance II term loans for an aggregate amount up to $800.0 million without

requesting consent of the other lenders SBA Senior Finance IIs ability to request such increase of the 2010

Credit Facility or term loans is subject to its compliance with the conditions set forth in the Credit Agreement

including with respect to any term loan compliance on pro forma basis with the financial covenants and ratios

set forth therein Upon SBA Senior Finance IIs request each lender may decide in its sole discretion whether to

increase all or portion of its revolving credit facility commitment or whether to provide SBA Senior Finance II

term loans and if so upon what terms

The Company incurred cash interest expense of $1.7 million for the year ended December 31 2010 relating to

the 2010 Credit Facility

Senior Credit Facility

On January 18 2008 SBA Senior Finance an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered into

Senior Credit Facility the Senior Credit Facility with several banks and other financial institutions or entities

from time to time parties to the credit agreement The Company incurred deferred financing fees of $2.8 million

associated with the closing of this transaction

Amounts borrowed under the facility accrued interest at the Eurodollar rate plus margin that ranged from

150.0 basis points to 300.0 basis points or at Base Rate as defined in the Restated Credit Agreement plus

margin that ranged from 50.0 basis points to 200.0 basis points in each case based on the Consolidated Total

Debt to Annualized Borrower EBITDA ratio as defined in the Restated Credit Agreement and discussed below
0.5% per annum fee was charged on the amount of unused commitment

During the year ended December 31 2009 SBA Senior Finance borrowed $8.5 million and repaid $239.1

million under its Senior Credit Facility which is presented within Cash flows from financing activities on the

Companys Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows The Company used or designated such proceeds for

construction and acquisition of towers and for ground lease buyouts The weighted average interest rate for

amounts borrowed under the Senior Credit Facility during the year ended December 31 2009 was 2.46% The
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Company incurred cash interest expense of $0.2 million for the year ended December 31 2010 relating to the

Senior Credit Facility

On February 11 2010 the Company terminated its $320.0 million Senior Credit Facility The Company had

no borrowings under the Senior Credit Facility at the time of its termination No early termination penalties were

incurred by the Company as result of the termination

Optasite Credit Facility

On September 16 2008 in connection with the acquisition of Optasite the Company assumed Optasites

fully drawn $150.0 million senior credit facility the Optasite Credit Facility The Company recorded the

Optasite Credit Facility at its fair value of $147.0 niillion on the date of acquisition Interest on the Optasite Credit

Facility accrued at the one month Eurodollar Rate plus 165.0 basis points and interest payments were due

monthly Commencing November 2008 the Company began paying the required installment payments on the

Optasite Credit Facility On July 31 2009 the Company paid off the facility in full and the facility was

subsequently terminated The Company recorded loss on the early extinguishment of debt of $1.9 million

The Company incurred cash interest expense of $1.8 million and $1.9 million for the years ended December

31 2009 and 2008 respectively The Company incurred non-cash interest expense of $0.8 million and $0.4

million for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively

13 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Optasite Derivative Instruments

The Company acquired various derivative ins Iruments as part of the Optasite acquisition on September 16

2008 which were valued at $4.4 million The derivative instruments did not qualify for hedge accounting The

Company terminated the majority of the derivative instruments on October 2008 for $3.9 million For the year

ended December 31 2008 the Company recognized net gain of $0.5 million on these derivatives which is

included in interest expense on the Companys Consolidated Statements of Operations

2006 CMBS Certificate Swaps

During 2006 an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered into nine forward-starting swap

agreements the 2006 CMBS Certificate Swaps in anticipation of the 2006 CMBS Transaction In October

2006 the Company terminated the 2006 CMBS Certificate Swaps in connection with entering into the purchase

and sale agreement for the 2006 CMBS Certificates see Note 12 The Company determined portion of the

swaps to be an effective cash flow hedge and as result recorded deferred loss of $12.8 million in accumulated

other comprehensive loss net of applicable income taxes on the Companys Consolidated Balance Sheets The

deferred loss is being amortized utilizing the effective interest method over the anticipated five year life of the

2006 CMBS Certificates and increases the effective interest rate on these certificates by 0.3% On April 16 2010

the Company wrote-off the remaining unamortized deferred loss of $3.6 million in connection with the repayment

of the 2006 CMBS Certificates see Note 12

The Company recorded amortization of $0.6 million $2.3 million and $2.4 million as non-cash interest

expense on the Companys Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31 2010 2009

and 2008 respectively
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2005 CMBS Certificate Swaps

On June 22 2005 an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered into two forward-starting

interest rate swap agreements the 2005 CMBS Certificate Swaps in anticipation of the 2005 CMBS
Transaction On November 2005 the Company entered into purchase agreement regarding the purchase and

sale of 2005 CMBS Certificates see Note 12 In connection with this agreement the Company terminated the

2005 CMBS Certificate Swaps The Company determined the swaps to be an effective cash flow hedge and as

result recorded deferred gain of $14.8 million in accumulated other comprehensive loss net of applicable

income taxes on the Companys Consolidated Balance Sheets The deferred gain was being amortized utilizing

the effective interest method over the anticipated five year life of the 2005 CMBS Certificates and reduced the

effective interest rate on these certificates by 0.8% On July 28 2009 the Company wrote-off the remaining

unamortized net deferred gain of $3.9 million in connection with the repayment of the 2005 CMBS Certificates

The Company recorded amortization of $1.7 million and $3.0 million as an offset to non-cash interest

expense on the Companys Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31 2009 and

2008 respectively

14 REDEEMABLE NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS

In connection with the Companys business operations in Canada and Central America the Company entered

into agreements with non-affiliated joint venture partners that contain both put option for its partners and call

option for the Company requiring or allowing the Company in certain circumstances to purchase the remaining

interest in such entity at price based on predetermined earnings multiples Each of these options is triggered

upon the occurrence of specified events and/or upon the passage of time The put rights may be exercised on

varying dates causing the Company to purchase the applicable partners equity interests the Redemption

Amount based on formula defined in the respective joint venture agreements None of these options are

currently exercisable by either the Company or its partners The noncontrolling interest is classified as

redeemable equity interest in mezzanine or temporary equity on the Companys Consolidated Balance Sheets

The Company allocates income and losses to the noncontrolling interest holder based on the applicable

membership interest percentage After applying those provisions the Company calculates the redemption amount

at each reporting period and records the amount if any by which the redemption amount exceeds the book value

as charge against income loss available to common shareholders As of December 31 2010 the redeemable

noncontrolling interest presented on the Companys Consolidated Balance Sheet represents the estimated fair

value of the amount the Company could be required to pay to redeem the noncontrolling interest at the date of the

exercise of either the put or the call option

In December 2010 the Company acquired an additional 10% interest in the Central American joint venture

for consideration of $7.5 million This acquisition increased the Companys ownership to 90% of the joint

venture As of December 2010 the 10% noncontrolling interest was valued at $12.5 million In addition the

Company paid approximately $0.7 million in exchange for 4.6% interest in Canadian joint venture increasing

the Companys interest in that joint venture to 95.4% The acquisition of the noncontrolling interest has been

reflected as reduction of additional-paid-in capital in accordance with ASC 810

15 SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

Common Stock equivalents

The Company has potential common stock equivalents related to its outstanding stock options see Note 16
restricted stock units the 1.875% Notes and the 4.0% Notes see Note 12 These potential common stock
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equivalents were not included in diluted loss per share because the effect would have been anti-dilutive for the

years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively Accordingly basic and diluted loss per common

share and the weighted average number of shares used in the computation are the same for the years presented

Stock Repurchases

The Companys Board of Directors authorized stock repurchase program effective November 2009 This

program authorizes the Company to purchase from time to time up to $250.0 million of the Companys

outstanding common stock through open market repurchases in compliance with Rule lOb-18 of the Securities

Act of 1933 as amended and/or in privately negotiated transactions at managements discretion based on market

and business conditions applicable legal requirements and other factors This program will continue until

otherwise modified or terminated by the Companys Board of Directors at any time in the Companys sole

discretion During the year ended December 31 2010 in connection with the stock repurchase program the

Company repurchased and retired 3174385 shares for an aggregate of $107.4 million including commissions and

fees During the year ended December 31 2009 the Company repurchased and retired approximately 52000

shares for an aggregate of $1.7 million including commissions and fees As of December 31 2010 the Company
had remaining authorization to repurchase an additional $140.9 million of its common stock under its current

$250.0 million stock repurchase program

In April 2009 the Company repurchased and retired approximately 2.0 million shares valued at

approximately $50.0 million based on the closing stock price of $24.80 on April 20 2009 in connection with the

issuance of the 4.0% Notes See Note 12

In May 2008 the Company repurchased and retired approximately 3.47 million shares valued at

approximately $120.0 million based on the closing stock price of $34.55 on May 12 2008 in connection with the

issuance of the 1.875% Notes See Note 12

Registration ofAdditional Shares

On May 20 2010 the Company filed registration statement on Form S-8 with the Securities and Exchange

Commission registering 15.0 million shares of the Companys Class common stock issuable under the 2010

Performance and Equity Incentive Plan

The Company filed shelf registration statements on Form S-4 with the Securities and Exchange Commission

registering 4.0 million of its Class common stock in 2007 These shares may be issued in connection with

acquisitions of wireless communication towers or antenna sites and related assets or companies that own wireless

communication towers antenna sites or related assets During the year ended December 31 2010 the Company

did not issue any shares of its Class common stock pursuant to this registration statement in connection with

acquisitions During the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 the Company issued approximately 0.9

million shares and 1.3 million shares respectively of its Class common stock pursuant to this registration

statement in connection with acquisitions At December 31 2010 approximately 1.7 million shares remain

available for issuance under this shelf registration statement

On November 12 2008 the Company filed registration statement on Form S-8 with the Securities and

Exchange Commission registering 500000 shares of its Class common stock issuable under the 2008

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

On March 2009 the Company filed with the Commission an automatic shelf registration statement for

well-known seasoned issuers on Form S-3ASR This registration statement enables the Company to issue shares

of the Companys Class common stock preferred stock or debt securities either separately or represented by
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warrants or depositary shares as well as units that include any of these securities Under the rules governing

automatic shelf registration statements the Company will file prospectus supplement and advise the

Commission of the amount and type of securities each time the Company issues securities under this registration

statement For the year ended December 31 2010 the Company did not issue any securities under this automatic

shelf registration statement

On May 17 2007 the Company filed with the Commission an automatic shelf registration statement on Form

S-3 registering the resale by selling security holders of our 0.375% Notes and shares of our Class Common

Stock which are issuable upon conversion of the 0.375% Notes The 0.375% Notes were originally issued in

private placement on March 26 2007 see Note 12

Other Common Stock Transactions

During 2008 in connection with the Optasite acquisition the Company issued 7.25 million shares of its Class

common stock

Shareholder Rights Plan and Preferred Stock

During January 2002 the Companys Board of Directors adopted shareholder rights plan and declared

dividend of one preferred stock purchase right for each outstanding share of the Companys common stock Each

of these rights which are currently not exercisable will entitle the holder to purchase one one-thousandth 1/1000
of share of the Companys newly designated Series Junior Participating Preferred Stock In the event that any

person or group acquires beneficial ownership of 15% or more of the outstanding shares of the Companys
common stock or commences or announces an intention to commence tender offer that would result in such

person or group owning 15% or more of the Companys common stock each holder of right other than the

acquirer will be entitled to receive upon payment of the exercise price number of shares of common stock

having market value equal to two times the exercise price of the right In order to retain flexibility and the ability

to maximize shareholder value in the event of transactions that may arise in the future the Board retains the

power to redeem the rights for set amount The rights were distributed on January 25 2002 and expire on

January 10 2012 unless earlier redeemed or exchanged or terminated in accordance with the Rights Agreement

16 STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company has three equity participation plans the 1999 Equity Participation Plan the 2001 Equity

Participation Plan and the 2010 Performance and Equity Incentive Plan the 2010 Plan whereby options both

non-qualified and incentive stock options restricted stock units stock appreciation rights and other equity and

performance based instruments may be granted to directors employees and consultants The options and

restricted stock units generally vest from the date of grant on straight-line basis over the vesting term and

generally have seven-year or ten-year contractual life

Upon the adoption of the 2010 Plan by the Companys shareholders on May 2010 no further grants were

permitted under the 2001 Equity Participation Plan Upon adoption of the 2001 Equity Participation Plan no

further grants were permitted under the 1999 Equity Participation Plan The 2010 Plan provides for the issuance

of maximum of 15.0 million shares of our Class common stock however the aggregate number of shares that

may be issued pursuant to restricted stock awards restricted stock unit awards stock bonus awards performance

awards other stock-based awards or other awards granted under the 2010 Plan will not exceed 7.5 million As of

December 31 2010 the Company had 14990586 shares remaining available for future issuance under the 2010

Plan
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From time to time restricted shares of Class common stock or options to purchase Class common stock

have been granted under the Companys equity participation plans at prices below market value at the time of

grant The Company did not have any non-cash compensation expense during the years ended December 31

2010 2009 and 2008 respectively relating to the issuance of restricted shares or options to purchase Class

common stock at below market value at the time of grant

Stock Options

The Company records compensation expense for employee stock options based on the estimated fair value of

the options on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the assumptions included in

the table below The Company uses combination of historical data and historical volatility to establish the

expected volatility Historical data is used to estiniate the expected option life and the expected forfeiture rate

The risk-free rate is based on the U.S Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant for the estimated life of

the option The following assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of options granted using the Black

Scholes option-pricing model

For the year ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Risk free interest rate 1.35% 1.83% 1.30% 1.92% 2.10% 2.97%

Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Expected volatility 55.2% 55.7% 41.6%

Expected lives 3.60 4.30 years 3.21 4.08 years 3.35 3.73 years
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The following table summarizes the Companys activities with respect to its stock option plans for the years

ended 2010 2009 and 2008 as follows dollars and number of shares in thousands except for per share data

Weighted-

Weighted- Average

Average Remaining Aggregate

Number Exercise Price Contractual Intrinsic Value

of Shares Per Share Life in years in thousands

Outstanding at December 31 2007 3797 15.71

Granted 917 32.55

Exercised 655 8.45

Canceled 271 25.84

Outstanding at December 31 2008 3788 20.31

Granted 1151 20.26

Exercised 659 9.69

Canceled 88 30.43

Outstanding at December 31 2009 4192 21.76

Granted 539 35.64

Exercised 889 17.01

Canceled 51 27.03

Outstanding at December31 2010 3791 24.77 4.7 61291

Exercisable at December 31 2010 1867 21.76 4.2 35822

Unvested at December31 2010 1924 27.70 5.1 25469

The weighted-average per share fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31 2010

2009 and 2008 was $15.88 $8.79 and $10.96 respectively

The total intrinsic value for options exercised during the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 was

$17.8 million $12.2 million and $14.6 million respectively Cash received from option exercises under all plans

for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 was approximately $15.1 million $6.4 million and $5.5

million respectively No tax benefit was realized for the tax deductions from option exercises under all plans for

the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

Additional information regarding options outstanding and exercisable at December 31 2010 is as follows

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted Average Weighted Weighted

Outstanding Contractual Life Average Exercisable Average

Range in thousands in years Exercise Price in thousands Exercise Price

$0.00 -$5.25 123 2.8 3.45 123 3.45

$5.26- $10.50 256 4.0 8.54 256 8.54

$l0.51-$2l.00 1390 5.1 19.42 628 19.10

$21.01 -$31.50 759 3.8 28.31 503 28.39

$31.51 -$52.50 1263 5.0 33.92 357 32.91

3791 1867
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The following table summarizes the activity of options outstanding that had not yet vested

Weighted-

Average

Number Fair Value

of Shares Per Share

Unvested as of December 31 2009 2345 9.54

Shares granted 539 15.88

Vesting during period 910 9.55

Forfeited or canceled 50 11.24

Unvested as of December 31 2010 1924 11.35

The aggregate intrinsic value for stock options in the preceding tables represents the total intrinsic value

based on the Companys closing stock price of $40.94 as of December 31 2010 The amount represents the total

intrinsic value that would have been received by the holders of the stock-based awards had these awards been

exercised and sold as of that date

As of December 31 2010 the total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock options

outstanding under the Plans is $14.0 million That cost is expected to be recognized over weighted average

period of 2.3 years

The total fair value of shares vested during 2010 2009 and 2008 was $8.7 million $7.2 million and $6.2

million respectively

Restricted Stock Units

The following table summarized the Companys restricted stock unit activity for the year ended December 31

2010

Weighted-

Average

Number of Grant Date

Units Fair Value per share

in thousands

Outstanding at December31 2009

Granted 134 35.59

Vested 35.71

Forfeited/canceled 35.71

Outstanding at December 312010 130 35.58

As of December 31 2010 total unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested restricted stock units

granted under the 2010 Plan was $3.7 million and is expected to be recognized over weighted-average period of

3.22 years

F-39



SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In 1999 the Board of Directors of the Company adopted the 1999 Stock Purchase Plan the 1999 Purchase

Plan total of 500000 shares of Class common stock were reserved for purchase under the 1999 Purchase

Plan During 2003 an amendment to the 1999 Purchase Plan was adopted which increased the number of shares

reserved for purchase from 500000 to 1500000 shares In April 2009 the 1999 Plan expired and no shares were

issued during 2009 During 2008 the Company adopted the 2008 Employee Stock Purchase Plan 2008 Purchase

Plan which reserved 500000 shares of Class common stock for purchase The 2008 Purchase Plan permits

eligible employee participants to purchase Class common stock at price per share which is equal to 85% of

the fair market value of Class common stock on the last day of an offering period

For the year ended December 31 2010 34597 shares of Class common stock were issued under the 2008

Purchase Plan which resulted in cash proceeds to the Company of approximately $1.1 million compared to the

year ended December 31 2009 when approximately 30692 shares of Class common stock were issued under

the 2008 Purchase Plan which resulted in cash proceeds to the Company of $0.7 million At December 31 2010

434711 shares remained available for issuance under the 2008 Purchase Plan In addition the Company recorded

$0.2 million $0.1 million and $0.2 million of non-cash compensation expense relating to the shares issued under

the 2008 and 1999 Purchase Plans for each of the
years

ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

Non-Cash Compensation Expense

The table below reflects break out by category of the non-cash compensation expense amounts recognized

on the Companys Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008

respectively

For the year ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

in thousands except per share amounts

Cost of revenues 189 192 295

Selling general and administrative 10312 8008 6912

Total cost of non-cash compensation included

in loss before provision for income taxes 10501 8200 7207

Amount of income tax recognized in earnings

Amount charged against loss 10501 8200 7207

In addition the Company capitalized $0.1 million $0.1 million and $0.2 million relating to non-cash

compensation for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively to fixed and intangible assets

17 ASSET IMPAIRMENT

The Company evaluates its individual long-lived and related assets with finite lives for indicators of

impairment to determine when an impairment analysis should be performed The Company evaluates its tower

assets and Current contract intangibles at the tower level which is the lowest level for which identifiable cash

flows exists The Company evaluates its Network location intangibles for impairment at the tower leasing

business level The Company has established policy to at least annually evaluate its tower assets and Current

contract intangibles for impairment In 2010 as result of the annual impairment evaluation the Company
recorded $5.9 million impairment charge on 59 towers and related assets that are not expected to achieve

previously anticipated lease-up results The amount of impairment was determined by using discounted cash

flow analysis which included estimates and assumptions such as general market and economic conditions
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historical operating results geographic location lease-up potential and expected timing of lease-up In 2009 as

result of the annual impairment evaluation the Company recorded $2.0 million impairment charge on 21 towers

and related assets that were not expected to achieve previously anticipated lease-up results In addition the

Company recorded $1.9 million impairment charge on its six DAS networks based on the estimated fair value of

the DAS networks The amount of impairment was determined by using discounted cash flow analysis

18 ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME LOSS NET

Accumulated other comprehensive income loss net has no impact on the Companys net loss but is

reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheet through adjustments to shareholders equity Accumulated other

comprehensive income loss net derives from the amortization of deferred gain loss from settlement of

derivative financial instruments relating to the CMBS Certificates issuance see Note 12 the unfunded projected

benefit obligation relating to the Companys pension plan and the Companys foreign currency translation

adjustment rollforward of accumulated other comprehensive income loss net for the years ended December

31 2010 2009 and 2008 is as follows

Change in

Deferred Unfunded Foreign

Gain Loss Projected Currency

from Settlement Benefit Translation

of Swaps Obligation Adjustments Total

in thousands

Balance December 31 2007 1311 31 1280
Amortization of net deferred gain from settlement

of derivative financial instruments 557 557
Write-off of net deferred loss from derivative

instruments related to repurchase of debt 319 319

Change in unfunded projected benefit obligation

as result of plan termination 31 31

Balance December 31 2008 1549 1549

Amortization of net deferred loss from settlement

of derivative financial instruments 622 622

Write-off of net deferred gain from derivative

instruments related to repurchase of debt 3350 3350

Foreign currency translation adjustments 1474 1474

Balance December 312009 4277 1474 2803

Amortization of deferred loss from settlement

of derivative financial instruments 632 632

Write-off of deferred loss from derivative

instruments related to repurchase of debt 3645 3645

Foreign currency translation adjustments 701 701

Balance December3l20l0 2175 2175

There is no net tax impact for the components of other comprehensive income loss due to the full valuation

allowance on the Companys deferred tax assets
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19 INCOME TAXES

Loss before provision for income taxes by geographic area is as follows

For the year ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

in thousands

Domestic 193048 140425 65950

Foreign 368 202 177

Total 193416 140627 66127

The provision for income taxes consists of the following components

For the year ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

in thousands

Current provision for taxes

Federal 127 127

Foreign 897 69

State 845 730 747

Total current 1742 672 878

Deferred benefit provision for taxes

Federal income taxes 59363 46835 17854
State and local taxes 6083 5314 3987

Foreign tax 388 220

Increase in valuation allowance 65097 51749 22002

Total deferred 737 180 159

Total provision for income taxes 1005 492 1037

reconciliation of the provision for income taxes at the statutory U.S Federal tax rate 35% and the

effective income tax rate is as follows

For the year ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

in thousands

Statutory Federal benefit 67696 48586 16004

Foreign tax 1065 158

State and local taxes 3405 2980 2106
Convertible debt interest expense and COD income 4364 1029 3514
Other 1580 1180 663

Valuation allowance 65097 51749 22002

Provision for income taxes 1005 492 1037
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The components of the net deferred income tax asset liability accounts are as follows

As of December 31

2010 2009

in thousands

Current deferred tax assets

Allowance for doubtful accounts 70 70

Deferred revenue 23522 21190

Accrued liabilities 720 839

Valuation allowance 24268 22099
Total current deferred tax assets net 44

Noncurrent deferred tax assets

Net operating losses 385516 362752

Property equipment intangible basis differences 29463 32022

Accrued liabilities 8640 8912

Straight-line rents 9100 8723

Non-cash compensation 6162 4644

Other 2877 517

Total noncurrent deferred tax assets 441758 417570

Noncurrent deferred tax liabilities

Property equipment intangible basis differences 327339 335230
Convertible debt instruments 5117 7163
Early extinguishment of debt 1587
Other 3403 1503
Valuation allowance 113490 74592

Total noncurrent deferred tax liabilities net 7591 2505

The Company has recorded valuation allowance for deferred tax assets as management believes that it is not

more likely than not that the Company will be able to generate sufficient taxable income in future periods to

recognize the assets The net change in the valuation allowance for the
years

ended December 31 2010 and 2009

was $41.1 million and $52.1 million respectively Additionally at December 31 2010 the Company recorded

valuation allowance relating to federal and state tax credit carryovers of approximately $1.0 million and $0.4

million respectively These tax credits expire beginning 2017

The Company has available at December 31 2010 net federal operating tax loss carry-forward of

approximately $1.1 billion and an additional $109.4 million of net operating tax loss carry forward from stock

options which will benefit additional paid-in capital when the loss is utilized These net operating tax loss
carry-

forwards will expire between 2019 and 2030 The Internal Revenue Code places limitations upon the future

availability of net operating losses based upon changes in the equity of the Company If these occur the ability of

the Company to offset future income with existing net operating losses may be limited In addition the Company

has available at December 31 2010 foreign net operating loss carry-forward of $6.0 million and net state

operating tax loss carry-forward of approximately $5 55.6 million These net operating tax loss carry-forwards will

expire between 2011 and 2030

In accordance with the Companys methodology for determining when stock option deductions are deemed

realized the Company utilizes with-and-without approach that will result in benefit not being recorded in

APIC if the amount of available net operating loss carry-forwards generated from operations is sufficient to offset

the current year taxable income
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20 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Operating Leases and Capital Leases

The Company is obligated under various non-cancelable operating leases for land office space equipment

and site leases that expire at various times through August 2128 In addition the Company is obligated under

various non-cancelable capital leases for vehicles that expire at various times through December 2015 The

amounts applicable to capital leases for vehicles included in property and equipment net were

Asof Asof

December 31 2010 December 31 2009

in thousands

Vehicles 3110 1980

Less accumulated depreciation 1241 758

Vehicles net 1869 1222

The annual minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating and capital leases in effect as of

December 31 2010 are as follows in thousands

For the year ended

December 31 Capital Leases Operating Leases

2011 646 63369

2012 425 63176

2013 319 62526
2014 173 62961

2015 62696

Thereafter 1110591

Total minimum lease payments 1570 1425319

Less amount representing interest 109
Present value of future payments 1461

Less current obligations 587

Long-term obligations 874

The majority of operating leases provide for renewal at varying escalations Fixed rate escalations have been

included in the table disclosed above

Rent expense for operating leases was $75.4 million $72.6 million and $63.3 million for the
years ended

December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively In addition certain of the Companys leases include contingent

rent provisions which provide for the lessor to receive additional rent upon the attainment of certain tower

operating results and or lease-up Contingent rent expense for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008

was $12.5 million $9.9 million and $8.1 million respectively
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Tenant Leases

The annual minimum tower lease income to be received for tower space and antenna rental under non-

cancelable operating leases in effect as of December 31 2010 is as follows

Litigation

Capital Lease Obligations

For the year ended December 31

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

Thereafter

Total

Contingent Purchase Obligations
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in thousands

502314

427447

349600

258282

141105

203761

1882509

Principally all of the leases provide for renewal generally at the tenants option at varying escalations Fixed

rate escalations have been included in the table disclosed above

The Company is involved in various claims lawsuits and proceedings arising in the ordinary course of

business While there are uncertainties inherent in the ultimate outcome of such matters and it is impossible to

presently determine the ultimate costs that may be incurred management believes the resolution of such

uncertainties and the incurrence of such costs will not have material adverse effect on the Companys

consolidated financial position results of operations or liquidity

The Companys capital lease obligations outstanding were $1.5 million as of December 31 2010 and $1.0

million as of December 31 2009 As of December 31 2010 these obligations bore interest rates ranging from

0.4% to 4.9% and will mature in periods ranging from approximately one to five years

From time to time the Company agrees to pay additional consideration or earnouts for acquisitions if the

towers or businesses that are acquired meet or exceed certain performance targets in the one to three years after

they have been acquired For the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 certain earnings targets associated

with the acquired towers were achieved and therefore the Company paid in cash $8.7 million and $3.4 million

respectively For the year ended December 31 2009 the Company issued approximately 78000 shares of Class

common stock as result of acquired towers exceeding certain performance targets As of December 31 2010 the

Companys estimate of its potential obligation if the performance targets contained in various acquisition

agreements were met was $3.3 million which the Company recorded in accrued expenses The maximum

potential obligation related to the performance targets was $7.9 million as of December 31 2010 These

obligations are associated with new build and tower acquisition programs within the Companys site leasing

segment On certain acquisitions at the Companys option additional consideration may be paid in cash or shares

of Class common stock
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21 DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN

The Company has defined contribution profit sharing plan under Section 401k of the Internal Revenue

Code that provides for voluntary employee contributions up to the limitations set forth in Section 402g of the

Internal Revenue Code Employees have the opportunity to participate following completion of three months of

employment and must be 21
years

of age Employer matching begins immediately upon the employees

participation in the plan For the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 the Company made

discretionary matching contribution of 50% of an employees contributions up to maximum of $3000

Company matching contributions were approximately $0.7 million $0.7 million and $0.7 million for
years

ended

December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

22 SEGMENT DATA

The Company operates principally in three business segments site leasing site development consulting and

site development construction The Companys reportable segments are strategic business units that offer different

services They are managed separately based on the fundamental differences in their operations The site leasing

segment includes results of the managed and sublease businesses The Companys net sales originating and long-

lived assets held outside of the United States during each of the last three fiscal years were not material

Revenues cost of revenues exclusive of depreciation accretion and amortization capital expenditures

including assets acquired through the issuance of shares of the Companys Class common stock and

identifiable assets pertaining to the segments in which the Company continues to operate are presented below

As of December 31 2010

As of December 31 2009

Site Site Not

Development Development Identified by

Consultine Construction Sesment Total

3218892 4458 35567 141258 3400175

3093379 4651 27587 188029 3313646

Assets not identified by segment consist primarily of general corporste assets

Excludes depreciation amortization and accretion

Includes acquisitions and related earn-outs and vehicle capital lease additions

Site

Leasine

For the year ended December 31 2010

Revenues

Cost of revenues

Depreciation amortization and accretion

Operating income loss

Capital expenditures

For the year ended December 31 2009

Revenues

Cost of revenues

Depreciation amortization and accretion

Operating income loss

Capital expenditures

For the year ended December 31 2008

Revenues

Cost of revenues

Depreciation amortization and accretion

Operating income loss

Capital expenditures

Assets

in thousands

535444 19210 71965 626619

119141 14975 65326 199442

276598 185 1056 888 278727

78422 2552 25 6676 74273

393133 234 1501 925 395793

477007 17408 61098 555513

111842 13234 55467 180543

256703 183 811 840 258537

60542 2366 887 7067 54954

246569 104 794 625 248092

395541 18754 60659 474954

96175 15212 56778 168165

209298 181 759 1207 211445

50290 1747 2100 4355 45582

915452 188 688 748 917076
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23 QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA unaudited

Ouarter Ended

December 31

2010

165497

72723

16695

39161

in thousands except per share amounts

158642 154515

69727 68831

20668 20024

10 48932

34488 83699

147965

67446

16886

112

37326

Net loss per share basic and diluted 0.34 0.30 0.72 0.32

Quarter Ended

Revenues

Depreciation accretion and amortization

Operating income

Loss gain from extinguishment of debt net

Net loss attributable to SBA Communications Corporation

December 31

2009

144979

65687

12054

1472

43512

September 30 June 30 March 31

2009 2009 2009

in thousands except per share amounts

139289 136195 135050

64946 64251 63653

14952 13598 14350

12518 2381 5948

50109 29360 17890

Net loss per share basic and diluted 0.37 0.43 0.25 0.15

In the fourth quarter of 2010 the Company recorded $5.9 million impairment charge on 59 towers and related assets

that are not expected to achieve previously anticipated lease-up results see Note 17

Basic and diluted net loss per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of shares for

the period Potentially dilutive have been excluded from the computation of diluted loss per share as their impact would

have been anti-dilutive

Because loss per share amounts are calculated using the weighted average number of common and dilutive common

shares outstanding during each quarter the sum of the per share amounts for the four quarters may not equal the total loss

per share amounts for the year
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Exhibit 21

Subsidiaries of SBA Communications Corporation

As of December 31 2010 SBA Communications Corporation owned directly or indirectly 40 additional

subsidiaries 30 of which are incorporated in U.S jurisdictions and 10 of which are organized in foreign jurisdictions

These subsidiaries in the aggregate as single subsidiary would not constitute Significant Subsidiary as defined in

Rule 405 under the Securities Act as of December 31 2010

Name Relationship Jurisdiction

SBA Telecommunications Inc 100% owned by SBA Communications Corporation Florida

SBA Infrastructure Holdings Inc 100% owned by SBA Senior Finance II LLC Delaware

SBA Infrastructure LLC 100% owned by SBA Infrastructure Holdings Inc Delaware

SBA Senior Finance Inc 100% owned by SBA Telecommunications Inc Florida

SBA Senior Finance II LLC 100% owned by SBA Senior Finance Inc Florida

SBA Towers II LLC 100% owned by SBA Towers Inc Florida

SBA Towers Inc 100% owned by SBA Senior Finance II LLC Florida

SBA Structures Inc 100% owned by SBA Guarantor LLC Florida

SBA Holdings LLC 100% owned by SBA Senior Finance Inc Delaware

SBA Guarantor LLC 100% owned by SBA Holdings LLC Delaware



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements

Registration Statement Form S-3 No 333-41306

Registration Statement Form S-3 No 333-143033

Registration Statement Form S-3 No 333-157647

Registration Statement Form S-4 No 333-147473

Registration Statement Form S-4 No 333-166966

Registration Statement Form S-8 No 333-166969 pertain to 2010 Performance and Equity Incentive Plan

Registration Statement Form S-8 No 333-155289 pertaining to 2008 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Registration Statement Form S-8 No 333-69236 pertaining to 2001 Equity Participation Plan

Registration Statement Form S-8 No 333-46734 pertaining to 1999 Equity Participation Plan

10 Registration Statement Form S-8 No 333-139006 pertaining to 2001 Equity Participation Plan as Amended and Restated

on May 16 2002

of our reports dated February 25 2011 with respect to the consolidated financial statements of SBA Communications Corporation and

Subsidiaries and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of SBA Communications Corporation and Subsidiaries

included in this Annual Report Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2010

Is Ernst Young LLP

Boca Raton Florida

February 25 2011



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

Jeffrey Stoops Chief Executive Officer certify that

have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of SBA Communications Corporation

Based on myknowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state

material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such

statements were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report

fairly present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the

registrant as of and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officer and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure

controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a- 15e and 5d- 15e and internal control over

financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a- 15f and Sd-i 5f for the registrant and have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to

be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the registrant including

its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities particularly during the

period in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over financial

reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability

of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this

report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of

the period covered by this report based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that

occurred during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter in the case

of an annual report that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the

registrants internal control over financial reporting and

The registrants other certifying officer and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of internal

control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the registrants board

of directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over

financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to record

process summarize and report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have significant

role in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

Date February 25 2011

By /s/ Jeffrey Stoops

Name Jeffrey Stoops

Title Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

Brendan Cavanagh Chief Financial Officer certify that

have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of SBA Communications Corporation

Based on myknowledge this report does riot contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state

material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such

statements were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report

fairly present in all material respects the financial Łondition results of operations and cash flows of the

registrant as of and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officer and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure

controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a- 15e and 5d- 15e and internal control over

financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a- 15f and 5d- 15f for the registrant and have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to

be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the registrant including

its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities particularly during the

period in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over financial

reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability

of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this

report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of

the period covered by this report based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that

occurred during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter in the case

of an annual report that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the

registrants internal control over financial reporting and

The registrants other certifying officer and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of internal

control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the registrants board

of directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over

financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to record

process summarize and report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have significant

role in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

Date February 25 2011

By Is Brendan Cavanagh

Name Brendan Cavanagh

Title Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

Certification Required by 18 U.S.C Section 1350

as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of SBA Communications Corporation the company on Form 10-K for the

period ended December 31 2010 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof the

Report Jeffrey Stoops Chief Executive Officer of the Company certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 as

adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act that to the best of my knowledge

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13a or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

as amended and

The information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and results

of operations of the Company

Date February 25 2011

/s/ Jeffrey Stoops

Jeffrey Stoops

Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 32.2

Certification Required by 18 U.S.C Section 1350

as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of SBA Communications Corporation the Company on Form 10-K for the

period ended December 31 2010 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof the

Report Brendan Cavanagh Chief Financial Officer of the Company certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350

as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act that to the best of my knowledge

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13a or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

as amended and

The information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and results

of operations of the Company

Date February 25 2011

Is Brendan Cavanagh

Brendan Cavanagh

Chief Financial Officer



Performance Graph

SBA Class Common Stock began trading on The NASDAQ National Market on June 16 1999 when its initial public

offering commenced and is currently traded on the NASDAQ Global Select Market The following graph shows the total

return to the shareholders of an investment in SBAs Class Common Stock as compared to an investment in the

NASDAQ Composite Index and ii an investment in peer group made up of American Tower Corporation Crown

Castle International Corporation and Global Signal Inc the Peer Group The Peer Group was selected because it is

comprehensive peer group comprised of all of the comparable public companies in the business of owning and operating

wireless communications towers including companies that have emerged from bankruptcy proceedings

Total shareholder return is determined by dividing the sum of the cumulative amount of dividends for given

period assuming dividend reinvestment and the change in share price between the beginning and end of the

measurement period by ii the share price at the beginning of the measurement period

Total Shareholder Returns

Reflects $100 invested on December 31 2005 in the Class Common Stock of SBA ii the basket of companies

comprising the NASDAQ Composite Index and iii the companies comprising the Peer Group

Global Signal Inc emerged from Chapter 11 bankruptcy in 2002 and completed its initial public offering in June 2004

Information about Global Signal Inc is included in the Peer Group through January 2007 when it was acquired by

Crown Castle International Corporation

SBA Communications Corporation

a-Nasdaq Composite Index

Peer Group

Cl

Co

$300

$200

$100

$0

Dec 31 2005 Dec 31 2006 Dec 31 2007 Dec 31 2008 Dec 31 2009 Dec 31 2010

INDEXED RETURNS
Base Years Ending

Period

Company Name Index 12/31/05 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

SBA Communications Corporation $100.00 $153.63 $189.05 $91.17 $190.84 $228.72

NasdaqCompositelndex $100.00 $111.74 $124.67 $73.77 $107.12 $125.93

Peer Group $100.00 $130.78 $152.72 $88.27 $151.12 $176.19



Non-GAAP Financial Measures Required Disclosures in Accordance with Regulation

SBA Communications Corporation SBA or We often makes disclosures of non-GAAP financial measures such as

Tower Cash Flow and Tower Cash Flow Margin Following is reconciliation of these non-GAAP financial measures to

their most comparable GAAP measures and the other information required by Regulation Additional non-GAAP

financial measures such as Adjusted EBITDA Site Leasing Segment Operating Profit and Site Leasing Segment

Operating Profit Margin which are included in this annual report are discussed and included in our 10-K which

accompanies this annual report

Tower Cash Flow is defined as Site Leasing Segment Operating Profit excluding non-cash straight-line leasing revenue

and non-cash straight-line ground lease expense and Tower Cash Flow Margin is defined as Tower Cash Flow divided by

the difference of site leasing revenue minus non-cash straight-line site leasing revenue We discuss these non-GAAP

financial measures because we believe these items are indicators of performance of our site leasing operations In

addition Tower Cash Flow is component of the calculation used by our lenders to determine compliance with certain

covenants under our senior credit facility and senior notes Neither Tower Cash Flow nor Tower Cash Flow Margin are

intended to be alternative measures of site leasing gross profit nor of site leasing gross profit margin as determined in

accordance with GAAP

For the three months

ended December 31 2010

in thousands

Site leasing revenue 140054

Non-cash straight-line leasing revenue 1516
Site leasing revenue minus non-cash straight-line leasing revenue 138538

Tower Cash Flow 111231

Tower Cash Flow Margin 80.3%

Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This annual report contains forward-looking statements that concern expectations beliefs projections strategies

anticipated events or trends including those concerning trends in the wireless industry our ability to capitalize on such

trends and our future operational and financial performance These forward-looking statements are qualified in their

entirety by cautionary statements and risk factor disclosures contained in our Form 0-K filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on February 25 2010 and our quarterly earning press
releases included as exhibits to our Form 8-

Ks previously furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission
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